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ABOUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT 
 
This report details the Swan Hill Rural City Council’s performance during the 2010-2011 financial year.  It documents 
Council’s progress against the 2009-2013 Council Plan and highlights achievements and challenges faced within key 
service areas and programs. 
  
A detailed and comprehensive report of Council’s operations is supported by the inclusion of audited financial statements. 
 
Council seeks to achieve greater community inclusiveness and understanding of Council’s operations by conducting its 
affairs openly and with integrity, reflecting high levels of good governance. 
 
 
FEEDBACK 
Our annual report content is guided by Local Government Regulations. 
 
If you would like to help us improve the way we report, please send your feedback via email to:   
council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 
 
Alternatively, by letter addressed to: 
 
Chief Executive Officer 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
PO Box 488 
SWAN HILL VIC 3585 
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About Us 
 
From the swirling waters of the mighty Murray River, to the 
rich, red Mallee soil and vast acres of agricultural landscape, 
the Swan Hill Rural City features as one of the nation’s most 
diverse rural areas, as well as the most productive, forming 
an important part of Victoria’s Food Bowl. 
 
This report provides information to a variety of audiences 
including all community townships, businesses, ratepayers, 
Government agencies and other interested stakeholders. 
 
This report also provides a record on Council’s performance 
throughout the 2010-2011 financial year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SWAN HILL RURAL CITY COUNCIL SNAPSHOT 
 
Population:22,116 
Median Age: 38 
Area: 6,116km 
Length of local roads: 3,311km 
Rateable Properties: 11,640 
 
 
 
 

OUR VISION 
A vibrant community that displays growth and sustainability 
with a strong identity and confidence in a prosperous future 
by working together. 
 
OUR MISSION 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council will lead, work with, help 
and empower our communities to build our future together. 
 
OUR VALUES 
Achievement—Actively pursue outcomes for the 
community. 
 
Community Engagement—Ensuring our communities are 
engaged, informed and able to contribute to Council’s 
decision-making process. 
 
Leadership—Council will lead and develop leadership 
within our community. 
 
Fairness—We will ensure that all members of the 
community are treated equitably. 
 
Integrity—We act with integrity, honesty and in ways that 
reflect our values. 
 
Tolerance and Community Cohesion—Accepting, valuing 
and embracing the diversity of our community. 
 
Accountability—Being transparent in our decision-making, 
we welcome public scrutiny and community feedback. 
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Swan Hill Rural City 
Home to just over 22,000 people, the municipality encompasses around 6,000 square kilometres and offers its residents 
and visitors a dynamic mix of both rural and urban living. 
 
Whether it’s economic, tourism or lifestyle opportunities, the municipality has plenty to offer those seeking to make the 
move from the hustle and bustle of big city living, but who still desire all the conveniences of the metropolitan way of life. 
 
Featuring a modern and thriving regional centre, the municipality also boasts the characteristics of rural living, including a 
strong community spirit and relaxed lifestyle. 
 
Continued investment in the region, as well as a focus on the long-term growth and sustainability of the municipality, 
remain as high priorities for Swan Hill Rural City Council, setting a number of initiatives and targets to establish the 
foundations to achieve this vision during the next 30 years, further shaping the municipality to be the region of choice to 
live, work, invest and visit. 
 
 
Our Community 
The municipality is proud to be a rich and diverse region, with more than 40 nationalities among its communities and a 
population that is warm, welcoming and resilient. 
 
There is no denying that our residents have faced some tough times over the years, including ongoing drought yet in the 
face of adversity, has been a strong support network for their neighbours and their community. 
 
While the challenges facing the region still exist, a positive focus and an amazing community spirit sees the municipality 
continue to look towards, and plan for, the future and the continued development and growth of the region. 
 
 
Our Economy 
With more than 40 commercially-grown products that are central to the region including almonds, olives, stone fruit 
(nectarines, peaches and plums), table and wine grapes, vegetables (carrots and potatoes), cereals, legumes, lucerne, 
sheep, beef and dairy - it is easy to see why the municipality features as an important part of Victoria’s Food Bowl. 
 
Separating Victoria from New South Wales, the Murray River supplies our communities with a crucial resource to support 
our industries, enabling them to continue to supply quality, fresh produce across our nation and overseas. 
 
Combined with its central location in the heart of the Murray Valley and in south-east Australia, significant investment has 
been undertaken in the municipality, including in the retail sector, and has further enhanced the region as a prominent and 
growing regional centre. 
 
With its strategic location along the Murray River, Mediterranean climate and natural beauty, it is not surprising that tourism 
plays an important role in the region’s economy with around 237,000 domestic visitors per year, staying a total of 674,000 
visitor nights and injecting $70 million into the local economy. 
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Our History 
For thousands of years the traditional owners of the lands that now form the Swan Hill Rural City – the Wamba Wamba, 
Barapa Barapa, Wadi Wadi, Tati Tati and Latji Latji clans – lived in the region, with the land providing abundant food 
sources and a permanent water supply. 
 
In 1836, led by explorer Major Thomas Mitchell (who named the area after a flock of noisy swans that kept him up during 
the night when he was camping on a rise), the first Europeans arrived. Upon hearing the positive reports about the area,  
the settlers started to arrive, establishing large sheep stations next to the waters of the Murray River. 
 
It wasn’t long before that the agricultural sector began to be established, with areas of the Mallee opened up for grain 
production and within a few years, the region’s produce was being sent around Australia and the world. 
 
In 1871, the Shire of Swan Hill was proclaimed, and at the time, was located in the town of Kerang (which now forms part 
of the Gannawarra Shire), while the Shire of Castle Donnington, created in 1893, was centred around the town of Swan 
Hill. 
 
By 1904, the Castle Donnington Shire assumed the title of the Shire of Swan Hill and by 1939 the Borough of Swan Hill 
was constituted. 
 
In March 1965, the borough became the City of Swan Hill and 30 years later the shire and city were amalgamated 
forming the Swan Hill Rural City Council in January 1995, which today includes the townships of Swan Hill, Robinvale, 
Lake Boga, Nyah, Nyah West, Piangil, Woorinen, Ultima, Manangatang, Boundary Bend and Tresco. 
 
 
 
Our Future 
Setting its sights on the future, the Swan Hill Rural City Council Plan 2009-2013 provides a solid vision for the direction of 
the region, including a strong focus on the growth of the municipality.   
 
By growing the municipality, there is the potential to further develop the city to become a regional service centre, offering 
an even greater variety of choice and opportunities for our current and future population. 
 
A strong economy is, of course, central to this growth and the Council Plan sets out to invest in our local economy and 
business. This includes investment in new developments across the municipality, the upgrading of key central business 
districts, encouraging the next generation of businesses and assisting existing businesses to expand and grow. 
 
Along with concentrating on economic development, energy opportunities are also being explored within the region 
including the provision of natural gas and solar energy, providing further investment prospects within our municipality. 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, along with members of its community, has set a strong strategic direction for the future of 
our municipality, which will see further development and investment in the rural city, as well as future public projects, 
further showcasing it as a region of choice to live, work, invest and visit. 
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The Swan Hill Rural City municipality faced a number of challenges with respect to protecting the community against a 
river flood and a major flood plain inundation.  
 
During September 2010, significant rains in the eastern catchments of the Murray River system caused the river to 
remain at a level considered to be above minor flood level for over two months. Further falls in December created a 
river approaching moderate flood level.  
 
The greatest risk faced by the moderate flood level was to the Tyntynder Flats area north of the Swan Hill City. The 
levee system required urgent attention and in the final week of December 2010, Council had a number of projects 
approved and funded by the North Central Catchment Management Authority (NCCMA) to repair damaged sections 
and ensure that the height of the levee was returned to its original design height.  
 
In the week of the 12 January 2011, the North West region of Victoria received a number of large rain events that 
caused flash flooding. The rain in the Swan Hill Rural City municipality was in excess of 100mm over four days.  
 
Flash flooding was experienced in Swan Hill, Nyah, Nyah West, Woorinen South, Woorinen, Robinvale and 
Cloverdale. Roads across the entire region were impassable and over 80 roads were closed.  
 
Council staff reacted to assist the community by way of pumping water, building temporary levees, sandbagging 
homes, assisting residents forced to evacuate and general traffic management and temporary access.  
 
The result of the sustained rainfall on North West Victoria was a prolonged flooding event across the Loddon River 
and Avoca River flood plains which all collected at the southern end of the municipality.  
 
Extensive works were required on Pental Island, Tresco, Lake Boga, Tyntynder and Swan Hill. The works included 
reinstatement of the banks of Lake Boga, repairs to damaged and weeping levees, closure of drainage outlets to 
prevent surcharging and protection of key assets such as the Pioneer Settlement, Caravan Park and Art Gallery.   
 
Privately owned infrastructure such as radio transmission towers and stations, pump stations and electrical 
infrastructure was also protected.  
 
 

Flood Event 
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During the emergency works, Council staff collectively worked 48 weeks worth of additional hours. Duties ranged from on 
ground mitigation works to managing the Municipal Emergency Coordination Centre (MECC) and attending an emergency 
relief centre, firstly at Lake Boga on behalf of Gannawarra Shire and then at the Swan Hill Indoor Sport and Recreation 
Centre.  
 
The flooding event, while challenging, created an opportunity for the Council to work extremely closely with the 
community, emergency services organisations and the media. It also had the effect of improving the public opinion of 
Local Government as an agency prepared to react swiftly to protect its residents against the flood and generally ensure 
their safety.  
 
The Council must also acknowledge the efforts of the flood wardens who as community volunteers provided a service that 
was extremely highly valued by the Council and the community and also the assistance from the State and Federal 
Governments.  
 
To date, Council has been reimbursed $200,094 for flood clean up and $1,066,555 for emergency works and 
infrastructure restoration (roads etc) to be reimbursed in 2011/12. Funds have also been approved to enable a Flood 
Recovery Officer to be appointed and a number of smaller grants to assist with community recovery.  
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council, due to the extensive efforts, did not sustain an excessively high damage bill and should 
fully recover in a reasonably short time frame.  The neighbouring municipalities of Gannawarra, Buloke and Loddon Shires 
suffered significant damage to both public and private infrastructure which will take many years to recover from.   

OUR VISION 
A vibrant community that displays growth and sustainability with a strong 
identity and confidence in a prosperous future by working together. 
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Performance at a glance 
Strategic Objective Achievements Challenges 

Sustainable 
Communities 
 
For more information see 
pages 33-50 

Barry Steggall Park Playground  
construction commenced and State 
Government funding of $350,000 approved 
 
Youth Officer recognised as 2011 Young 
Achiever of the Year by Local Government 
Professionals 
 
Home and Community Care Client Survey 
results showed high levels of satisfaction 
with services provided 

Obtaining external funding for the 
redevelopment of Pioneer Settlement 
  
Ongoing reform in Aged Care is creating 
uncertainty 
 
Ongoing reform of children’s services, 
leading to issues with capital funding and 
workforce shortages 

Economic Growth 
 
For more information see 
pages 51-69 

Long term lease negotiated for Swan Hill 
Riverside Caravan Park 
 
150 houses have been constructed at Tower 
Hill 
 
Commenced implementation of the Swan 
Hill and Robinvale CBD Masterplans 
 
Implemented actions from Four Year Major 
Projects Plan 
 
Conducted a review of Council operated 
aerodromes and implemented CASA 
requirements 

Inclement weather prevented the completion 
of projects within the Four Year Plan. 
Examples include, raising the height of 
Turtle Lagoon and various road projects 
 
Implementation of Swan Hill CBD 
Masterplan has met with community 
opposition on a number of points and some 
of the proposed structures required 
redesigning which has been time consuming 
 
Impacts of the proposed Murray Darling 
Basin Plan 
 
 

The process of identifying responsibility for 
roadside pest, plants and animals has been 
ongoing for more than five years and does 
not appear to be getting closer to a 
resolution 
 
Locusts plague 
 
Mice plague 
 
Possible Murray Valley Encephalitis 
outbreak 

Floods – diverted significant resources away 
from normal duties 
 
Facilitating various requirements placed on 
the organisation through the Local 
Government Inspectorate Audits, Freedom 
of Information Requests and Internal Audits 
 
Attraction and retention of key staff 
 
Unfunded superannuation liability 

New waste management contracts 
negotiated and implemented 
 
Participated in renewable energy project 
Solar 1000 
 
Supported reuse program of recyclable 
materials which resulted in the erection of a 
second reuse shed at the Swan Hill Landfill  

A new EBA negotiated 
 
Statutory deadline met for budget 
 
Organisational structure reviewed and 
amended for better aligned function and 
reallocation of resources for strategic focus 
 
New Local Law No.1: Meeting Procedures 
was adopted 
 
Supported Year of Women in Local 
Government including adoption of the Local 
Governments Women's Charter 
 
 

Environmental 
Management 
 
For more information see 
pages 70-75 

Governance and 
Leadership 
 
For more information see 
pages 76– 85 
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The year ahead Community Satisfaction Survey Results 

The second stage of the Better Youth Services Pilot and 
Youth Partnerships, of which Council is a partner 
 
Council will play a role in the State Government’s Place-
Based Project for Robinvale, funded over four years 
 
Initiate an incentives scheme for attracting potential Family 
Day Carers, as one strategy to address childcare carer 
shortages  
 
Designs to be finalised for Art Gallery extensions and 
redevelopment  

 

Health and Human Services 

Commence program to identify roads suitable for B Double 
access 
 
Complete a review of the operations at Council operated 
aerodromes 
 
Undertake a review of the concept plan to guide future 
stages at Tower Hill 
 
Commence construction of Tower Hill Stage 7 infrastructure  
 
Implementation of Council’s new Economic Development 
Strategy once adopted by Council  

 

Economic Development 

 

 

Review fleet management and procurement to minimise 
environmental impact 
 
Implement Energy Audit  
 
Continued involvement in renewable energy programs and 
projects  

Continued implementation of Council’s IT Strategy 
 
Municipal general revaluation of properties 
 
Implementing any recommendation of internal audits, Local 
Government Inspectorate Audits etc 
 
Ongoing reviews of Council Policies and Procedures  

Waste Management 

Overall Performance 
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Message from the Mayor and CEO 
It gives us great pleasure to present the 2010/11 Annual Report for the Swan Hill Rural City Council. 
 
This year has seen some significant challenges, including the flood event in early 2011 and the release of the guide to the 
Murray Darling Basin Plan. However despite these setbacks, we have also seen some great achievements, including 
infrastructure projects, community planning and economic development. 
 
OUR COMMUNITY SPIRIT 
 
The January 2011 flood event saw many communities in the North West region – particularly in our neighbouring shire of 
Gannawarra – devastated by the impacts of Riverine flooding.  
 
Through this event, we also saw the amazing spirit of our community come to the forefront as we faced this major flood threat 
in our municipality. 
 
A huge community response saw hundreds of thousands of sandbags filled by residents, thousands of volunteer hours and 
people coming together to help at-risk communities in any way they could. 
 
This was an incredible demonstration of the Aussie spirit including a fantastic response from businesses, including the 
donation of trucks and excavators, the opening up of a business to help fill and store sandbags and donating food for workers 
and volunteers, the response was absolutely overwhelming. 
 
It is also important to thank and acknowledge the people who donated goods to the relief centre, the CWA for providing food 
and lunches, and Council staff who worked above and beyond the call of duty and all our residents who helped in any way 
they could. 
 
The flood event also demonstrated the wealth of local knowledge, including flood wardens, which enabled all agencies to 
provide appropriate resources and responses to the flood.  
 
This whole-of-community response not only demonstrated what a strong community we are, but also enabled as much 
preparation as possible and showed that the community spirit is alive and well in our region.  
 
FACING OUR CHALLENGES 
 
The Murray Darling Basin Plan, caused great concern among community members right across the region because it will 
ultimately be the blueprint for our irrigation and agriculture, adding to our horticultural enterprise to ensure long-term 
sustainability and viability for our region.  
 
There is a need to ensure we are not adversely impacted by the plan, which upon the release of the guide, showed a plan 
that is imbalanced, flawed and gives scant regard to the economic and social impacts on the basin. Consideration of 
environment is important, but balance is the key and needs to be the focus. 
 
We may have to accept the reality of a changing climate and that we will certainly be living in a region with less water 
availability. This will have a great effect on our farming and agricultural sectors, meaning we have to seek opportunities to 
diversify our economic base, so we can meet these challenges head on and continue to grow as a municipality and a region. 
 
CURRENT AND FUTURE PROJECTS 
 
This year has also seen the achievement and continuation of some great projects within our municipality. 
 
These projects include the completion of the Perrin Street upgrade in Robinvale, progression of the Swan Hill CBD works 
(including the construction of new shade structures, paving, kerb and channel realignment) and the official opening of the 
Catalina hangar at Lake Boga’s Catalina Flying Boat Museum. 
 
Following the announcement of regional funding from both the State and Federal Governments, Council now has a great 
opportunity to obtain funding for some tremendous projects for our municipality and our region. 
 
The Coalition Government has pledged through the Regional Growth Fund of $1 billion for regional councils during the next 
eight years. Swan Hill Rural City Council will be a beneficiary in accessing this funding, including $1 million funding for the 
feasibility study into natural gas for the North West region, a $2 million development grant for the Chisholm Reserve Motor 
Sports complex and $30,000 for the Lake Boga Tourism and Marketing Plan.  
 
Funding will be sought for the Pioneer Settlement redevelopment, upgrading of the Swan Hill Aerodrome with a view to 
reinstate an air service, the continuation of the Swan Hill CBD upgrades, Nyah Recreation Reserve/Community Centre 
development, the Robinvale riverfront redevelopment, Blackwire reserve solar park redevelopment and more. 
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WORKING WITH OUR COMMUNITY 
 
Council continues to work closely with our residents including with business, our Indigenous community, youth and our 
smaller communities. 
 
The Council Plan recognises the importance of working with our community and it continues to be a high priority for 
Council with 11 community plans now in the stages of being implemented. 
 
One of the great projects to come out of community planning has been the outstanding work completed by Swan Hill 
College VCAL students on George Lay Park, part of the Swan Hill Community Plan priority to support residential parks 
within Swan Hill. 
Working together with community members and Council, the students have taken a lead role in the design, planning and 
development of works to the park as well as the community consultation process. 
The hard work and accomplishments of these students has been officially recognised with the students receiving a VCAL 
award. 
 
STRATEGIC PLANNING FOR OUR REGION  
 
It is important that we continue to plan strategically for our future.  
 
This includes on a regional level, in particular through Council’s involvement with the Murray River Group of Councils, while 
strategic documents such as the Loddon Mallee Regional Strategic Plan – Northern Region also set the future pathway for 
our region. 
 
The Murray River Group of Councils, which is made up of the Swan Hill Rural City Council, Mildura Rural City Council, 
Gannawarra Shire Council, Shire of Campaspe, Moira Shire and Loddon Shire, meet bi-monthly to develop strategies to 
increase the prospects of projects within the region.  
 
OPPORTUNITIES FROM CHALLENGES 
 
While we are all concerned about the potential impacts of the MDBP and a changing climate, we need to identify and 
promote opportunities for a future that will most certainly have less water available. 
 
This includes strategies and plans that collaboratively look towards the potential for our communities along the Murray to 
grow, such as the Loddon Mallee Regional Strategic Plan – Northern Region and Council’s Economic Development 
Strategy 2011-2016.  
 
This includes a strong focus on the opportunities within the municipality, including tourism (particularly eco tourism), 
infrastructure (such as natural gas), transport links for the north west of the state and value adding to our current 
agricultural production. 
 
We will also see further strategic initiatives providing a specific focus on areas within our municipality including the Lake 
Boga Economic Development, Tourism and Marketing Strategy as well as an economic development strategy for 
Robinvale.   
 
These strategies and plans - which all fit hand-in-glove with each other - provide a positive focus on the potential for our 
region while taking into account the impacts of the MDBP. 
 
Our municipality will continue to look for opportunities to diversify its traditional economic base and explore how we can 
grow our population in order to offer real solutions to the pressures that the metropolitan cities are currently facing. 
 
Council will also continue to pursue key infrastructure needs within our municipality, including a new river crossing at Swan 
Hill, the continued development and rejuvenation of our regional tourist icon the Pioneer Settlement, educational facilities, 
health services, new tourism opportunities, and will also look towards the development of additional housing. 
 
As with any major infrastructure and development opportunities, seeking appropriate funding is the key and Council will be 
actively pursuing funding from both the Federal and State Governments towards these infrastructure needs. 
 
Through our collective hard work as a community we can confront these challenges and take up the opportunities that will 
make our region’s future brighter. 

Cr Greg Cruickshank 
Mayor 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 

Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
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Chief Financial Officer’s Report 

The 2010/11 Financial Reports confirms Council’s strong financial position and progress towards funding long term 
infrastructure replacement. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
SUSTAINABLE OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The year’s result is a small deficit of $0.5 million. This was due to bringing to account an accounting adjustment of $0.7 
million relating to the retired value of assets upgraded during the year, $0.7 million to fund defined benefits superannuation 
shortfall and $1.1 million in costs associated with flooding. The flood related costs will be reimbursed to Council during 
2011/12. 
 
 
SUSTAINABLE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
Capital Expenditure exceeded depreciation expense by $0.4 million.  68% of Capital Expenditure was applied to asset 
replacement and renewal. Had emergency flood works and other factors not delayed a number of Capital Works projects, 
expenditure on Asset Replacement, Renewal and Upgrade would have exceeded depreciation.  
 
 

 
 

Rates and Garbage 
Charges 
43.2% 

Statutory Fees and 
Fines 
2.1% 

Net gain on 
disposal of assets 

0.1% 

User Fees 
9.2% 

Recurrent Grants 
27.9% 

Non-recurrent 
Grants 
7.6% 

Cash  
Contributions 

0.8% 
Non-cash  

Contributions 
0.4% 

Interest 
2.1% 

Reimbursements 
0.3% 

Other Revenue 
6.4% 

Total Revenue breakdown 

 SNAPSHOT 
 
x�Total income $45.3 million 
x�Rates and charges $19.5 

million (43% of Income) 
x�Capital works program 

completed $7.6 million 
x�Current Assets $16.3 million 
x�Total liabilities $14.5 million 
x�Total Assets $294.0 million 
x�Increase in cash and 

investments $0.9 million 

Capital Expenditure & Depreciation 
$25,000,000 
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                Budget 
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CONCLUSIONS 
 
Council’s strong financial position and underlying Financial Strategies will enable an ongoing commitment to Asset mainte-
nance and renewal, sustained reductions in Debt Exposure, further build-up of medium term Cash Reserves while enabling 
the delivery of the wide range of Council services that are essential for community well-being. 

David Lenton 
Director Corporate Services 
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Rates & Charges as a Percentage of  
Annual Principal & Interest Costs 

(Debt Commitment Ratio) 

 2006/07  2007/08  2008/09  2009/10  2010/11  2011/12  
             Budget 

   2007         2008         2009         2010           2011 

DEBT LEVELS 
 
Council’s Interest Bearing Liabilities (loans 
and leases) increased marginally in line with 
budget predictions. The Debt Servicing, Debt 
Exposure and Debt Commitment Ratios are 
virtually unchanged. The Debt Commitment 
Ratio of 8% is significantly lower than 10 
years ago as can be seen in the 
accompanying graph. 

STRONG CASH RESERVES 
 
Council continues to maintain its strong 
Financial Position with Working Capital of over 
$9 million and Current Assets exceeding Total 
Liabilities by nearly $2 million.  Net Assets 
increased by $6.6 million to just under $280 
million. 

Working Capital Ratio 
3.00 

 

2.50 
 

2.00 
 

1.50 
 

1.00 
 

0.50 
 

0.00 
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Cr Greg Cruickshank 
MAYOR 
Representing Central Ward 
 
A local business owner and photographer, Cr 
Cruickshank was first elected to Council in the year 2003 
and was re-elected to Council in the 2008 election.  
 
Cr Cruickshank has held the position of Mayor of Swan 
Hill Rural City Council since December 2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mobile: 
0419 754 174 
Email: 
greg.cruickshank@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

Cr Yvonne Jennings 
DEPUTY MAYOR 
Representing Central Ward 
 
First elected unopposed to Council in 2005,  
Cr Jennings, a local business owner, was re-elected as 
Central Ward Councillor in November 2008.  
 
Born and educated in Swan Hill, Cr Jennings has played 
a significant role in a number of community and regional 
organisations, with an emphasis on education and 
leadership, particularly for youth and business.  
Cr Jennings was the ambassador for the Year of Women 
in Local Government for 2010. 
 
Cr Jennings has held the position of Deputy Mayor of 
Swan Hill Rural City Council since December 2009. 
 
Mobile: 
0427 688 053 
Email: 
yvonne.jennings@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

OUR ELECTED MEMBERS 

WARD BOUDARIES 

The Swan Hill Rural City Council 
is divided into four wards with four 
Councillors representing the 
Central Ward and one Councillor 
representing each of the 
remaining three. 
 
The four wards ensure that the 
varying needs of our urban and 
rural areas receive equal 
representation and policy 
determination of the Council.  
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Cr David Quayle 
Representing Central Ward 
 
Cr Quayle, a retired hospital engineer 
and civil celebrant, was first elected to 
Council in 2003.  
 
During his time at Council, Cr Quayle 
was integral in establishing the Swan 
Hill Healthy Minds Network and was 
also Mayor of Swan Hill Rural City 
Council from 2003 to 2005 and also 
served as Deputy Mayor from 2007 to 
2008. 
 
Mobile: 
0429 140 369 
Email: 
david.quayle@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

 
Cr Gary Norton 
Representing Murray Mallee Ward 
 
Dried fruit grower and cleaner/handyman, Cr Norton 
has represented the Murray Mallee Ward for Council 
since 2003.   
 
He was re-elected to the Ward in the November 
2008 elections.  
 
Cr Norton also served as Mayor of Swan Hill Rural 
City Council from December 2006 to December 
2008. 
 
 
 
Mobile: 
0428 398 981 
Email: 
gary.norton@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

 
Cr John Katis 
Representing Robinvale Ward 
 
Retired business owner, Cr Katis has 
represented the Robinvale Ward since 
1997.  
 
Cr Katis was elected unopposed and 
held the position of Deputy Mayor of 
Swan Hill Rural City Council from  
December 2008 to December 2009 
 
 
 
 
Mobile: 
0409 166 970 
Email: 
john.katis@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

 
Cr Les McPhee 
Representing Lakes Ward 
 
Cr McPhee is from Lake Boga and after nominating 
in 2008 for the first time, was elected unopposed to 
Council for the Lakes Ward.  
 
A Police Officer, Cr McPhee has served with the 
Victoria Police for more than 20 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mobile: 
0427 319 394 
Email: 
les.mcphee@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

 
Cr Bill Croft 
Representing Central Ward 
 
Cr Croft is semi-retired and a part-time 
sports journalist.  
 
Cr Croft spent most of his working life 
in the field of sales and marketing, 
specialising in new business 
development.  
 
Elected to Council in November 2008 
standing in the Central Ward, this is his 
first time serving on Council. 
 
Mobile: 
0428 174 675 
Email: 
bill.croft@swanhill.vic.gov.au 
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Andrew Bruggy 
ACTING DIRECTOR  
DEVELOPMENT & PLANNING  
Service with SHRCC: 5 years 
 
Andrew has a Bachelors degree in Civil 
Engineering with Post Graduate 
qualifications in Business.  
 
While employed with SHRCC, as 
Manager Engineering Services for 
more than five years, Andrew has 
acted in the capacity of Director 
Infrastructure on a number of 
occasions as well as Director 
Development and Planning. 
 
Prior to this, he has held a number of 
senior positions within Local 
Government as well as the private 
sector during the past 20 years. 

David Lenton 
DIRECTOR  
CORPORATE SERVICES 
Service with SHRCC: 18 years 
 
David is a qualified accountant who joined the Swan Hill City 
Council (now Swan Hill Rural City Council) as Finance 
Manager in December 1992.   
 
Since the amalgamation of the City and Shire of Swan Hill in 
January 1995, David has held the positions of Financial 
Controller, Finance and Administration Manager and Group 
Manager Corporate Services.   
 
Under Council’s most recent restructure in April 2006, 
David’s position was reclassified as Director Corporate 
Services. Prior to joining Local Government, David worked in 
a variety of finance-related positions with a large 
multinational company within the private sector for 14 years. 

David Leahy 
DIRECTOR  
INFRASTRUCTURE 
Service with SHRCC: 2.5 years 
 
David has more than 25 years experience in 
the Civil Construction industry and holds 
qualifications in Civil Construction and 
Management.  
 
He started with the Highways Department in 
South Australia and moved into Local 
Government at Whyalla City Council and 
then onto Naracoorte Lucindale Council.  
 
He has Local Government experience in 
project management, the creation of asset 
management plans, aerodrome 
management, maintenance planning and 
marina construction and maintenance. He is 
also a member of a number of steering 
committees and represents Council on a 
number of water committees (NVIRP - 
Northern Victorian Irrigation Renewal 
Project, TRAMS - Torrumbarry 
Reconfiguration and Asset Management 
Scheme). 

Dennis Hovenden 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Service with SHRCC: 4.5 years   
 
Dennis previously held the position of CEO of the 
Naracoorte Lucindale Council in South Australia and has 
more than 28 years experience in Local Government.  
 
He has held a number of high profile positions, including 
CEO of Urana Shire Council in New South Wales, 
Manager at Maribyrnong City Council and Executive 
Officer for Economic Development and Tourism in Bulla, 
Victoria.   
 
With tertiary qualifications in Political Science and Legal 
Studies, he has extensive experience in both rural and 
metropolitan Councils of varying sizes, populations, 
budgets and staff numbers.  

Bruce Myers 
DIRECTOR  
COMMUNITY & CULTURAL SERVICES 
Service with SHRCC: 17 years 
 
Bruce is a qualified librarian who began 
his career at the Swan Hill Regional 
Library managing the mobile library in 
1994.    
 
From 1998 until 2007 Bruce was 
manager of the library, during which time 
he played a leading role in the relocation 
of the service to its current premises, the 
design and construction of a new mobile 
library and implementation of service 
improvements following consultation with 
the local community.   
 
Bruce was appointed to a Directorship in 
2007. 

OUR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM 
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Chief Executive 
Officer 

Dennis Hovenden 

Business Manager 
Pioneer Settlement  

Tony Jenkins 

Director  
Community and 
Cultural Services 

Bruce Myers 

Director Corporate 
Services 

David Lenton 

Acting Director 
Development and 

Planning 
Andrew Bruggy 

Director  
Infrastructure 
David Leahy 

Regional  
Co-ordinator  

Packaged Care 
Christine Bennett 

Manager Human 
Resources 
Lisa Faraci 

Senior Accountant 
Warren Snyder 

Manager  
Commercial  

Services  
Ken Symons 

Manager  
Information and  

Technology 
Warren Taylor 

Manager Customer 
Service 

Tony Heffer 

Manager Planning 
Ken Fulford 

Manager Building 
Guy Romeo 

Manager Major  
Projects and Waste 
Mazen Aldaghstani 

Manager Corporate 
Operations 
Pat Ahern 

Manager Aged 
and Disability  

Services 
Marg Free 

Manager Family 
Youth and  
Children 

Jan McEwan 

Manager Cultural 
Development and  

Libraries 
Camille Cullinan 

Manager Assets 
Roger Lambert 

Manager  
Engineering  

Services 
Vacant* 

Manager 
Regulatory Services  

Harold Rovere 
Manager Works 

Dallas Free 

Health Coordinator 
Mel Bennett 

Manager 
Environment 
Sue Mahon 

Manager Community  
Facilitation  

Steve Matthews 

Coordinator Public 
Relations and  

Events 
Claire Leunig 

Executive Support 
Officer 

CEO and Directors 
Leigh McPhee 

Executive Support 
Officer 

CEO, Mayor and  
Councillors 

Raewyn Parsons 

Executive Economic  
Development and  

Tourism 
Janelle Earle 

ORGANISATIONAL  
STRUCTURE 
 
*Position vacant due to Manager Engineering Services temporarily 
moving into Acting Director Development and Planning Position.  
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Corporate Governance 

Governance is a broad program overseeing several organisational statutory and legislative requirements including the Annual 
Report, Performance Statements, Council Plan, Community Surveys, Continuous Improvement (Quality and Cost Standards) 
and Policy management. 
 
Governance establishes a proactive service across the organisation to better assist program managers to meet statutory and 
legislative requirements while promoting the principles of best practice and continuous improvement. 
 
 
COUNCIL’S ROLE 
 
The Local Government Act 1989 sets out the role of Councils in Victoria. Under the Act, the role of Council includes: 
1. A Council is elected to provide leadership for the good governance of the municipal district and the local community. 
2. The role of a Council includes: 

a. Acting as a representative government by taking into account the diverse needs of the local community; 
b. Providing leadership by establishing strategic objectives and monitoring their achievement; 
c. Maintaining the viability of the Council by ensuring that resources are managed in a responsible and accountable 

manner; 
d. Advocating the interests of the local community to other communities and governments; 
e. Acting as a responsible partner in government by taking into account the needs of other communities; and 
f. Fostering community cohesion and encouraging active participation in civic life. 

 
Swan Hill Rural City Council performs this role by setting the strategic direction of the municipality, establishing and guiding 
policies, setting service delivery standards and monitoring the performance of the organisation. 
 
 
COUNCIL’S PLAN AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
The Council Plan 2009 – 2013 is the municipality’s road map toward achieving its vision for 
the future.  The plan lays the groundwork for addressing the longer-term goals and sets out 
the commitments Council has made to deliver these. 
 
The plan commenced implementation on 1 July 2009 and includes the full range of Council’s 
activities and recognises the broad role undertaken by Local Government.  The plan also 
includes a range of initiatives that Council intends to undertake during the next four years.   
 
The Council Plan is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the document continues to 
play a vital role in shaping the future for the Swan Hill municipality setting our broad direction 
for the coming years.   
 
 
 
“The Council Plan is our commitment to continue our pursuit of  excellence, innovation, good Government and responsible 
management of community resources.  We encourage all residents, businesses and community organisations to use the 
Council Plan to monitor Council’s progress as we strive to achieve our shared vision for the municipality.” 
     Swan Hill Rural City Council, Council Plan 
 
 
LOCAL LAWS 
 
Council has in place the following Local Laws: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Local Law Date Operational 

Local Law No 1, Meeting Procedures 

This is Community Local Law No 2 

Date Adopted 

21 September 2010 

17 July 2007 26 July 2007 

07 October 2010 
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DECISION MAKING 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, through formal Council meetings, is the primary decision-making body for the municipality.   
 
Council decisions are made in one of two ways: 
1. By resolution at Council meetings and special committees of Council. 
2. By Council Officers under delegated authority. 
 
Planning and monitoring achievement 
Swan Hill Rural City Council recognises the importance of strategic planning to determine where it is heading.  Setting 
objectives and then monitoring whether they are achieved is critical to achieving good outcomes for the Swan Hill Rural 
City Council community. 

Policy  and strategy development 
As representatives of the community, Council develops the policies which guide and inform Council activity. The following 
were reviewed and/or adopted in 2010/2011: 
 

 
COUNCILLOR CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) required that Council review its Code of Conduct within 12 months of a general 
election.  Amendments in 2008 to the Act required Council to change Swan Hill Rural City Council’s Code of Conduct to 
reflect the new standard of behaviour expected of Councillors. 
 
Council adopted its new Code of Conduct in November 2009 which further incorporates the specified changes in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and has been further amended to include policies that govern Councillor 
behaviour within the Swan Hill Rural City Council. 
 
The Code is based on the principle that achieving positive outcomes for the community requires a team effort of all the 
Councillors, and that a Councillor develops and maintains productive relationships with members of the community, 
Council staff and other Councillors through adhering to the Councillor Code of Conduct.  

 

The Code seeks to facilitate public trust in the Council as a democratic entity. 

Document Date Adopted 

Swan Hill Planning Scheme July 2010 

Rating Strategy July 2010 

Footpath Asset Management Plan 

Environment Management Policy 

Municipal Emergency Management Plan 

2011/12 Major Projects Plan 

Public Health & Wellbeing Plan 

Heatwave Response Sub-Plan 

Whistleblowers Protection Policy 

Sustainable Living Strategy 

Karinie Street Landscape Concept Plan 

Loddon Mallee Regional Strategic Plan, Northern Region 

August 2010 

September 2010 

November 2010 

December 2010 

April 2011 

July 2010 

September 2010 

September 2010 

November 2010 

March 2011 

Loddon Mallee Regionally Significant Trails Strategy 

Procurement Policy April 2011 

May 2011 
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COUNCIL MEETINGS 
Council Meetings are held on the third Tuesday of each month at various locations across the municipality and are open to 
the public. Members of the community are able to address Council and ask questions in relation to any aspect of Council 
operations.  
 
Special Meetings are held for consideration of the Budget, Annual Financial Statements, Annual Report and any other 
urgent matters. In addition, Councillors are regularly briefed on major issues by staff and external parties at informal 
Councillor Assemblies. These are generally held weekly. No decisions are made at these meetings as their purpose is to 
provide information to enable informed decisions to be made at Council Meetings and to give staff direction where 
required. 
 
 
 
COUNCILLOR ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 
 

 
The Statutory meeting, including election of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, was held on Thursday, 9 December 2010.  
 
 
COUNCILLOR SUPPORT AND REMUNERATION 
The Local Government Act 1989 states (S.75): 

A Council must reimburse a Councillor for expenses if the Councillor: 
x� Applies in writing to the Council for reimbursement of expenses; and  
x� Establishes in the application to Council that the expenses were reasonable bona fide Councillor 

out-of-pocket expenses  incurred while performing duties as a Councillor. 

Additional support will be provided by Council to ensure Councillors are able to perform their duties as a 
Councillor, as determined by the Minister in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989. 

A Councillor Expense Reimbursement and Support Policy was adopted by Council in March 2001 and was last 
reviewed in May 2009.  
 
The State Government categorises Councils according to their size and revenue base and for each category, sets the 
maximum annual allowance that can be paid to Mayors and Councillors.   
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council is in Category 2 and for the 2010 year, set the annual allowance for its Mayor at $59,113.72 
and for all its other Councillors at $22,281.33, inclusive of 9% superannuation respectively on these allowances. 
 
The tables on the opposite page provide details on Councillor allowances paid during the last financial year and the 
assistance and support provided to the Mayor and Councillors in carrying out their roles and official duties. 

 
Councillor  

Eligible to Attend 

Ordinary Council Meetings 

Attended Eligible to Attend 

Special Council Meetings 

Attended 

Cr Greg Cruickshank 

Cr Yvonne Jennings 

Cr John Katis 

Cr David Quayle 

Cr Bill Croft 

Cr Gary Norton 

Cr Les McPhee 

11 11 2 2 

10 

11 

11 

11 2 

9 

11 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

11 10 2 2 

11 9 2 2 

2 2 11 11 
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Councillor  Allowance Other Travel Total 

Cr Greg Cruickshank $59,113.72 $31.00 $114.00 $59,258.72 

Cr Yvonne Jennings $22,281.33 $23,627.03 $437.54 $908.16 

Cr John Katis 

Cr Gary Norton 

Cr David Quayle 

Cr Bill Croft 

Cr Les McPhee 

$22,281.33 - - $22,281.33 

$22,281.33 - - $22,281.33 

$22,395.28 $2.20 $111.75 $22,281.33 

$26,484.53 $108.40 $4,094.80 $22,281.33 

$33,814.53 $2,836.68 $8,696.52 $22,281.33 

Total $192,801.70 $210,142.75 $3,498.82 $13,842.23 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillors are reimbursed for expenses associated with Council business and are provided with secretarial support through 
the Chief Executive Officer.  
 
The Mayor is provided with the use of a Council vehicle.   
 
All Councillors have access to computer equipment, phones and Council’s vehicle fleet if they are required to attend 
meetings outside the municipality.  
 

 

Councillor  
 

Desktop 
Computer 

Printer Office  
Space 

USB Next 
G Modem 

PDA Fax 
Machine 

Mobile 
Phone 

iPad 

Cr Greg Cruickshank 

Cr Yvonne Jennings 

Cr John Katis 

Cr Gary Norton 

Cr David Quayle 

Cr Bill Croft 

Cr Les McPhee 

Cr Greg Cruickshank • • • • • •  • 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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COUNCIL REPRESENTATION ON COMMITTEES & ASSOCIATIONS 
 

 
 
 

 
Organisation 

 
Councillor/Officer 

Councillor  
Representative 

 
Asset Naming Sub Committee (of Council) 

Audit Committee 

Mayor or Deputy Mayor 
1 Councillor as a member 

2 Councillors as members 

Cr Cruickshank or Cr Jennings 
Cr Croft and Cr Katis 

Cr McPhee and Cr Croft 

Cr Jennings 

Municipal Emergency Management Planning 
Committee 

Cr Quayle 

Cr Croft 

Cr McPhee 
Cr Croft and Cr Katis as back up 

Councillor as a member 

Councillor as Chair 

Central Murray Regional Waste Management 
Group 

Livestock Saleyards Association of Victoria 

Councillor as Director on 
Group Board 

Chief Executive Officer Performance Review 
Committee 

Mayor 
Past Mayor & Councillor 

Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Norton and Cr Jennings 

Municipal Association of Victoria 

Councillor as a member Cr Norton and Cr Croft 

Councillor as Delegate 
Councillor as Sub Delegate 

Murray Darling Association 

Cr Norton as Delegate. 
Cr Cruickshank and Cr Croft as 
Sub Delegate 

Councillor/Officer as  
member 

Murray Mallee Local Learning and Employment 
Network 

Cr Cruickshank and CEO Mayor & CEO Murray River Grouping of Councils 

Cr Norton as Delegate 
Cr Cruickshank and Cr Croft 

Mayor & CEO or  
Councillors 

North West Municipalities Association 

Cr Croft Councillor or Officer Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange 

Cr Jennings Councillor as a member Sunraysia Rural Counselling Service 

Cr McPhee Councillor as a member Swan Hill Community House 

Cr Quayle Councillor as a member Swan Hill “Healthy Minds” Network 

Cr Cruickshank Councillor/Officer as board  
member 

Swan Hill Inc. 

Cr Cruickshank Ward Councillors as  
observers 

Swan Hill Indoor Sport and Recreation Centre  
Committee of Management 

Councillor as Delegate 
Councillor as Sub Delegate 

Cr Quayle 
Cr McPhee as Sub Delegate 

Swan Hill Leisure Centre Committee of  
Management 

Cr Jennings Councillor as a member Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery Advisory  
Committee 

Cr McPhee and Cr Cruickshank 2 Councillors as members Swan Hill River Precinct Advisory Group 

Cr Quayle Councillor as a member Victorian Association of Performing Arts Council 

Cr Norton Councillor as a member Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water—Committee 

Cr Cruickshank Councillor as a member Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance 

Cr McPhee Councillor as a member MAV Human Services 

MAV Environment Advisory Group Cr Norton Councillor as a member 
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Committee 

 
Councillor/Officer 

Robinvale Aged Accommodation Group Cr Katis 

Cr Quayle Rural Workforce Agency Victoria MAV Board 

Robinvale Euston Business Association 

Municipal Fire Prevention Committee 

Connectus Steering Committee Cr Jennings and Cr Croft 

Cr Cruickshank 

Cr Katis 

Lake Boga Inc 

So Great Committee 

Robinvale Aboriginal Elders Committee Cr Katis 

Cr Katis 

Cr McPhee 
Community Facilitation Manager 
Customer Service and Revenue 
Manager 

Manangatang Improvement Group Cr Norton 
Director Infrastructure 

Nyah Action Group Cr Norton 
Acting Director Development and 
Planning 

Ultima Progress Association Cr McPhee 
Director Corporate Services 

Bigger Better Beverford Group Cr Jennings 
Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Quayle 
Cr Croft 

Woorinen Progress Association Cr Jennings 
Cr Cruickshank 
Cr Quayle 
Cr Croft 
Manager Corporate Operations 

Piangil Community Group Cr Norton 
Manager Human Resources 

Cr Norton 
Building Manager 

Boundary Bend Progress Association 

Rail Freight Alliance 

Swan Hill Rural City Residents and Ratepayers Association Cr Quayle 

Cr Jennings 

Tree Committee 

MAV—Environment & Water Cr Norton 

Cr Katis and Cr McPhee 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
The Audit Committee is an independent Advisory Committee to Council and acts as a Special Committee of Council. The 
Audit Committee is formed under Section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989.   
 
The primary objective of the Swan Hill Rural City Council Audit Committee is to assist Council in the effective conduct of its 
responsibilities for: 
x� The enhancement of the credibility and objectivity of internal and external financial reporting 
x� Effective management of financial processes, to ensure integrity and transparency 
x� Effective management of risks and the protection of Council assets 
x� Compliance with laws and regulations as well as use of best practice guidelines 
x� The effectiveness of the internal Audit function 
x� The provision of an effective means of communication between the external Auditor, internal Audit, management 

and the Council 
x� Facilitating the organisation’s ethical development, and 
x� Maintaining a reliable system of internal controls. 
 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council has an Audit Committee that facilitates the responsible operation of the Council.   
 
The Audit Committee is an independent committee of Council, consisting of five members, three of whom are independent 
experts in a range of areas, including financial management, business and project management.   
 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS & MEETING ATTENDANCE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
OUTCOMES FOR 2010-11 
 
 
 
x� Audit Committee Charter Review 
 
x� Review of Business Continuity Management 
 
x� Outcome of Local Government Inspectorate Visit 
 
x� External Audit Strategy Review 
 
x� Oversight of Procurement Policy 
 
x� Oversight of Risk Register  
 
 

Member Eligible to Attend Attended 

Mr David Hutchings (Chair) 3 3 

Mr Les Thompson 3 3 

Cr Bill Croft 

Mr Maurice Tyers 

Cr Les McPhee 

3 3 

3 3 

2 3 
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COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 
As part of Council’s ongoing commitment to consulting with our community, a range of consultation exercises have been 
undertaken over the year.  Consultation takes many varied forms, all of which contribute to Council’s understanding of the 
issues and priorities of our community. Some of these include: 
 
x� The Mayor and CEO travelling to Robinvale monthly to meet residents 
 
x� Implementing 11 Community Plans 
 
x� Assisting in developing early years and youth networks 
 
x� Meeting with Business, Tourism and Progress Associations monthly, and 
 
x� Community Planning Group Meetings. 
 
 
How did we consult this year? 
 
Improved communication between Council and the community has been, and remains a priority of the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council.   
 
Council adopted its Communication Strategy in June 2010 and continues to provide comprehensive information about a 
range of activities, issues, services and events through: 

x� Regular Mayoral columns in local newspapers 
x� Our website at www.swanhill.vic.gov.au is updated on a regular basis 
x� Distribution of a regular newsletter to the community, three editions are delivered annually to all letterboxes and 

post boxes in the municipality 
x� Distributed more than 300 media releases to various media outlets 
x� A range of community consultation exercises have been undertaken over the year 
x� Conducted Council Meetings at various locations within the Municipality, and 
x� A minimum of 30 advertisements printed per month. 

 
What did we consult on this year? 
 
x� Swan Hill CBD Masterplan 
x� Robinvale CBD Masterplan 
x� Robinvale Riverfront Masterplan 
x� Youth Strategy 
x� Tourism Strategy 
x� Community Planning 
x� Car Parking Strategy 
x� Draft Budget 2010-2011 
x� Swan Hill Bridge 
x� Tower Hill 
x� Communication Strategy 
x� Swan Hill Planning Review 
x� Rating Strategy 
x� North Parklands Redevelopment 
x� Chisholm Reserve Masterplan 
x� Swan Hill Aerodrome Upgrade 
x� Economic Development Strategy 
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ACCOUNTABILITY FRAMEWORK 
The diagram illustrates Council’s accountability framework to ensure a performance management process is in place for 
the annual planning, budgeting and reporting cycles, which are integrated and driven by Council’s priorities set out in the 
Council Plan and updated each year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Swan Hill Rural City Municipality 
Elections 

Council 
x�Mayor 
x�Councillors 

x�Sustainable Communities 
x�Economic Growth 

x�Environmental Management 
x�Governance and Leadership 

Desired Community Outcomes 

Executive Management Team 
x�CEO 
x�Director Corporate Services 
x�Director Infrastructure 
x�Director Development and Planning 
x�Director Community and Cultural  

Services 

CEO 
x�Pioneer Settlement 
x�Economic Development 
x�Robinvale “So Great 
x�Public Relations,  

Media and Events 

Audit Committee 

Internal Audit 

Corporate Services 
 
x�Commercial Services 
x�Human Resources 
x�Finance 
x�Information and 

Technology 
x�Customer Service 

and Revenue 

Infrastructure 
 
x�Assets 
x�Engineering Services 
x�Waste Management 
x�Corporate 

Operations 
x�Environment 
x�Community Planning 

and Recreation 

Development & 
Planning 

 
x�Development 

Services 
x�Building Services 
x�Environmental 

Health 
x�Regulatory Services 

Community & 
Cultural Services 

 
x�Aged and Disability 

Services 
x�Family Youth and 

Children 
x�Cultural and Library 

Services 
x�Packaged Care 
x�Community Capacity 

Reporting Outcomes to the Community 

Annual Report Key Strategic 
Initiatives—
Council Plan 

Outcomes 

Council Reports Other Reporting 

Council Plan 

Annual Budget 
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COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
Local Government is subject to substantial reporting requirements.  At the Swan Hill Rural City Council we ensure that we 
continue to deliver our desired community outcomes by monitoring our progress via the following performance reports and 
reporting these results back to the community.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BEST VALUE SWAN HILL 
 
The Best Value principles within the Local Government Act 1989 provide the statutory basis upon which Councils plan, 
review and manage their performance in order to deliver continuous improvement in all services and to meet the needs 
and expectations of service users. 
 
208B. Best Value Principles 
a) All services provided by a Council must meet the quality and cost standards required by section 208D; 
b) Subject to sections 3C(2)(b) and 3C(2)(e), all services provided by a Council must be responsive to the needs of its 

community; 
c) Each service provided by a Council must be accessible to those members of the community for whom the service is 

intended; 
d) A Council must achieve continuous improvement in the provision of services for its community; 
e) A Council must develop a program of regular consultation with its community in relation to the services it provides; 
f) A Council must report regularly to its community on its achievements in relation to the principles set out in 

paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e). 

 
Council completed a review of all of its services and operations in June 2005 in compliance with Best Value Legislation.  A 
vital component of Best Value is continuous improvement and its integration into the ongoing operations of Council, to 
assist with providing quality services and value to the community that are accessible, timely and affordable. 
 
 
 
ENSURING CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 
 
Council’s Corporate Planning processes are to ensure Best Value Principles are applied to the business plans and 
operations of each department of Council, as a way of embedding continuous improvement.  Council also participates in 
various benchmarking groups and activities such as the Super 11 Group of Councils and Municipal Association Victoria 
(MAV) Step Asset Management Process. 
 
The State Government Community Satisfaction Survey is conducted annually and is used as a guide to monitor service 
performance and resource allocation.  The Council Plan further includes several initiatives aimed at improving the 
operational efficiency and effectiveness of Council’s services.   

Report Occurrence What does it report? 

 
 

Annual Report 

Financial Statements 

 
 
 

Key Strategic 
Initiatives— 

Council Plan Outcomes 

Quarterly The financial statements report the financial position of 
Council throughout various stages of the year. 

This includes details of Council’s operations during the 
financial year, audited financial statements and a copy of 
the performance statement highlighting Council’s 
achievement against our Council Plan. 

 
 

Annually 

The Council Plan is the primary strategy adopted by the 
elected officials throughout their term.  It outlines Council’s 
objectives, strategies and identifies actions for achieving the 
desired community outcomes. 

The Key Strategic Initiatives make up the Council Plan and 
a quarterly progress report is issued to Council to monitor 
their performance. 

 
 
 

Quarterly 

 
Achievement of Other 

Strategies 

 
As Required 

Council is updated on progress towards implementing all of 
its broader strategies on a regular basis. Examples included 
Aboriginal Partnership Plan, Youth Strategy, 
Communication Strategy etc. 
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BENCHMARKING 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council continues to be an active participant in the ‘Super 11’ group of similar sized municipalities that 
not only undertake performance and process benchmarking on a range of services, but also compare performance and 
standards on a range of practices. 
 
In addition, Council conducts its own Community Satisfaction Surveys every two years to gauge community perception of 
Council’s performance on a range of issues.  These surveys include comparisons of Swan Hill Rural City Council’s 
performance against other Councils both in regional groupings and overall.   
 
Council participates in various benchmarking activities for individual service areas.  These include STEP Asset 
Management Program, DPCP, key performance indicators reporting, Victoria Grants Commission Returns, MAV Rates 
Survey and reporting to Government agencies in the areas of Aged Care, Maternal and Child Health, Child Care and many 
others.  
 
 
INFORMATION PRIVACY ACT 2000 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council respects the privacy of its citizens, ratepayers and clients.  Council is committed to the Privacy 
Principles prescribed by the Information Privacy Act 2000 and the Health Records Act 2001.  Council has adopted a 
privacy policy that addresses the requirements of both Acts.  A copy of the policy is available at the Council offices during 
business hours and on Council’s website. 
 
Council received one privacy complaint during the year which proceeded to the Victorian Privacy Commission for 
determination.  The Privacy Commissioner declined to entertain the complaint. 
 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 1982 
 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the opportunity for public access to Council documents.  The Act 
establishes a legally enforceable right for the community to request information, in document form, held by Council. 
 
The Act has four principles: 
 
1. The public has a right of access to documents subject to certain exceptions or exemptions. 
2. Local Governments are required to publish information on the documents they hold. 
3. Individuals may request that inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading information about themselves be 

amended.  
4. Individuals may appeal against a decision not to give access to the document(s) or not to amend personal information. 
 
Four requests were received this financial year, and a further two requests were carried forward from 2009/10. During the 
year, one request was withdrawn and the remaining five requests were granted in part, with one of these  proceeding to 
appeal at VCAT (ongoing). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Written requests for documents must be addressed to Council’s Freedom of Information Officer and should be 
accompanied by an application fee of $24.40 (2011/12).  A request must specify the document required or if unable to do 
so, give sufficient detail to enable the relevant document to be located, the form of access required and include details of 
the applicant’s contact details. 
 
 

Costs Financial Year Number of Requests Fees & Charges 

2010/11 4 requests $132.40 $14,682.00 

2009/10 

2008/09 

$3,030.72 $93.60 4 requests 

2 requests $58.60 $144.21 

2007/08 2 requests $184.00 $3,967.95 

2006/07 2 requests $99.30 $237.00 
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NATIONAL COMPETITION POLICY COMPLIANCE - 2010/11 
 
Certification by Chief Executive Officer 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council has complied with the requirements of the National Competition Policy (NCP) 
for the period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, in accordance with the requirements outlined in National 
Competition Policy and Local Government (Revised 2011) as set out below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I certify that: 
 
this statement has been prepared in accordance with the 2010-11 National Competition Policy reporting 
guidelines; and this statement presents fairly the Council’s implementation of the National Competition Policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed:          
(Chief Executive Officer) 
 
 
Date: 25 August 2011 

A.  Trade Practices Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant.  If 
non-compliant, justify or cite actions to redress. 

B.  Local Laws Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant. 
List all local laws made or remade during 2010-11 which 
impose a restriction on competition: 
Meeting Procedure Local Law No 1 

C.  Competitive Neutrality Compliance 
  
State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant for 
all significant businesses.  List any significant businesses 
that are non-compliant: 

Compliant 

Compliant 
 

Meeting Procedure Local Law No 1 was 
adopted but does not impose a restriction 
on competition as it only regulates Council 

Meetings. 

Compliant 
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DOCUMENTS TO BE MADE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION 
 
Council is committed to open and transparent governance.  According to the Local Government Act 1989 and Section 11 
of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2004, a Council must make available for public inspection documents 
containing the prescribed matters below.   
These documents can be viewed at the Swan Hill Rural City Council Municipal Offices at 45 Splatt Street, Swan Hill from 
8:30am to 5:00pm Monday to Friday. 
 

x�Details of current allowances fixed for the Mayor and Councillors. 

x�Details of senior officers’ total salary packages for the current financial year and previous year. 

x�Details of overseas or interstate travel undertaken in an official capacity by Councillors or any Council staff in the 
previous 12 months. 

x�Names of Council officers who were required to submit a return of interest during the financial year and the dates the 
returns were submitted. 

x�Names of Councillors who were required to submit a return of interest during the financial year and the dates the returns 
were submitted. 

x�Agendas and minutes for Ordinary and Special Council meetings held in the previous 12 months. 

x�A list of all special committees established by the Council and the purpose for which each committee was established. 

x�A list of all special committees established by Council which were abolished or ceased to function during the financial 
year. 

x�Minutes of meetings of special committees established under Section 86 of the Act and held in the last 12 months. 

x�A register of delegations kept under the Local Government Act. 

x�Submissions received under Section 223 of the Act during the previous 12 months. 

x�Details of all property, finance and operating leases involving land, buildings, plant, computer equipment or vehicles 
entered into by Council as lessor or lessee. 

x�Register of authorised officers appointed under Section 224 of the Act. 

x�A list of donations and grants made by the Council during the financial year. 

x�A list of the names of the organisations of which the Council was a member during the financial year. 

x�A list of contracts valued at $150,000 for services and $200,000 for works that Council entered into during the financial 
year without first engaging in a competitive process. 

 
 
WHISTLEBLOWERS PROTECTION ACT 2001 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council has developed procedures that protect people who report improper conduct or 
detrimental action by the Swan Hill Rural City Council or its employees.  The procedures encourage the disclosure of 
improper conduct by Council or its employees, provide protection to the person making disclosure from reprisals and 
require the comprehensive investigation of matters disclosed.  

 

Council takes its role and responsibilities very seriously and provided information on the criteria for whistleblower action 
and contact details in staff newsletters during the year.  The Whistleblower Protection Act also forms part of the new staff 
induction process.  No reportable matters were received in the 2010-2011 financial year. 

 

Staff are encouraged, if they believe they are aware of or have evidence about improper conduct or detrimental actions by 
the Swan Hill Rural City Council or its staff,  to report  the matters to the protected disclosure co-ordinator. 
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PROPERTY AND FIDEILITY GUARANTEE INSURANCE AUDITS 
 
Council’s property insurer, Jardine Lloyd Thompson Municipal Assets Protection Plan (JMAPP) conducts property and 
Fidelity Guarantee Insurance audits (Fidelity on behalf of the MAV) on a biennial basis for all Councils they insure. This 
process involves a desktop audit of Council’s fidelity, property and asset management procedures, plus site visits of 
randomly selected Council insured properties. 

After being delayed due to the flood threat, Council’s JMAPP (property) and Fidelity audits were undertaken on 
30 March 2011. Council improved its total score for the JMAPP (property) audit resulting in a total score of 72% and a 
score of 73% for Fidelity. State rankings will be established at the end of next year once all Council’s Audits have been 
completed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PUBLIC LIABILITY AND PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY 
Council’s Public Liability and Professional Indemnity insurers MAV Liability Mutual Insurance (formally Civic Mutual Plus) 
conduct audits of all Councils they insure on a biennial basis and provide assistance to improve Council’s Risk 
Management practices in the alternate years, the level of which is determined by Council’s state ranking from the previous 
audit. 

Council’s biennial Public Liability Audit was conducted on 10 February 2010 resulting in an overall score of 92% which 
placed Council in the top 20%. As such Council was offered a specific risk assessment on Special Committees and 
Agreements to aid us in further improving our risk controls in this area. 

The year ahead 
In the year ahead, Council’s Risk Management staff aim to conduct reviews of the Fraud Policy, Directive and Procedure, 
Council’s Risk Strategy and associated Framework. Recommendations to improve Council’s Business Continuity Plan as 
identified by Council’s Internal Auditor will also be implemented. In addition Council will be subject to its biennial Public 
Liability Audit by our insurer MAV Liability Mutual Insurance. 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Swan Hill Rural City Council is committed to managing risk effectively by having in place proactive procedures and 
systems aimed at reducing the adverse effects from future events.  Mechanisms are in place to protect Council against risk 
exposures such as professional and public liability claims, safety, reputation, assets and financial sustainability. 

Council’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy have been developed in accordance with the Australian and New 
Zealand Standard on Risk Management AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009.   

The Risk Management Policy provides a framework for identifying, analysing, controlling and reviewing risks.  Ongoing 
reviews of policies, controls and standards relating to Risk Management are reported to the Audit Committee on a biannual 
basis. 

All risks identified by Council are entered into its risk register ‘Tickit On Demand’ to allow reviews and actions to be 
allocated to appropriate officers and monitored, with the Risk Management section providing continued support and 
assistance to all areas of Council to ensure Council’s commitment to good risk management principles and practices. 

In addition to the JMAPP (Property) and Fidelity Audits, Council’s Business Continuity plan was reviewed by Council’s 
Internal Auditor. 
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2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Affordability 

Sustainability 

Services 

Infrastructure 

Governance 

Average rates and charges per assessment $1,692 $1,649 $1,386 $1,546 $1,512 

Average rates and charges per Residential 
assessment 

 
$1,116 

 
$1,131 

 
$1,187 

 
$1,236 

 
$1,257 

Average liabilities per assessment $1,176 $1,179 $1,212 $1,183 $1,240 

Operating result per assessment - surplus/
(deficit)  

 
($40) 

 
($25) 

 
$192 

 
$51 

 
$5 

Average operating expenditure per assessment $3,961 $3,920 $3,694 $3,275 $3,299 

Community Satisfaction Survey for overall 
performance generally of the Council   

 
66 

 
63 

 
65 

 
62 

 
62 

Average capital expenditure per assessment 

Renewal Gap 
Current spending on renewal to Asset base 
consumed during the year 

VICTORIAN LOCAL GOVERNMENT INDICATORS 
 
The Local Government Indicators have been developed to enable Victorian Councils to provide an overview of their 
performance on a common basis.  There are 11 indicators in all, which combined are designed to provide a ‘snap shot’ of 
performance.  They provide financial information per assessment (rateable property), capital and maintenance expenditure 
compared to the level of annual consumption of assets (a measure of how much assets are used during the year), and 
community satisfaction with Council performance. 

$656 $975 $566 $472 $391 

Renewal & Maintenance Gap 
Current spending on renewal plus maintenance  
to Asset base consumed during the year, plus 
maintenance  

 
80% 

 
99% 

 
143% 

 
95% 

 
89% 

 
56% 

 
74% 

 
88% 

 
176% 

 
98% 

Community Satisfaction Survey for Council’s 
advocacy and community representation on key 
local issues 

Community Satisfaction Survey for Council’s 
engagement in decision making on key local 
issues 

 
60 

 
67 

 
64 

 
75 

 
73 

 
54 

 
67 

 
61 

 
64 

 
64 
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Sustainable Communities 
Council seeks to achieve the following for our 
community: 
 

x� Engage communities in: 
x� Working together to develop a realistic long term vision for their district 
x� Identifying and prioritising actions to progress them towards their vision 
x� The preparation of a living Community Plan which enables each community to 

aspire to achieve its vision 
x� Providing and maintaining the necessary infrastructure and services for our communities  
x� Empowering our community and nurturing local leadership 
x� The development of a sense of regional cohesion where everyone realises that they are 

interdependent and benefit from each other’s successes 
x� Promotion of a sense of belonging, ensuring that everyone has a place in our community  
x� Recognition and respect of the uniqueness and differences between our communities 
x� Support and encourage our communities to identify their own needs and aspirations and 

how to achieve them 
x� Building a stronger community with, and between, established and new arrivals, and; 
x� Facilitating community organisations to be self sustaining. 



 

  34 | SHRCC—Annual Report 2010/11 

Council Plan Initiatives—Our Commitments and Performance 

9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete��� Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 

Strategic Objective 2: Supporting people who need extra assistance  

How we would meet this objective Status Progress 

9�

Implementation of actions from Youth Strategy are 
completed and/or ongoing. 

Out of School Hours Program handed over to Robinvale 
District Health Service August 2010. 

Implement actions from the adopted Youth 
Strategy.  

Establish alternate service delivery arrangements 
for Out of School Hours Program in Robinvale. 

9�

Program not funded in 2010/11 budget however an 
alternative pilot project was implemented instead. 
Following a review of the pilot it was determined not to 
proceed with the Program. 

Undertake a pilot project on the use of mobile com-
puting devices for Aged and Disability Services. 9�

Complete half yearly report on the action plan of 
the Youth Strategy.  9� Report delivered to August 2010 Council Meeting and 

Councillor Briefing September 2010. 

Development and adoption of the final Municipal 
Early Years Plan incorporating the early years 
framework. 

 
Â�

Report delivered at May 2011 Council Meeting providing 
update on children’s services . A further report will be 
prepared for September 2011 Council Meeting to consider 
strategies to be taken in order to address identified issues. 
Deferred until 2011/12. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 
Review and implement the Municipal Health and 
Wellbeing Plan.  8 The Public Consultation process has been completed. The 

Plan is to be adopted at July 2011 Council Meeting. 

Strategic Objective 3: Developing a safer community 

Strategic Objective 4: Facilitate and provide services for health and wellbeing 

How we would meet this objective Status Progress 

9� The Barry Steggall Reserve Masterplan and the detailed 
design for Stage 1 has been completed and adopted. 
Stage 1 works have commenced. 

Commence construction of Stage 1 of the Barry 
Steggall Reserve. Stage 1 consists of open green 
space, picnic areas and an all activities 
playground. 

Tender specifications for revising the Masterplan have 
been completed. The project will not be funded until 
2012/13. 

Aim to prepare tender specifications or 
Expressions of Interest document ready for 
quotation for the Riverfront Masterplan as 
identified in the Swan Hill Reserves Masterplan. 

�
9�

Upgrade irrigation systems to comply with the 
Lower Murray Water Permanent Water Savings 
Plan as identified in the Swan Hill Reserves 
Masterplan. 

9� Upgrades completed in accordance with LMW Permanent 
Water Savings Plan requirements to Robinvale Community 
Centre, Rowing Club, George and Ronald Streets and raw 
water connection to Swan Hill Oval. 

Review existing plans and strategies and 
consolidate a list of both. 8� Not completed. Will be carried over to 2011/12. 
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9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete  �Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 

Finalise options and ascertain indicative ongoing 
costs for Robinvale branch library.   

Â�

Review alternative service options with education 
providers; discussions have been delayed. Meetings with 
P12 being planned. 
Still awaiting DPCD budget directions now due July 2011 
Action to be carried over to 2011-2012. 

Review Mobile Library Service. Â� Usage statistics have been monitored. A survey will be 
conducted September 2011. This action will be carried 
over to 2011/12 

Finding alternative suitable locations for the Lake 
Boga Lions Club meetings. 9� Alternative location sourced and requires further 

discussion with Council. Action to be carried over to 
2011/12. 

Determine Council’s position and extent of our role 
and responsibilities in the redevelopment of the 
Swan Hill Racecourse Development Project and 
the Nyah Recreation Reserve. 

9� Racecourse:  
Grants funding obtained for the Community Hub and 
building design to go out to Tender. 
A Program Manager and Design Consultant have been 
appointed. 
Nyah Recreation Reserve: 
Projects have been identified.  A kitchen fit out and new 
cool room are proceeding. Applications for funding for 
other projects will be processed as opportunities arise. 

How we would meet this objective Status Progress 

Identify possibilities and encourage multi user 
recreation, health and cultural facilities for Maternal 
Child Health (MCH) in Piangil.  

 
Â�

Piangil Community Group has expressed interest in 
developing a multi purpose facility in Piangil which could 
include a facility for MCH visits. A report to Council is 
being prepared for recommendations on this building. This 
action to be carried over to 2011/12. 

Construct Woorinen South Skate Park. Â� Concept plan developed and funding received, some delay 
due to contractors, project being revised. 

Investigate the use of notebooks in Local Laws 
and the introduction of advanced infringement 
technology. 

 
9�

Investigations into notebooks are complete. 
Alternative methods to deliver service are being identified. 
Investigations for advanced infringement technology were 
determined to not be cost effective. 
Alternative methods are now being identified. 

Strategic Objective 5: Celebrating our identity 

Finalise design for Stage 1.1 of the Pioneer 
Settlement Master Plan including potential 
development of a Murray Darling Basin Interpretive 
Centre. 

 
9�

Grant application has been lodged with the Federal 
government . Detailed design for Stage 1.1 is complete. 

How we would meet this objective Status Progress 

Review the Media and Events Unit and establish 
committees for all major events and committees. 9� The review has commenced and is ongoing through 

Council Major Events Support Scheme funding and 
assistance of Council Media and Events staff. Committees 
have been established.  
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Strategic Objective 6: Aboriginal recognition 

How we would meet this objective Status Progress 

9� Robinvale and Swan Hill communities are still developing 
Aboriginal Community Plans.  
The Aboriginal Partnership Plan initiatives will be revised 
upon development of these Aboriginal Community Plans 
Other initiatives from the Aboriginal Partnership Plan are 
ongoing.  
Action to be carried over to 2011/12. 

Implement Year 2 actions of the Aboriginal 
Partnership Plan. Review action plan and begin 
implementing.  

The availability of two Council Indigenous scholarships 
was promoted through schools and wider media during a 
three-month period in early 2011. 
Of only two applications received, one Indigenous 
applicant met the scholarship criteria and was awarded the 
scholarship. 
Further promotion will occur during the January 2012 
intake to recruit a second Indigenous scholarship student. 

Issue two scholarships to Indigenous participants 
inline with the Aboriginal Partnership Plan. �

�
9�

9� Two appointments were made. Appoint two Indigenous trainees for existing 
traineeships when available in line with the 
Aboriginal Partnership Plan. 

Minister for Sport and Recreation, Hugh Delahunty, SHRCC 
Mayor Cr Greg Cruickshank, VicUrban Senior Development 
Manager Jason Martin and Member for Swan Hill Hon Peter 
Walsh announcing the works for Barry Steggall Reserve. 
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COMMUNITY FACILITATION UNIT 
 
HIGHLIGHTS  
 
Robinvale Riverfront Development 
 
In consultation with the community, in particular the Robinvale Walking Group, a project of works involving walking track 
rationalisation and development, general beautification (including installation of bollards, removal of non native vegetation, 
lighting enhancements, timber rail fencing, barbecue shelters etc) has been developed.  Funding from the State Government 
Small Towns Development Fund ($149,385) has supplemented Council’s contribution to this project. 
 
Lake Boga Flying Boat Museum 
 
In addition to funding being received from both the Federal and State Governments to construct the hangar facility at the 
museum, funding has been received from Heritage Victoria to develop a Catalina Conservation Management Plan ($7,500) 
and to refurbish the museum displays ($20,000).The museum refurbishment project involves relocating the display information 
from the communications bunker to the hangar and returning the bunker to its original war time appearance and condition. This 
project will broaden and extend the appeal of the Museum. 
 
Riding For the Disabled (RDA) Covered Arena 
 
Funding has been secured from Sport and Recreation Victoria’s Community Facility Funding Program (Minor) to construct a 
covered arena at the RDA facility at EF Butler Reserve.  The covered arena measures 27.5m by 60m and will be 
supplemented by an additional roofed area of 43.5m by 11m for the use of spectators. The project will provide a boost to the 
RDA and other equestrian activities conducted at the reserve. 
 
Implementation of L2P Program 
 
Community Facilitation is also currently delivering the L2P program. The L2P program is co-ordinated by VicRoads and funded 
by the Victorian Government, through the Victorian Transport Accident Commission and provides access to driving practice for 
learner drivers who have difficulty in gaining experience without community support. The program aims to help drivers under 
the age of 21 who do not have a car or someone to supervise them and provides vital supervised driving experience.  
 
Rural Access Program 
 
State Government funding through the Department of Human Services has allowed for the development of the Rural Access 
Co-ordinator’s position. During 2010/11 a Rural Access Co-ordinator was employed to administer the program which involves: 
 
x� Promoting mobilisation and support to people with a disability to optimise participation in the life of the local community 
 
x� Building on and strengthening the community’s capacity to provide support to people with a disability and their families 
 
x� To facilitate integrated local community planning and co-ordination which engages and involves people with a disability and 

their families, disability service providers and community organisations, and 
 
x� Work with existing disability support providers to enhance their capacity to provide relevant and appropriate support within 

the community and improve access information about relevant services and community activities available to people with a 
disability within their communities. 

 
 

A Catalina at the Lake Boga Flying Boat Museum 
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COMMUNITY PLANNING 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Community Plans 
Eleven Community Plans are being implemented across the municipality - Manangatang, Piangil, Robinvale, Nyah District, 
Ultima, Woorinen, Wemen, Lake Boga, Swan Hill, Beverford and Boundary Bend.  
 
George Lay Park 
Working together with community members and Council, VCAL students have taken a lead role in the design, planning and 
development of works to the park, which began in May 2011 with the construction of the walking track and paths. 
The community consultation process the students undertook for the project included hosting community meetings, consulting 
with Council, talking to residents and ensuring that draft plans for the park were on display for comment. 
Following this process, the students have developed the George Lay Park Masterplan which provides an overall vision for the 
park, including an oval for sports, basketball half court and community vegetable garden. 
The VCAL students have been recognised for their outstanding accomplishments on this project, receiving a VCAL award for 
team achievement in May 2011. 
 
Robinvale Gateway 
In 2011 Robinvale saw the redevelopment of Perrin Street and with Manangatang have seen the installation of new gateway 
signs. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
One of Council’s greatest challenges will be to seek funds to bring projects to fruition. Council, with the support of the 
community planning groups and through thorough investigation, planning and scoping of projects by the individual focus 
groups assigned to each project, are strongly positioned to attract additional funding from external sources, as some 
communities have already started to experience.  
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
The Piangil community are focused on consolidating all their public buildings into a new multi purpose facility. 
 
The Nyah community will see the beatification of the First Irrigation Scheme Site with preservation works carried out on the 
heritage concrete tank located at Two Bays in 2011 as well as upgrades to the Nyah Recreation Reserve facilities. 
 
The Wemen community are finalising works at the public hall which has involved landscaping and building a new playground. 
They will continue to plan for public toilets facilities at the hall. 
 
The Beverford community will undertake intersection development to the service road in this financial year. 
 
 A feasibility study to consider future accommodation, tourism and marketing opportunities for Lake Boga will commence in 
2011 and shoreline stabilisation at the caravan park has been planned. 
 
 
 
 
 

VCAL students pictured with SHRCC Mayor Cr Greg 
Cruickshank at George Lay Park. 
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INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS 
 
 
Council continues to take a keen interest in local Aboriginal affairs and issues.  Council has made the decision in the 
2010/11 year to provide ongoing funding for the position of Manager Aboriginal Affairs after the discontinuance of State 
Government support for the position. The role of this position is to foster partnerships between Council and the Aboriginal 
community by providing ongoing assistance to the local Aboriginal community in the areas of employment, service delivery 
and leadership in Aboriginal issues. Further development of the Aboriginal Community Plans for Swan Hill and Robinvale, 
and involvement in the Revitalising Regional Towns program will also assist in refining the role of the Manager over time. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Aboriginal Partnership Plan 
 
This plan introduced a range of strategies designed to support the local Aboriginal community and increase Council’s role in 
Aboriginal issues. The Aboriginal Partnership Plan was adopted by Council after consultation with the Aboriginal 
Community. This plan will be reviewed in conjunction with the development of a community plan for the local Aboriginal 
communities.  The review of the Partnership Plan will recognise and take into account those priorities identified in the 
Aboriginal Community Plans.  
 
Indigenous Youth Employment Program (Strategic Placement) 
 
Following on from the success of the Connectus Program the State Government has approved a subsequent program under 
the Indigenous Youth Employment Program to provide additional support and ongoing engagement relating to employment 
issues concerning Aboriginal youth.  Council is currently active in trying to place up to 30 young Aboriginal jobseekers in 
Robinvale and Swan Hill into employment. Council received $200,000 over 18 months to deliver this program.  Council has 
developed a partnership with Employment Works to assist with the referral, placement and post placement support required 
to achieve successful outcomes. This project commenced in July 2010 and is on track to reach its targeted outcomes. 
 
NAIDOC Week 
 
Council continues to join with the local Aboriginal communities to celebrate NAIDOC week in both Swan Hill and Robinvale.  
Council’s support for the celebrations and active involvement in flag raising ceremonies is valued by the local Indigenous 
community. 
 
 
Community Participation 
 
The Manager Aboriginal Affairs is actively involved in the participation of various committees.  These include PAYIKA 
College School Council (President), Swan Hill LIN (Community Member), Robinvale LIN (support provision), Robinvale 
Mens Group (support provision), LAECG (member), TAFE Advisory Committee (member), Local Aboriginal Justice Advisory 
Committee (LAJAC-Chairperson), Regional Aboriginal Justice Advisory Committee (Vice Chair), Swan Hill Health Services 
Youth Group (member), Swan Hill Health Services Mens Group (member), Murray Cods Sports Committee (Chairperson), 
Murray River Challenge Cup Committee (Chairperson) Horizons Committee (member), Victorian Employment Taskforce 
(member). 
 
Delivery of Indigenous cross cultural training to Council staff 
 
During the year, Indigenous cross cultural training was delivered to Council staff.  This training proved successful with 
attendees reporting positive results from the training. 
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COMMUNITY FUNDING 
 
The Community Pride Program is a Swan Hill Rural City Council initiative which aims to encourage a greater spirit of pride 
within our community.  Funding was made available to the groups and organisations listed below. 
 
CATEGORY ONE 
Community Grants Category One Program provides grants of up to $2000 to suitably qualified community groups and 
organisations. Generally, funding will only be provided for applications that target the following types of projects: 

 
x�New or upgraded equipment essential to the operation of 

the community group 
x�Minor or local festivals or events that have broad 

community benefit 
x� A specific high needs group 

Organisation 
Lakeside Golf Club  

Mackillop College  
Manangatang Improvement Group  
Manangatang Improvement Group  
Mid Murray Flying Club 

Murray Mallee Quilters 

Nyah District Christmas Carnival 

Nyah West Kindergarten 

Nyah West Tennis Club 

Robinvale Benevolent Society 

Robinvale Musical Arts Club 

Rotary Club of Robinvale—Euston 

Speewa Hall Committee 

St Mary’s Junior Football Club Inc 

St Mary’s Tyntynder Cricket Club 

Swan Hill Boxing Club 

Swan Hill Canoe Club 

Swan Hill Childcare Co-Op Ltd 

Swan Hill Genealogical and 
Historical Society 

Swan Hill Kart Club 

Swan Hill Neighbourhood House 

Swan Hill Portsea Camp 

Swan Hill Poultry Club Inc 

Wemen Progress Association 

Combined Christian Churches 

Lake Boga Preschool Inc 

Robinvale Football Netball Club 

Swan Hill Aboriginal Health Service 

Swan Hill District Health 

Swan Hill Kart Club 

Ultima Lions Club 

Lake Boga Inc 

Painting of the clubrooms 

Stove replacement project at the Lakeside Golf Club  

Project 

Funds towards the trip to the Western Front 2011  
Funds towards the Manangatang 100 Celebrations 

Funds towards the Lowan Park Youth Project 
Renewal of club signs at the Swan Hill Aerodrome 

Promotional signage for the group 
Funds towards to Nyah District Christmas Carnival 

Updates to outdoor play equipment 
Counter door replacement at Nyah West Tennis Club 

Funds towards the Robinvale Foodbank  
Funds towards new percussion instruments  

Portable shade for Robinvale Community Growers Market 
Funds towards repairs to the Speewa Hall 

Funds towards new junior jumpers  
Upgrades to the roller door 

Funds towards new boxing mats 
Paddlers safety project—purchase of lifejackets 

Funds to upgrade the carpet 
Funds to purchase new computer and software for the 
society 

Power upgrades to the Kart Club’s Clubroom 
Support for relocation to a new community centre 

Portsea Camp 2011 
New Pens Project 

Playground and Landscaping Project 
Community Christmas Celebration at Robinvale 

Funds towards adventure garden at Lake Boga Preschool 

Wandarrah Garden—”Meeting Place Garden” 
Funds towards “The Healing Garden” 

Funds to plant drought tolerant garden at Chisholm Res 
Ultima Lions Club Park Project 

Funds towards the Lalbert Road Turnoff 

$1,000  

$2,000  

Amount Funded 
$2,000  

$2,000  
$2,000  

$2,000  
$1,000  

$489 

$2,000  

$1,880 

$1,000  

$2,000  
$500  

$800  
$2,000  

$1,000  
$2,000  

$1,200  
$400  

$2,000  
$1,077 

$2,000 

$2,000  

$1,880 

$1,960 

$1,800 

$2,000 

$2,000 

$3,000  

$2,000  
$3,000 

$2,000 

x�Current OH&S or risk management issues 
x�New programs or activities within a community, 

or 
x�Structural repairs or minor upgrades to 

community facilities. 
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Organisation Project 
Funds towards volunteer equipment Ultima CFA 

Ultima Golf Club Inc Funds towards Golf Open Day 
Funds towards Fathers’ Day Breakfast Nyah West Kindergarten 

Royal Flying Doctors Funds towards Pelican Appeal 
Funds towards bus travel Swan Hill Stroke Support 

Manangatang RSL Funds towards costs of installing a septic tank 
Funds towards fixing of the Speewa Hall toilet Speewa Hall Committee 

Swan Hill Eisteddfod Funds towards Swan Hill Eisteddfod  
Funds towards George Lay Park Fun Day Swan Hill College 

Mallee Family Care Funds towards Mental Health Week event 
Funds towards two-day bowls classic Lake Boga Bowling Club 

Woorinen and District Progress Funds towards new veranda 
Funds towards swim meet Nyah Two Bays Amateur Swim Club 

Swan Hill District Health Funds towards adult excursion 
Funds towards improving the entrance to school building Beverford District Primary School 

Piangil Memorial Park Committee Funds towards Christmas Carol Night 
Funds towards Christmas Carol Night Combined Church Christmas Carols 

Swan Hill College Funds towards presentation night 
Funds towards training day Robinvale Lady Gold Members 

Robinvale Musical Arts Club/Group Funds towards flood relief concert 
Funds towards purchasing High Vis Vests Swan Hill Neighbourhood Watch 

Italian Social Club Funds towards the Community Market 
Funds towards Million Paws Walk RSPCA Million Paws Walk 

Lake Boga Lions Club Funds towards A Frame Sign for Catalina Museum 
Funds towards College Pedal Prix Team Manangatang P-12 College 

Amount Funded 
$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$300 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$250 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

$200 

CATEGORY TWO 
Category Two applications will be accepted at any time with no fixed closing date or time. Generally no more than $200 
may be allocated to a request in Category Two.  As funds are limited, all applications may not be funded or funded to the 
amount requested. Generally, funding will only be provided for applications that target: 

 
x�New programs or activities within a community 
x� Activities and events that have broad community benefit 

x�A specific high needs group 
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AGED AND DISABILITY 
 
Aged and Disability Services aim to support, enhance and monitor the wellbeing and independence of frail, aged people with 
disabilities and their carers. Council provides a flexible service which responds to the varying needs of clients and carers. 
 
Services are provided through two distinct funding streams – Home and Community Care (HACC) and Aged Care Packages.  
Both these programs aim to enhance independence and avoid premature or inappropriate admission to long-term residential 
care. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Additional Aged Care Packages applied for and successfully gained for the Packaged Care Consortium resulted in 10 
Community Aged Care Packages, five Extended Aged Care at Home and three Extended Aged Care Dementia Packages 
being spread across the region in line with Commonwealth and Consortium agreement. 
 
The inclusion in a trial of Consumer Directed Care packages is a first for Local Government. 
 
The implementation of Common Community Care Standards has resulted in Consortium members working together to create 
a document framework for use by both Packaged Care and HACC in Local Government across the Loddon Mallee region. 
 
The Home and Community Care client survey showed high levels of satisfaction for service provision with particular emphasis 
on improved service delivery for property maintenance. 
 
A planned activity outing was organised to travel to Melbourne to see the stage production of Mary Poppins. This was the first 
time the group has travelled by train to Melbourne and it was most successful and enjoyed by all. 
 
Community Care staff have undertaken training for the implementation of HACC Active Service Model. 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Ongoing reform of aged care is creating uncertainty for the future of HACC and Packaged Care services. 
 
Continuing to meet increasing demand for HACC services within the allocated budget.  This may require an introduction of a 
waiting list for services. 
 
There is still an increasing number of clients with complex issues and this will continue to place pressure on all levels of staff 
to support these clients in their desire to remain living in their communities. 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
The name of the Aged and Disability department will change to Community Care Services to reflect emphasis on services 
provided to the aged and disabled within the community setting. 
 
An application for additional Community Aged Care Packages to provide support to people with complex care needs to 
remain living in their own home. 
 
Continued learning in relation to Consumer Directed Care (CDC) packages working closely with Campaspe Shire Council 
 
STATISTICS 
 

 
 

Hours of Aged Care support for 
2010/11 

21,789 - General Homecare 

3749 - Respite Care 

3747 - Personal Care 

Number of meals delivered across the 
municipality 

Meals on Wheels 
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MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH 
 
The Maternal and Child Health (MCH) Service is a universal primary care service for Victorian families with children 
from birth to school age. The service is provided in partnership with the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV), Local 
Government and the Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. The service aims to promote healthy 
outcomes for managing the physical, emotional or social factors affecting families in contemporary communities.  
 
Maternal and Child Health nurses provide home visits to new mothers and mothers with special needs, centre 
consultations and developmental assessments, referrals to other agencies and phone consults.  
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Successfully transferred the Robinvale Out of School Hours (OOSH)/Vacation Care license to Robinvale District 
Health, to enable more efficient provision of the service. 
 
Sought and gained Commonwealth funding for the role of Children’s Advocate, to provide support for local primary 
schools and early childhood education providers to develop more family-friendly services. 
 
A partnership between Maternal and Child Health and Swan Hill Aboriginal Health Services to conduct baby Rhyme 
Time. 
 
Completed an initial project to assist CALD families with pre-school enrolments in partnership with Mallee Family Care. 
 
Licenses confirmed for all early childhood education services offered by Council. 
 
OPPORTUNITIES 
 
Working with Swan Hill Neighbourhood House to prepare an application for funds to develop a Children’s Hub at their 
new facility. 
 
Three early childhood education staff undertaking relevant studies. 
 
Child and Youth Friendly Charter incorporated into local primary school strategic planning for the first time. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Reapplying for funding to complete two significant early childhood education projects at Nyah District Kindergarten and 
Swan Hill Neighbourhood House. Previous applications were not successful, despite meeting all guidelines and 
attempting to address social disadvantage rankings within the municipality. 
 
Introduction of Children’s Services Regulations placing greater workload and compliance monitoring on early childhood 
education staff. 
 
Preparing for National Quality Framework and National Regulations, which is to commence in January 2012. The NQF 
regulations will impact upon long day care, Family Day Care, OOSH and preschool and will replace the current 
licensing processes undertaken by the states and the current accreditation process. 
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YOUTH SERVICES 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Youth Strategy 2009 – 2013 
The Strategy has been developed for young people in consultation with, and representation by, young people and provides 
youth with a strong voice as to what they would like to see in their municipality. The Youth Strategy sits alongside the Child 
and Youth Friendly Charter. 
 
The Youth Strategy provides direction to Council and members of the Youth Partnership into the future and will require 
commitment from all parties. 
 
The Swan Hill Youth Strategy survey attracted an incredible response rate with some 1229 youth completing the survey. 
 
Youth Action Strategy 2010-2011 
 
The Youth Action Strategy research project is designed to compliment and inform the youth services reform work that is 
currently happening in our area. 
The focus of this research project is on how young people actually receive a tangible service. The research project is 
primarily about exploring and developing model/s as a precursor to implementation, rather than about implementing the 
model, with a strong emphasis being placed on rurally isolated young people who live further away from regional centres. 
 
Young Achiever Award 
It was announced at the Annual LGPro Conference Dinner in February 2011, that Kane Sparks, SHRCC Youth Officer, was 
the joint winner of the Young Achiever of the Year Award. 
 
Nominations for this award relate to “recognisable achievements” by the nominee in the Victorian Local Government sector. 
A Young Achiever is a person working in Local Government up to the age of 30 years who has attained or accomplished 
outstanding results. 
 
Kane has done an exceptional job in his role and is a very worthy winner of this award. 
 
Woorinen South Skate Park 
 
The Woorinen South Skate Park addresses a gap in local facilities. This request for a skate park was formalised at a 
workshop conducted in April 2005 where Woorinen South district youth identified the development of a skate park as one of 
their priorities.  They have maintained this request for a skate park through their activities as part of the 'Way Out There' 
youth group which consists of around 20 to 25 young people.  The youth group have consulted widely on the make up of the 
skate park and have finalised their design preferences. The project is anticipated to finalised by 30 November 2011.  
 
Creating a Youth Space in Manangatang 
 
This project involved extending the local park to incorporate an 
area of recreation for teenage youth as there was no area for 
this age group in town where they could meet and socialise 
safely. The local park consisted of only equipment that was 
suitable for smaller children. The plan included a half court 
basketball/netball/tennis court, rebound wall and cricket area, 
a small skate area set in and around the continuation of the 
Lowan Park garden and more seating and shade.  
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Youth Partnerships Initiatives Demonstration Site (Swan 
Hill, Gannawarra, Buloke, Loddon and Mildura) 
 
Youth Partnerships is a State Government sponsored initiative aimed at improving the delivery of services to young people 
aged 10 to 18 who have disengaged from family, education or community or who are at risk of doing so. 
The overarching goals of the initiative are: 
 
x� Improving engagement with education and training, leading to an increase in the completion of Year 12 or equivalent, 

and 
 
x� Reducing the escalation of social, individual and behavioural problems for individual young people. 
 
Youth Trainee 
 
Council will recruit a Youth Trainee to support the delivery of Youth Services in the municipality. 

Woorinen South Skate Park Design 
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ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
 
The Public Health Services Unit incorporates a number of services to provide public health programs appropriate to 
community needs and enforces the related legislation.  The range of services includes: 
x� Food safety 
x� Septic tanks and wastewater management 
x� Accommodation standards 
x� Mosquito monitoring, control and education 
x� Communicable disease control 
x� Environmental and nuisance control 
x� Immunisation 
x� Tobacco investigation and enforcement 
x� Emergency planning for public health response, and 
x� Health promotion and education. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Food Act Changes 
The various changes to the Food Act 1984 are continuing to be implemented and education of both the community and 
registered premises continues. 
 
New Tobacco Reforms 
Council’s Environmental Health Officers have been conducting inspections and providing education around the new Tobacco 
Reforms that were introduced 1 January 2011. 
 
New Residential Tenancies (Caravan Parks and Movable Dwellings Registration and Standards) Regulations 2010 
Council’s Environmental Health Officers continue to implement the changes to the regulations as well as educate and inform 
Caravan Park Operators. The CFA also conducted further audits of all caravan parks within the municipality. 
 
Heatwave Planning 
The Heatwave Plan was adopted by Council in November 2010. The plan provides information on the need to prepare for 
heatwave and actions that can be implemented to support the community in their planning to stay safe during a heatwave. 
 
Immunisations 
Council administered 4,433 vaccinations compared to 4,348 vaccinations for the 2009/2010 year. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Mosquito monitoring and control 
High rainfalls and flooding significantly increased mosquito breeding throughout the municipality which had an impact on 
Council’s staff resources. 
 
Cigarette sales to minors 
Council had tobacco retailers sell cigarettes to the Tobacco Test Purchase Assistant. 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 
Public comment is complete and the plan is to be presented to Council for adoption. 
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CHALLENGES 
 
Municipal Fire Prevention Officer 
The Municipal Fire Prevention Officer is also a Local Laws Authorised Officer.  Significant rainfalls resulted in a busier than 
average year for Fire Prevention notices and follow-up which impacted on staff resources within the Regulatory Services 
team. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Implement the changes made to the Code of Practice for Dogs and Cats in Shelters and Pounds. 
 
Design and cost new pound facility for Swan Hill. 
 
 
 
     INDICATORS 

Year 

Parking infringements 

Regulatory Services 
Infringements 

Parking meter Revenue 

Infringements withdrawn  
per internal reviews 

Fines 

2008/09 2009/10 

1007 

146 

2010/11 

216 106 

1182 824 

$210,616 $193,231 $213,390 

35 46 57 

$66,066 $89,592 $39,765 

REGULATORY SERVICES 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Responsible Pet Ownership and Free Microchipping Day 
As part of Council’s commitment to foster responsible pet 
ownership, the Regulatory Services Department undertook its 
annual free microchipping day. 
 
Again this proved very successful with 79 companion animals 
being microchipped. On the day, Council officers provided a 
sausage sizzle and all proceeds were given to the local RSPCA 
branch. 
 
Further to Council’s commitment to foster responsible pet 
ownership, ’dog litter’ bag dispensers have been installed in a 
range of public areas. 
 
Fire Prevention 
Fire prevention duties were carried out by Regulatory Services 
staff this fire season with 121 clean up notices being issued.  All 
breaches were fully rectified. 
 
K-9 Kube Animal Lifter 
The K-9 Kube animal lifter that was developed by Council Local 
Laws staff in conjunction with CJM Attachments Pty Ltd has been 
nominated for a WorkSafe Award for best solution to a workplace 
health and safety issue. Other Victorian Councils have since 
purchased the K-9 Kube for their Local Laws Departments. 

K-9 Kube Animal Lifter 
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LIBRARY 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Broadband for Seniors 
The Library launched the Seniors for Broadband program in August 2010. A successful application to the federally funded 
program provided two computers, desks and chairs to cater for seniors wishing to learn how to use a computer and the 
Internet. Seniors can use the computers on their own or book time with a volunteer who will tutor them. 
 
New seating in library  
The Library received a face lift this year.  Shelving and furniture were moved to create new spaces and the youth area was 
also extended to allow for more seating and create a more youth focussed space. Council provided extra funding to replace 
seating. The new seating includes a two seater lounge in the youth area, two soft lounge chairs, seven armchairs and 60 
study chairs.  
 
Power Mates 
In February 2011 Council’s Environment Unit teamed up with the library to provide “Power Mates” for the public to borrow.  
The Power Mate determines how much electricity household appliances use which can then help work out where power 
savings can be made within the home. These have been a very popular addition to the library. 
 
 
The Summer Read Program 
This ran from December 2010 to February 2011, with 101 children registering and more than 2370 books read. 
 
Burke and Wills 150th celebrations 
This included a Burke and Wills trail through the Library and a children’s competition based on questions answered along the 
trail. Prizes for the competition were supplied by the Royal Society of Victoria. A monologue based on the book The Barrier 
Range by Ray Liversidge, was performed by author’s son.  
 
Living Books 
The Library partnered with the Pacific Islander Workers Scheme to host workers from Vanuatu currently living in Swan Hill as 
part of the scheme to talk and participate in an evening at the library. Ten workers provided an entertaining and informative 
evening for those who attended to learn about the customs and culture of Vanuatu and what being part of the Pacific Islander 
Workers Scheme means to them. 
 
Refugee Week 
This was celebrated with another living book. This time a Sudanese refugee spoke about his life’s journey from Sudan to 
Swan Hill and his return trip to Sudan last year. The event was attended by 61 people. 
 
 
 
STATISTICS 
 
Annual loans -130,570 
Annual visits to Library - 94,620 
New members -1083 
Number of hours of public computer usage - 6860 
Number of computer sessions - 10,513 
Number of holds placed - 13,405 
Attendances at story times - 877 
 
 

A ‘Power Mate’ available to loan at the Swan Hill 
Library 

A selection of the new seating at the Swan Hill Library  
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ART GALLERY 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
During the past 12 months, the Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery has presented six touring exhibitions, three curated exhibitions 
and 10 Access Gallery exhibitions. In addition, Robinvale and the Gannawarra Shire have received four Outreach Exhibitions 
each. 
 
Three concerts were held at the gallery during the year. 
 
The Burke and Wills 150th Anniversary Celebrations created great interest with paintings, memorabilia and artifacts 
comprising the exhibition. Significantly this was the first time since 1861  that two of the three breastplates presented to the 
Yandruwandha peoples of Coopers Creek had been together. 
 
The Access Gallery continues to provide an opportunity for regional artists and groups to exhibit in a dedicated industry 
standard space. This provides a direct engagement with many aspects of our community. In February for example, Land, 
Ocean, People: Connections to Culture of the South West Pacific Island Nations, highlighted the artifacts and artworks from 
participating countries in the Pacific Seasonal Worker Pilot Scheme and Fiji. 
 
The Gallery also hosted the second Australia’s Creative Rural Economy (ACRE) seminar – Reimagining the Landscape. 
Inspired presenters and delegates are testimony to the work being done in the region. One outcome of this seminar and 
certainly a highlight for the organisers was the ABC Radio National featuring the seminar and the notion of ACRE on the radio 
program Artworks. 
 
In July Gallery Director, Ian Tully, was invited to attend and contribute to the conference ‘The Wedding of Art and Agriculture’ 
in Oland Sweden, a gathering of international artists and curators. This involved meetings with various stakeholders of the 
rural-based arts trust Littoral, located in England, a leading agency for change across the UK and Europe. 
 
 
PERFORMING ARTS 
 
 
In the last 12 months, the Performing Arts program presented 16 shows, which included performances in Robinvale and the 
Gannawarra Shire ranging from children’s shows to the 2010 Comedy Festival. 
A total of 2355 people attended these events. 
 
The 2010 Fairfax Festival was another success, with 99 students from nine groups participating from across Victoria. This 
was an increase from 2009 of 22% in participants numbers and 40% in groups with new schools Tyrrell College, Sea Lake 
and St Joseph's College from Mildura attending. Two hundred and forty-nine general admission tickets were sold to the 
Fairfax Festival Gala, and 105 students, teachers, tutors as well as the Festival Patron attended the Gala. One hundred per 
cent of 2009 participating schools returned in 2010. 
 

 

 

TOWN HALL 
 
The Swan Hill Town Hall Performing Arts and Conference 
Centre (PACC) is a very versatile, multi purpose venue. 
The Town Hall is used for a wide variety of events 
including meetings, conferences, seminars, trade fairs, 
concerts, weddings, debutant balls, dinners, birthday 
parties, council meetings, school performances, training 
and theatrical performances. This year the Town Hall was 
used by Twilight Cinemas as a trial to determine if there 
was a financially viable demand within the area for running 
regular movie sessions. 
 
 
STATICTICS 
 
Over the past 12 months: 
26,088 people attended events 
414 events in venue 
2,222 hours of venue usage 
92.5 % of venue usage was by Swan Hill Council and the 
local community 

The Swan Hill Town Hall 
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PIONEER SETTLEMENT 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The use of the Pioneer Settlement as a function venue continues to increase and the Pioneer Settlement has again 
experienced significant growth, with a notable increase of booking requests for the PS Pyap as a venue of choice during the 
festive season. 

The introduction of the holiday program ‘Experience First Hand the Life of our Mallee Pioneers’, has ensured visitors during 
the peak tourist seasons are catered for and return for a second day visit.  

The standout event for the year was the inaugural Food and Wine Festival.  This event was run in conjunction with Swan Hill 
Inc and attracted in excess of 2000 visitors and over 20 food and beverage outlets.  It was deemed a success by both the 
stall holders and visitors to the site.   
 
The event was launched with a cruise on the PS Pyap. This event was so successful it will be repeated during the summer 
tourist season increasing the tourism product for both the Pioneer Settlement and the entire Swan Hill region.  
Work has already begun organising the event for 2012, with stall holders indicating they wish to participate again and 
additional businesses already approaching the committee indicating they wish to participate next year. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Difficulties meeting increasing demand on resources while ensuring growth and continuing operations of the Pioneer 
Settlement services. 
 
Staff recruitment and retention. 
 
Securing funding for the redevelopment of the Pioneer Settlement. 
 
Floods 
It was an unfortunate situation for the entire state of Victoria and given the extent of damage that other municipalities suffered 
the Pioneer Settlement was extremely lucky to not experience any significant damage to its assets or infrastructure.  However 
given the fact the Pioneer Settlement is situated directly on the banks of the Marraboor River, the Council was given no 
option but to close the Pioneer Settlement from the 22 January through to 2 February 2011.   
 
The timing of the event was unfortunate given that this was during the peak school holiday period.  Prior to the highway at 
Kerang being flooded and the interruption of V-Line services to Swan Hill, revenue had been up 18% at the Pioneer 
Settlement compared to the same period in the previous year.  Unfortunately, the floods eroded any gains made previous to 
the event. 
 
The assistance of Tourism Victoria should also be acknowledged. In response to the floods they sponsored the travel show 
Postcards to film at the Pioneer Settlement.  This has consequently been shown on two separate occasions and has a value 
of over $15,000 in marketing to the Pioneer Settlement.   
 
THE YEAR AHEAD  
 
The Swan Hill Pioneer Settlement Masterplan incorporates a new Exhibition and Interpretive Centre and Large Object 
Conservation facility.  While these buildings will provide a much needed exhibit, interpretive, storage and administration 
spaces for the Settlement, the principal aim of the proposed new works is to enhance the visitor experience and help provide 
for a sustainable future for the venue.  
 
Beyond new buildings, master planning for the site and connections to Monash Drive as well as the broader Swan Hill region 
must be explored to understand and develop the visitor experience. 
 
The Pioneer Settlement is in the final stages of preparation for the redevelopment with funding applications to the Federal 
Government now in place and negotiations with the State Government currently being undertaken. 
 
A new amenities block and improvements to the Lower Murray Inn and a new wedding entrance adjacent to the PS Gem and 
rotunda will take place within this financial year. The Council has put aside $400,000 to complete these works.   
 
This is welcomed news for the Pioneer Settlement as the current amenities block needs replacing and improvements to the 
Lower Murray Inn will increase its potential for private functions and use through summer to further utilise the fantastic setting 
already offered on the banks of the Marraboor River.  
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Future Development  
Future development works coincide with the settlement’s broader strategy for repositioning itself in the tourism market. 
 
Continued efforts are required to ensure funding can be obtained for the major redevelopment project. 
 
The proposed redevelopment will have a positive effect on the built environment, with rehabilitation and redevelopment 
works being undertaken to transform the Pioneer Settlement back into one of the state’s premier tourist attractions. 
 
Opening up certain areas of the Settlement to the river will have a positive effect in terms of social, economic and 
environmental benefits.  It is Council’s and the community’s overall aim to provide greater public access to the river and the 
adjoining precinct.  
 
This will also provide positive flow on effects to local business with an increase in tourism as a result of encouraging 
greater access from the public and visitors. 
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Economic Growth 

Council will actively promote and pursue economic 
growth and development by: 
 
x� Supporting the development of a prosperous, growing, vibrant and diverse economy 
x� Encouraging development and new business establishment based on the region’s comparative and competitive 

advantages 
x� Promoting an economy that consists of a number of diverse sustainable small and medium industries 
x� Providing infrastructure and a range of services that makes us a ‘region of choice’ 
x� Supporting existing businesses to be sustainable and expand, and 
x� Actively engaging in economic development through Council’s own practices. 
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Council Plan Initiatives—Our Commitments and Performance 

Strategic Objective 1: Creating population growth 

Strategic Objective 2: Housing  

9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete��� � � Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 

Commence Tower Hill Estate Stage 7 
infrastructure design. 

Complete the concept plan review of Tower Hill 
Estate. 

Identify an appropriate agency to develop a Whole 
of Life Education Plan. 9  

9��

Murray Mallee LLEN selected as appropriate agency. 
Council will continue to work with Murray Mallee LLEN to 
lobby for plan development.  

The design is now complete. VicUrban expect construction 
to commence in November/December 2011. The Cultural 
Heritage Plan has been approved. 

8� The concept plan review will commence when Stage 7 
construction is underway. This action will be carried over 
to 2011/12. 

Allocate provision of office space to accommodate 
Federal and State Government personnel.  9��Review completed of office availability at SHRCC 

Information Centre. RDV staff now working from 
Information Centre. Further office space to be leased by 
CACPS, a federally-funded program, by August 2011. 

Adopt and implement reviewed Economic 
Development Strategy. 8� Strategy to be tabled at July 2011 Council Meeting for 

progression to public consultation. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Re-auspice the Skilled Migration Program to 
alternative, more appropriate agency.  9� Settlement component of Skilled Migration Program re-

auspiced to Mallee Family Care. 

Completion of the review of the SHRCC Planning 
Scheme and Municipal Strategic Statement.  9� Completed and presented at Council Meeting July 2010. 

Determine whether the amendment to the Planning 
Scheme is required with regards to the South West 
Precinct of Swan Hill.  

Â� Awaiting detailed alternative proposal from Developers. 
State Government is currently reviewing laws in relation to 
Development Contributions Plans.  
Further consultation and submissions from landowners will 
be required.  
This action to be carried over to 2011/12. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Review Residential Strategy and commence 
review of opportunities for Residential Housing 
concurrently with SWDP in case SWDP does not 
proceed.   

8� Review of Planning Scheme continuing. The project has 
been awarded to carry out review of the Strategy. This 
action will be carried over to 2011/12. 

As a part of the Rating Strategy, implement a 
Vacant Land Premium Differential Strategy. 9� Completed August 2010. A minor modification to the 

application will be made for 2011/12. 

Develop the Rural Zone Living Strategy and Land 
Use Planning. Â� This was unfunded in the 2010/11 budget.  

Action to be carried over to 2011/12. 
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Strategic Objective 3: Employment 

Develop and implement a strategy for opportunities 
for small and home-based businesses.  8� This strategy will form part of the Economic Development 

Strategy due for public consultation July 2011. This action 
to be carried over to 2011/12. 

Actively lobby to attract State and Federal 
Government agencies to establish service centres 
in Swan Hill. 

9� RDV staff are now working from the Information Centre. 
The Department of Justice is now established in Swan Hill. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Strategic Objective 4: Education/Skilling 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 
Advocate for educational opportunities in our 
region. 9� Lead agency identified as Murray Mallee LLEN. Council 

will continue to work with Murray Mallee LLEN to lobby for 
development of a plan. 

Advocate for the establishment of a university shop 
front. 9  Deakin at your Doorstep has been established at 

Sunraysia TAFE.  

Strategic Objective 6: Existing business support 

Conduct two small business seminars/workshops. Â� Seminars not available due to State Government Election 
and impact of flood recovery. Small Business Victoria 
Workshops to be rolled out in 2011/12. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Finalise lease arrangements with DSE and prepare 
Masterplan for the Swan Hill Riverside Caravan 
Park.  

9� The Masterplan is complete. Tenders closed April 2011. 
The lease has been finalised and is due to commence July 
2011. 

Strategic Objective 5: Attracting new business 

Secure North Park Land Site - subject to available 
funding. 9� Council singed MOU for North Park site. Public 

consultation has commenced.  

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Develop the Business Case and Project scopes for 
Year 3 projects. 9� Drainage analysis has been undertaken. Shade structures 

have been installed and the alternative kiosk design is 
ready for consultation.  

Determine and complete Year 2 of the Central 
Business District Masterplan for Robinvale and 
Swan Hill including links to riverfronts.  

Â� Robinvale Perrin Street upgrade is complete. Robinvale 
riverfront is 30% complete. Formal structure design for 
upgrade to infrastructure in Swan Hill is complete.  

Develop a Tourism Strategy incorporating eco 
tourism and heritage discovery drive.  9� Draft completed and adoption of strategy implemented. 

Create a business vitality inventory.  8� This will form part of the Economic Development Strategy 
which is due for public consultation July 2011. 

9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete��� � � Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 

Review the Planning Scheme to facilitate business 
expansion including highway frontage 
opportunities, new lighting and heavy industrial 
estate sites and opportunities for retail sites. 

9� The Planning Scheme was reviewed and adopted. 



 

  54 | SHRCC—Annual Report 2010/11 

Strategic Objective 7: Infrastructure 

Complete Robinvale CBD Masterplan. 9� Perrin Street, Robinvale upgrade is complete.  

Investigate the viability of passenger air services.  8� A Request for Submissions document has been drafted. 
Two potential operators have been identified.  

Lobby to attract irrigation infrastructure upgrades 
and consult with NVIRP in roll out of plan.  9��Swan Hill modernisation planning commenced July 2009 

and a final report was presented to NVIRP. The project is 
dependent on the viability of lowering the Little Murray 
Weir.  

Steering committee to be developed and a town 
entrance signage program to be established to 
improve township entrances.  

9  

A Community Planning Focus Group was established and 
consulted. Concepts were developed for consultation in 
September 2009. The northern entrance design endorsed 
in August 2010. The first signs were installed in Robinvale 
and Manangatang. Works have commenced on the Murray 
Valley Highway and Karine Street entrances. The project 
is still ongoing. 

Review Car Parking Policy and implement staged 
program of actions.  Â� The review of the policy has been deferred to 2011/12 to 

be considered in conjunction with the CBD Streetscape 
design. 

Advocate to ensure gas, electricity, broadband, 
telecommunications, Swan Hill Bridge, rail and 
alternative energy services meet the needs of the 
growing community by: 
x�Finalising the Economic Development Strategy 
x�Determining the location of the Swan Hill Bridge 
x�Create an alternative energy development in 

Victoria’s Regional Blue Print and Loddon Mallee 
Northern Plan, and 

x�Complete Murray River Group of Councils gas 
study. 

 
 
8�

Considerable works have been undertaken to lobby for 
action under this initiative outside of the Economic 
Development Strategy. 
The location of the Swan Hill Bridge has been determined. 
The Solar 1000 program was implemented across the 
municipality. Broadband infrastructure is currently being 
rolled out in Swan Hill.  
State Government funding has been secured for the Gas 
Study. A project brief has been written and a steering 
group appointed. The study is to commence in July 2011.  

Investigate the possibilities for railhead and rail 
freight centres in the municipality.  9� Funding has been received for the North West Transport 

Strategy and the study is being undertaken. 

Finalise design stage for 1.1 of the Pioneer 
Settlement Masterplan 9� The grant application has been lodged with the Federal 

Government. The detailed design for Stage 1.1 is 
complete. 

How we would meet this objective Progress Status 

Renewal of current infrastructure with regards to 
Council-operated aerodromes. 8� A capability statement has been prepared and a business 

survey completed. A committee has been formed to 
oversee the review. This action will be carried over to 
2011/12. 

Investigate a possible expansion to allow for 
commercial activities  with regards to Council-
operated aerodromes. 

9  A Request for Submissions document has been drafted. 
Two potential operators have been identified.  

Aim to prepare tender specifications or 
Expressions of Interest document ready for 
quotation for the Swan Hill Riverfront.  

9��Funds for the Swan Hill Plan not budgeted for until 
2012/13. Funding received and renewal of Robinvale 
riverfront is 30% complete.  

Complete DCP process and consult with 
developers with plan adopted by Council. 8� Consultation with landowners continuing. This action will 

be carried over to 2011/12. 

Maintain regular dialogue and site meetings with 
senior VicRoads’ officers. 9  Regular dialogue between Director Infrastructure, CEO 

and VicRoads occurring to influence VicRoads works’ 
program. 
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Economic Development is a key function of Council and is the process of expanding the size of the local economy and 
creating wealth for the whole community. Council’s Economic Development Unit plays an important role in facilitating this 
economic growth. 
 
The Council Plan 2009-2013 is centered on economic development and population growth. Council has looked beyond the 
four-year cycle of the plan and has developed a vision for the Swan Hill municipality that will lead us towards 2040. 
 
The municipality is fortunate to have a diverse economic base with a number of key industries such as agriculture, retail, 
tourism and manufacturing. The Economic Development Unit is undertaking a range of new and exciting projects that aim 
to enhance employment opportunities and help to stimulate the local economy. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Draft Economic Development Strategy 2011-2016 
 
A draft Economic Development Strategy for the period 2011-2016 has been prepared in-house by Council’s Economic 
Development Unit.  The development of the strategy was overseen by a cross-Council working party made up of Council 
officers and Councillors and was chaired by the Mayor.   
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council Draft Economic Development Strategy provides Council with set directives in the delivery 
of its economic development functions over the life of the plan and allows these directives to be clearly communicated to 
the community.   
 
The strategy focuses on five strategic themes deemed to be critical to the economic prosperity of the municipality. Those 
themes are:  
x� Attracting new business 
x� Supporting existing business to grow 
x� Marketing the region 
x� Addressing infrastructure needs 
x� Education and skills development 
 
Each strategic theme is accompanied by a series of actions to be followed up by the Economic Development Unit and 
other Council departments.  
 
As part of the strategy development, Council purchased the economic modeling software REMPLAN. REMPLAN is a user-
friendly regional economic analysis software package. REMPLAN software provides access to dynamic economic 
modeling capability and detailed regional economic data for up to 109 different industry sectors. The software gives 
Council the capacity to pre-empt the impacts specific actions will have on the municipality with regards to employment, 
output, local sales, regional exports, etc.  
 
The purchase of the REMPLAN software will aid Council in achieving a number of strategies set forth in the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council Plan 2009-2013, through accurate long term planning. 
 
The draft Economic Development Strategy is available by contacting Council’s Economic Development Unit. 
 
Economic Development in Robinvale 
 
Council secured funding for the employment of an Economic Development and Tourism professional to ensure economic 
growth in the Robinvale area is environmentally sustainable for the next two years. 
 
The focus areas for the role will be: 
x� Development and implementation of Council’s draft Economic Development Strategy 
x� Development of marketing materials for the Robinvale region 
x� Providing business assistance and addressing investment inquiries for the Robinvale region 
x� Developing strategies to diversify the local economy 
x� Advocating for critical regional infrastructure, and 
x� Industry development, with a focus on tourism. 
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Wayfinding Signage 
 
As part of the CBD redevelopment process, Council’s Economic Development Unit is responsible for the future installation 
of ‘wayfinding signage’ at key points throughout the CBD. 
 
Wayfinding signs are an effective way to assist visitors with navigating around new environments. Using clear and concise 
directional systems, wayfinding signs integrate symbols and platforms to assist visitors to build a mental map of the Swan 
Hill CBD. 
 
Wayfinding signage will be installed throughout the Swan Hill CBD in October 2011. 
 
Gateway Signage 
 
The Swan Hill Rural City Council Gateway Signage Project involves the replacement and rollout of more than 55 signs 
across the entire municipality, including all town entrance and locality signs and municipal boundary signage. Given the 
size and cost of the project it will be rolled out over a number of years.   
 
Robinvale were the first to receive their signs with the larger monument signs installed in December 2010 and 
Manangatang receiving their medium signs just in time for the town’s centenary celebrations during Easter 2011. 
 
External Funding Success 
 
The Economic Development Unit, together with the Environmental Unit, was successful with a number of funding 
applications over the last 12 months. A total of $282,000 of external funding was received to carry out existing and future 
projects such as an Economic Development, Marketing and Tourism Strategy for Lake Boga and an Economic 
Development and Tourism Strategy for Robinvale. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Investment Attraction  
 
The Economic Development Unit and Council have been playing an active role in investment attraction, just missing out on 
having an almond processing facility established in the municipality. While Council and the Economic Development Unit 
are disappointed that the processing facility won’t be located in the municipality, it has learnt some valuable lessons from 
the process and will be better prepared when future opportunities arise. 
 
Through the Economic Development Strategy, a number of identified key industries investment prospectuses will be 
developed to encourage future investment into the region. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monthly Visitor Numbers to the Swan Hill 
Information Centre 

  2009 2010 2011 

January 4082 3937 2338 

February 3085 2716 1940 

March 4029 4163 3327 

April 5034 4575 4841 

May 4318 3456 3190 

June 4156 3770 2661 

July 3865 3050   

August 3736 2557   

September 5619 3806   

October 5341 4764   

November 4396 3429   

December 2098 3163   

        

Manangatang Gateway Signage 
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MAJOR EVENTS SUPPORT SCHEME 
 
The Major Events Support Scheme (MESS) provides 
significant benefits to the municipality in terms of increasing 
visitor numbers and providing recreational and social 
opportunities for the local communities. 
 
Events funded through the MESS application process 
during 2010/2011:  

 
 

Economic value for events sponsored through MESS: 
 
$4,698,000 
 
 
It was pleasing to see the emergence of two new events, 
the Swan Hill Region Food and Wine Festival and the Swan 
Hill Community Sports Day, which will become annual 
events for the region. 2011 also saw the return of the very 
popular Lake Boga Yacht Club’s Easter Regatta. 
 
It was unfortunate that the Robinvale 80 Ski Race which 
Council supports each year, was unable to go ahead due to 
the unsafe river conditions.  The event will return in March. 
2012. 

JULY 
x� Italian Fiesta 
x� Swan Hill Kart Club 

Titles Meeting 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
 
AUGUST 
x� Nyah District Annual 

Golf Tournament 
x� Lake Boga Annual 

Golf Tournament 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Pioneers Week 
x� Mallee Almond 

Blossom Festival, 
Robinvale 

x� Swan Hill Eisteddfod 
 
SEPTEMBER 
x� Swan Hill Short 

Course Club Swap 
Meet 

x� Nyah District Golf Pro 
Am 

x� Tour of the Murray 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
 
OCTOBER 
x� Swan Hill Agricultural 

and Pastoral Society 
Show 

x� Manangatang Races 
x� Relay for Life 
x� Australian Inland 

Wine Show 
x� Tooleybuc Murray 

Muster 
x� St Mary’s Fair 
x� Nyah Racing Club 
 
NOVEMBER 
x� Port to Port Bike Ride 
x� George Fairfax Drama 

Festival 
x� Go North Arts Festival 
x� Girls Day Out Race 

Day 
 
DECEMBER 
x� Forest of Christmas 

Trees 
x� Swan Hill Carols by 

Candlelight 
x� YMCA Murray River 

Marathon 
x� New Year’s Eve 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Swan Hill Speedway 

JANUARY 
x� SES Duck Race 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Swan Hill Speedway Titles 

Meeting 
 
FEBRUARY 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Murray River International 

Music Festival 
x� Country Week Tennis (bi-

annual) 
 
MARCH 
x� Swan Hill Speedway 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Robinvale 80 Ski Classic 
x� Mallee Steam Oil and 

Machinery Club Rally 
x� Mid Murray Amateur Golf 

Championships 
x� Swan Hill Region Food & 

Wine Festival 
x� Australia Day Breakfast* 
x� Harmony Day 
 
APRIL 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Swan Hill Bowls Club 

Easter Carnival 
x� Start of the Murray to 

Moyne Cycle from Swan 
Hill 

x� Swan Hill Speedway 
Easter 

x� Strictly Jazz and Wine 
Weekend @ Tooleybuc 

x� Robinvale Easter Tennis 
Tournament 

x� Swan Hill Easter Tennis 
Tournament 

x� St Pats ANZAC Day 
Racing 

x� Easter at the Pioneer 
Settlement 

 
MAY 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Swan Hill Speedway 
x� Autumn Swan Hill Bowls 

Club Carnival 
 
JUNE 
x� Anglican Art and Craft 

Show 
x� Nyah Harness Racing 
x� Swan Hill June Racing 

Carnival—Long weekend 
x� Swan Hill Speedway 
 
*Delayed due to floods. 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 

Event 
x�Mallee Almond Blossom Festival 
x�Lake Boga Back To Dinner 
x�RACV Fly the Flag Tour 
x�Swan Hill Region Food and Wine 

Festival 
x�Lake Boga Yacht Club Easter 

Regatta 
x�Swan Hill Community Sports Day 
x�Swan Hill Veterans Badminton 

Tournament 
x�Manangatang Racing Club 
x�Swan Hill Junior Basketball 

Classic 
x�Port to Port Cycling Tour 
x�Mallee Steam Oil and Machinery 

Club 
x�Swan Hill Bowling Club May 

Carnival 
x�Swan Hill Jockey Club June 

Racing Carnival 
x�YMCA Murray River Marathon 

Amount 
$1000 
$1000 
$2000 
$5000 
 

$1200 
 

$2000 
$1000 
 

$1500 
$1200 
 

$1500 
$1000 
 

$1500 
 

$2000 
 

$7500 
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PIONEERS WEEK 2010 
 
Pioneers Week, held from Friday, 6 August through to Sunday, 15 August was a week-long celebration which aimed to 
highlight the heritage, local art, culture, food and wine industry of the Swan Hill region. 
 
The event is establishing itself as a unique experience that is attractive to a diverse range of visitors and locals. The 
continual addition of new events ensures that Pioneers Week continues to develop as a major regional festival and 
ensures its long term sustainability.  
 
The event was managed through a committee comprising of Council officers, local community and business 
representatives who all had input into the successful running of the week-long festivities. 
 
With a total of more than 2,000 people participating in this year’s events, as well as state-wide media coverage, the profile 
of Pioneers Week and the Swan Hill district has certainly increased over the three years it has been conducted. 
 
The committee were pleased with events such as the Heart of the Murray Fun Run, which has grown and prospered. This 
year the entries for the Fun Run doubled, even under bad weather conditions. 
 
This year also saw an increase in the number of community volunteers for local events ran under Pioneers Week, which 
is also a measure that the event is gaining momentum in the community. 
 
Pioneers Week 2010 included the following events: 
 
Pioneers Week Special Photo Exhibition (Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery) – a collection of historic photographs 
detailing the river, river craft and the people that plied these waters.  
 
Heart of the Murray River Fun Run - Starting at the Murray Downs Homestead, participants raced along the banks of 
the Murray River, alongside the PS Pyap to finish at the Pioneer Settlement wharf.   
 
Rare Trades and Skills Day - a day celebrating rare trades, including traditional pottery, wood turning, painting and 
sewing,  display of skills including pony riding and gladiator games. 
 
Pioneers in Racing - a day at the Swan Hill races, key event organisers dressed in Pioneer costume, a special Pioneers 
race and cup were awarded and traditional coach and horse rides available. The day was televised nationally through Sky 
Racing Channel. 
 
State Schools Extravaganza - a range of bands, dances and performances from schools around the local area. 
 
Menopause the Musical - Hit stage show held at the Swan Hill Town Hall Performing Arts Conference Centre. 
 
Old Time Dancing Held over two Saturdays during Pioneers Week, the nights featured a variety of old time dancing and 
musical entertainment. 
 
Tours of Historic Tyntynder Homestead - Tours were given of the historic Tyntynder Homestead by experienced 
guides, concluding with an afternoon tea. 
 
Art Works and Collectables Valuation Day - A day of valuations of antiques and rare artworks, drawing in collectors 
from all over Victoria and interstate. 
 
The Great Debate - The Great Debate has proven to be one of the most successful Pioneers Week events and always 
draws a great crowd, providing an entertaining night for all. This years topic of “Friday the 13th” provided a lively debate 
among local identities discussing the topic of superstition. 
 
Back in Time Football - an annual Pioneers Week Cup match between two local football teams within the Central 
Murray Football League. 
 
Jazz at the Gallery - A night of music at the Swan Hill Regional Art Gallery with the Janet Seidel Trio. 
 
Nyah Lions Club Market - Held at the Nyah Recreation Reserve, an open air market showcasing local produce available 
in the Nyah district community. 
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SWAN HILL CBD REDEVELOPMENT 
 
The Swan Hill CBD project is the largest investment contained in the Four Year Major Projects Plan with $ 2,150,000 
budgeted for 2010/11 financial year and $200,000 allocated for each of next four financial years.  
 
How significant is this project? 
 
This is the first upgrade to infrastructure within the Swan Hill CBD for more than 25 years. 
 
The investment in the CBD infrastructure has had, and will continue to have, a positive effect on the local manufacturing 
industry as all of the contracts have been let to local businesses. 
 
The CBD redevelopment is linked to upgrades/developments of the Swan Hill riverfront, which will see further investment in 
the city beyond the life of this project.  
 
The works currently underway have been designed to compliment the riverfront upgrades and are designed to open up the 
city to the river. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
Installation of three wind/sun structures completed 
The installation of those structures along both Campbell Street and Beveridge Street has lifted the CBD profile and added 
a contemporary look.  
 
Investigation and survey works completed 
Survey and investigation works were completed for the Swan Hill CBD, along Campbell Street between Rutherford and 
Pritchard Streets in preparation for the engineering design. 
 
The contract for the CBD Civil Works – Phase 1 awarded to a local contractor 
The refurbishment works along Campbell Street, the section between McCallum Street and Pritchard Street, has 
commenced and scheduled to be completed by December 2011.  
 
Consultation with Swan Hill Inc 
Project scope and drawings were presented to the members of Swan Hill Incorporated of which the works program and 
timelines were discussed. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Challenges faced during the redevelopment included: 
 
x� The management of traffic and pedestrian movements through the precinct during the construction phase of the 

redevelopment 
x� Ensuring that the restrictions to available parking spaces were kept to a minimum during the realignment of kerbs 
x� Remodelling the Campbell Street kiosk building to ensure that it remains a public space that can be utilised by 

community groups and clubs as a fundraising facility and also be utilised by the public as a meeting point 
x� Minimising the disruption to the operations of the various businesses while the works were being completed, and 
x� The management of public transport facilities such taxi ranks and bus stops. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Further redevelopment works will include: 
 
x� Provide more shade, seating and increase the space available for people in the CBD while  
     maintaining the number of available parking spaces. 
x� The kerbing in Campbell Street is to be slightly realigned to allow for increased footpath area and  
     should encourage outdoor dining. 
x� Realignment of the central medians to control vehicle speed. 
x� Signage will be placed throughout the CBD to assist visitors with directions to places such as the  
     hospital, Visitor Information centre, Council offices, railway station, supermarkets and Police Station. 
x� Water sensitive gardens will be constructed at shade structure and seating locations. 
x� Large sections of footpath will be reconstructed. 
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ROBINVALE CBD REDEVLOPEMENT 
 
The upgrade to Perrin Street in Robinvale was completed in February 2011 and has been widely praised as a successful 
project by the Robinvale community. Coupled with the new town entrance signage, it has provided a significant lift to the 
township.  
 
The project involved considerable consultation with the community on items such as the type of shade structure, trees and 
pavers used for the upgrade.  
 
It also provided an upgrade to the Robinvale cenotaph site to improve the comfort for the people attending Anzac Day and 
Remembrance Day ceremonies.  
 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
The greatest challenge faced when undertaking works in the CBD is to minimise the impact of the project on the day to day 
operations of the various businesses. 
 
Upgraded facilities need to ensure they are completely accessible to all, and this poses a challenge as the upgrades are to 
old infrastructure originally constructed without the principles of the Disability Discrimination Act. 
 
Securing contractors to complete the works and trying to complete designs that are compliant with the masterplan guidelines 
also presented significant challenges. 
 
 
 
 
 

New shade structures installed in Campbell Street, Swan Hill 

Perrin Street upgrade 

Robinvale Gateway Signage 
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ASSET MANAGEMENT  
 
Asset management is a systematic process to guide the planning, acquisition, maintenance, renewal and disposal of assets.  
Its objective is to maximise asset service delivery potential while minimising related risks and costs over their entire lives. 
 
Assets managed by Council include: 

x�Roads 
x�Bridges 
x�Kerb and channel 
x�Footpaths 
x�Parks and playgrounds 
x�Sports grounds and facilities 
x�Urban drainage 
x�Buildings and land 
x�Monuments 
x�Collections of artworks and historical artefacts 
x�Machinery, vehicles and equipment 
x�Waste management and recycling facilities 
x�Commercial enterprises, saleyards and caravan parks 
x�Swimming pools and leisure centres, and 
x�Aerodromes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Implementation of Civica Authority Asset and Infrastructure Module (AIM). 

Asset data from Council's old asset register was electronically transferred into AIM, however there were difficulties with the data 
migration and extensive manual adjustment of the data is required. This process has been ongoing for approximately 12 
months and is likely to take a further six months to complete. There are also some inadequacies in the AIM software which are 
currently being addressed by Civica. 

 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Council will continue to encourage and facilitate the multiple use of buildings and facilities to reduce ongoing operational, 
maintenance and renewal costs. 
 
 
Ongoing participation in the Municipal Association of Victoria Asset Management STEP program. 

Swan Hill’s Riverside Park and outdoor 
swimming pool. 
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COMMERCIAL SERVICES 
 
Commercial Services are responsible for ensuring Council’s procurement practices achieve best value for money, the 
acquisition and disposal of Council properties, management of Council-owned caravan parks, risk management and the 
Tower Hill residential development. 

Procurement 
Commercial Services facilitates all publicly advertised tenders, quotations, submissions and expressions of interest ensuring 
the procurement process is transparent and provides best value for money. 

Council conducted 10 formal tenders during 2010/11 at a total value of $10,555,064 and participated in a further six public 
tenders conducted by the appointment of agents such as MAV Procurement and Procurement Australia (formerly Strategic 
Purchasing) of which Council entered into five contracts to the value of approximately $950,000. 

Council continued to access an additional two whole of Victorian Government contracts for the purchase of IT equipment 
(desktop and notebook equipment) and document output devices (photocopiers and multi function print devices). 

In addition to the formal tenders, Council sought 12 quotations, nine requests for submissions and one Expression of Interest 
which resulted in a further 21 contracts being awarded at a total value of $947,615. 

A review of procurement expenditure identified the supply of concrete and quarry products totalling $240,890 exceeded the 
tender limit of $150,000 for the provision of goods (in accordance with Section 186 of the LGA 1989). Accordingly the 
expenditure was recorded in the statutory register and will be subject to a public tender in 2011/12. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS 
Review and adoption of Council’s Procurement Policy, Procedures and Delegation of Financial Authority has provided 
Council officers with a detailed framework to ensure compliance, probity and best value is achieved in all procurement 
activities. 
 
Participation in the Councils Reforming Business Procurement Excellence Program, resulting in the formulation of a 
Procurement Roadmap for Council and the establishment of a Loddon Mallee Procurement cluster of Councils which aims to 
improve procurement efficiency across the region through collaborative procurement and networking. 
 
The lease of the Swan Hill Riverside Caravan Park was renewed for 21 years, resulting in the establishment of a new 21-year 
partnership between the leasee, Council and the Department of Sustainability and Environment (DSE).  The lease consists of 
a significant capital replacement program that will be undertaken by the leasee at no cost to Council or DSE. 
 
Three tenders were conducted for the management and operation of the Swan Hill and Robinvale landfills and the collection 
of kerbside waste and the operation of a recyclable waste transfer facility (Swan Hill Materials Recovery Facility). 
 
Seven tenders were conducted for the installation of an irrigation system in Robinvale, construction of the McCrae/High Street 
roundabout, Robinvale CBD redevelopment, provision of temporary staff services, lease of the Swan Hill caravan park, Nyah 
Community Centre kitchen refurbishment and the provision of property valuation services. 
 
Contracts were awarded as a result of agency tenders for the supply of public lighting, tractors and small plant and tyres and 
batteries. 
 
Contracts were awarded as a result of quotations for the following: 
 

x� Supply of vehicles and minor plant 

x� Steggall Park earthworks, electrical infrastructure and construction of a barbecue/picnic pavilion 

x� Construction and installation of shade structures to the Swan Hill CBD Stage 3 

x� Construction of an amenities block Lake Boga Caravan Park, and 

x� Swan Hill Main Drain Pump upgrade. 

 

The contract for the supply of electricity to small and large metered sites was extended for a further two years until 30 June 
2013. 
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THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Realignment of the Swan Hill Riverside Caravan Park to accommodate a new kiosk, reception and public toilet facility 
adjacent to the current entrance in Riverside Park. 
 
Conduct tenders and award contracts for the construction of Steggall Park Stage 2, renewal works Swan Hill CBD – 
Campbell Street Stage 1 (between Pritchard and McCallum Streets), civil works associated with the Swan Hill Main Drain 
enlargement, gravel resheeting, tree maintenance, annual supply contracts for quarry, concrete products and trade services, 
drainage works in Robinvale and Swan Hill and runway resealing works at the Swan Hill Aerodrome. 
 
TOWER HILL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council, in partnership with VicUrban continued to develop the Tower Hill Residential Estate.  The 
Tower Hill estate is situated on the western approach, 1.5 kilometres from the Swan Hill CBD. It is envisaged that the 
development will provide homes for an additional 2,500 residents when completed. 

Since the project commenced, 251 residential allotments have been released for sale with additional land being sold for the 
development of the Alcheringa Aged Care Facility and Sunraysia Institute of TAFE expansion. 

The development also involves the creation and development of Barry Steggall Park, a 15-hectare regional park consisting 
of an all-abilities playground, open recreation areas, picnic and barbecue facilities, walking and cycling paths, along with a 
large lake and wetlands that forms part of the overall Tower Hill Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD). 

 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Construction commenced on Stage 1 of Barry Steggall Park Reserve. These works comprised earthworks, underground 
electrical infrastructure and the installation of a picnic/barbecue pavilion. 
 
The redesign, minor construction works and the release of Stage 5A (pine tree lots). 
 
Commencement of the review of Tower Hill Deed of Agreement with VicUrban. 
 
The Design and Planning Application for Stage 7 (32 lots). 
 
$350,000 was made available through Department of Planning Community Development – Major Facilities Grant. 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Construction and release of Stage 7 lots. 
 
Landscaping of Stage 6 reserves. 
 
The construction of Stage 2 Steggall Park. Works comprise the tender and construction of the all-abilities playground. 
 
Tower Hill Concept Plan review. 
 
Complete the review of the Tower Hill Deed of Agreement with VicUrban. 
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ROADS AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Annual maintenance and renewal of Council’s Infrastructure Assets is undertaken by Council’s Engineering Services Works 
Department.  Swan Hill Rural City Council has 2,808 kilometres of unsealed roads, 1,369 kilometres of sealed roads and 134 
kilometres of footpaths to maintain.  The Engineering Services Works Department are also responsible for maintenance of 
kerb and channel, signs, drains, bridges, roadside vegetation, streetscapes, playgrounds, parks and sporting grounds. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
There was 1,922 metres of footpath replaced across the footpath network, renewing and replacing unsafe and broken 
sections. Council also carried out significant maintenance works on the footpath network with 1,195 trip hazards being 
grinded.   
 
The resealing of approximately 163,000 square metres of urban and rural roads, and 41,000 square metres of final 
seal was completed during the year. This was the second year of a five year contract. 
 
Council completed shoulder resheets totalling 17 km, resheeted 47.6 km of unsealed road and undertook 5.7 km of 
road reconstruction. 
 
3,470 guideposts were installed throughout the municipality on sealed roads as part of Council’s five year plan. 
 
Grading of unsealed roads was ongoing for the 12 months which has not been achieved for several years.  Council graded 
2,430 kilometres of unsealed roads. 
 
Completed upgrades of playground equipment throughout the municipality as identified in Council’s Playground Asset 
Management Plan. 
 
Council’s tree maintenance contractor has undertaken inspections of trees on the nature strips and Council-controlled 
properties, and completed 892 power line clearances, removed 37 trees/stumps and trimmed 1,200 trees to allow 
footpath and road clearance.   
 
There were 666 hours spent on clearing rural roadsides to allow and improve access. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
Due to the flood event in January/February, sealed road reconstruction works were unable to be completed as the construction 
crew were attending to maintenance works on levees or delivering sand to various locations throughout the municipality. 
 
During 2010/11 Council resealed 27 kilometres of sealed roads which is only 2% of Council’s sealed road network. The 
increase cost to bitumen and aggregate has resulted in less roads are being resealed.  Council’s aim is to reseal 5% of their 
sealed road network annually which has been budgeted for. 

 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
With many concrete footpath trip hazards needing to be completed by the end of December, Engineering Works are again 
hiring a mini loader with a grinder attachment to complete all defects. 

 
From the January/February floods, some of Council’s roads were inundated and the heavy vehicle movement created 
significant failures on these roads.  Council will be resheeting an additional 80 kilometres of unsealed roads and reconstructing 
20 kilometres of sealed roads which will be completed by contractors.  
 
Overall challenges during the next 12 months are to complete all 
Capital Works projects such as reconstructing two sections of 
Beveridge Street, continuing to reconstruct and widen Lake Boga 
- Ultima and Culgoa - Ultima Roads, construct Williams Road 
through to the Industrial Estate, resheet 60 km of unsealed roads 
and 14 km of unsealed shoulders, replace 2,000 metres of 
footpath and upgrade Nyah Recreation Reserve’s irrigation 
system. 
 
 

 
   

   
   

   
   

M
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s 

Footpath repair/replacement 
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BUILDING 
 
The purpose of our department is to provide an efficient and effective statutory building control service within the Swan Hill 
Rural City for the purpose of ensuring the structural sufficiency, health and amenity and energy efficiency of buildings for 
developers, home owners, builders and the general public. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Building permits processed and issued in an average of 14.5 days, down from an average 16.3 days in 2009/10. 
 
Dwelling permit figures for 2010/11 indicates that 71 dwellings at a total value of $20,492,184 were issued.   
 
Building permit figures for 2010/11 also indicates that 16 townhouses at a total value of $2,510,879 were issued.  
 
The total number of all building permits issued for 2010/11 was 391. 
 
The total dollar value of all building permits issued in 2010/11 was $47,397,804.  
  
 
Some facts for the year 2010/11 in relation to dwelling permits 
 
The total number of dwellings and townhouses for the municipality was 87. A total value of $23,003,063. 
 
The total number of dwellings and townhouses constructed in Swan Hill was 69. This represents 79.3% of municipality total. 
 
Of the 69 dwellings and townhouses constructed in Swan Hill, 36 were constructed at Tower Hill. This represents 41.4% of 
municipality total and 52.2% of Swan Hill total. 
 
Total number of dwellings constructed in Robinvale was nine. This represents 10.3% of municipality total. 
 
Other major contributing factors to the value of building permits include the construction of new CFA fire stations at Waitchie 
and Annuello ($640,000), the Swan Hill Retirement Village (Stage 2 - $1,343,477), the various school upgrade works initiated 
by the Federal Government’s Building the Education Revolution (BER) Funding program ($11,556,257), a new Swan Hill 
Dental Clinic ($298,320) and the Swan Hill Tri-Star Medical Clinic ($250,000). 
 
 
FUTURE CHALLENGES 
 
Balance the processing of building permit applications with the need to increase inspections carried out on both Council and 
privately-owned buildings to ensure compliance with Essential Safety Measures legislation. 
 
Balancing these increased enforcement and compliance demands and expectations against current departmental resources 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Continue to provide an efficient and effective 
statutory building control service, within the 
Swan Hill Rural City for the  
purpose of ensuring the structural sufficiency, 
health and amenity of buildings for 
developers, home owners, builders and the 
general public. 
 
Continued efforts and emphasis on pro-active 
enforcement and compliance issues with 
respect to illegal building works, pool safety 
barriers and Essential Safety Measures 
Maintenance. 
 

All building permits 
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PLANNING 
 
The Planning Unit is responsible for administering the Planning and Environment Act 1987 through the Swan Hill Planning 
Scheme, as well as other related legislation such as the Subdivision Act 1988.  Services include provision of planning advice 
and property information, processing subdivision plans, assessment and decisions on planning permit applications, 
representation of Council at VCAT hearings, and enforcement of planning permit conditions and Planning Scheme 
provisions. 
 
Also undertaken is a range of strategic projects that result in amendments to the Planning Scheme to provide guidance on 
decision making.  Input is provided into state and regional planning initiatives, and amendments undertaken to rezone land 
when required.  The Planning Scheme is reviewed every four years to improve its performance. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Strategic planning current and on going work 
In accordance with its functions under the Local Government Act and the Planning and Environment Act, Council undertook 
its four year review of the Swan Hill Planning Scheme during 2009/2010.  The review report was adopted by Council in 2010 
and the subsequent Planning Scheme Amendment is proposed to be completed in 2011/12. 
 
A new set of further strategic work requirements have been identified from the review and limited to what is practically 
achievable in 2011/12. The strategic projects identified to be completed for 2011/2012 are as follows; 
 

x� Swan Hill Planning Scheme implementation amendment 
x� Complete the South West Development Precinct Development Contributions Plan and subsequent 

Planning Scheme Amendment 
x� Review the Swan Hill Residential Development Strategy 2030, and 
x� Preparation of a Highway Business Development Strategy. 

 
During the year, Council finalised the Planning Scheme Amendment for the rezoning of land at the Swan Hill Anglican 
Church from Residential 1 Zone to the Public Use Zone to allow Swan Hill District Health to facilitate the expansion of acute 
care facilities at the Swan Hill Hospital. Council has also commenced the process of rezoning North Park to Business 1 
Zone to facilitate the expansion of retail development in the Central Business District. 
 
Council is continuing with the preparation of a Development Contributions Plan (DCP) for the Swan Hill South West 
Development Precinct (SWD) following the adoption of the South West Precinct Outline Development Plan.  Consultation 
with landowners within the precinct about infrastructure design and costings within the Development Contributions Plan is 
continuing. 
 
 
Statutory Planning 
The Statutory Planning Department assesses a variety of applications; from starting up a home business through to 
construction of a multi-million dollar development. One of the main roles of the Statutory Planning Department is to provide 
advice on the conditions that govern property development and land use proposals.  
 
Planning permit activity has slightly decreased during 2010/2011 year with a total of 121 Planning Permit applications 
received. This equates to a 7.6% decrease in applications from the 2009/10 year. Permit numbers remain below the long 
term average. The slow down in permit activity may be attributable to the economic slow down, and slowing of business 
activity, together with the longer term effects of the drought and also flooding that occurred in the municipality. 
 
A total of 121 permit applications were received during 2010/11 compared to 131 in 2009/10 and the value of development 
approvals this year was $13.9 million compared to $24.6 million in 2009/10. 
 
The following is an assessment of planning permit processing and activity for 2010/11: 
 
Council approved approximately 99% of applications during 2010/2011 and one application was decided by VCAT. 97% of 
planning permits were issued under delegated authority from Council. 
88% of applications were approved within the statutory time frame in 2010/11 which was a 10% change since 2009/10. This 
decrease in statutory time frame approvals was mainly due to a number of complex planning permit applications which took  
longer than average. 
 
Some more notable applications during the past year included approval of a new medical clinic facility in Swan Hill and a 
new community centre incorporating child care in Gray Street, Swan Hill and Stage 2 of the Robinvale Retirement Village. 
 
Community Satisfaction Survey results for 2010/11 show that the planning function of Council is steady at 68%. This 
satisfaction result compares favourably with all other Councils where the average is 62%. The planning function of Council 
has shown an 8% increase in satisfaction for the planning services to the community.  
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DISAPPOINTMENTS 
 
The South West Development Precinct Development Contributions Plan (DCP) was not completed during 2010/11. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
The challenge for Council’s Planning Unit is to constantly seek improvement in all areas of its function. These improvements 
have been sought by: 
 
x� Site inspection times have been reduced a further 15% over the 2009/10 year.  A reduction of the time taken to conduct the 

initial site inspection may lead to further improvements in the overall assessment time 
x� The retention of experienced staff and continued professional development 
x� The need to better educate stakeholders and work with the development industry in regard to planning requirements and 

processes, to improve the quality of planning permit applications and reduce the processing time of applications 
x� Balance the challenge of reducing processing times and increased enforcement and compliance demands and expectations 

against departmental resources, and 
x� Continue with a community education program for planning in order to better inform the community of the planning process 

and function of the Planning Department. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Undertake further strategic work as identified in Stage 1 of the Planning Scheme Review and scheduled for completion this year 
is as follows: 
 

x� Complete the South West Development Precinct Development Contributions Plan and subsequent Planning 
Scheme Amendment 

x� Complete the Planning Scheme Amendment to implement the Planning Scheme Review 
x� Complete the review of the Swan Hill Residential Development Strategy 2006-2030, and 
x� Complete the Highway Business Development Strategy. 

 
Further work for Council’s Planning Department during the next 12 months will be to continue with the review and inspection of 
planning permits issued over the previous four years, continual improvement in the processing of planning applications by 
further promoting pre-application meetings and a further reduction in the times for inspection of the planning permit applications 
when received. 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Procedures 
Status 

2011 2010 

Permit applications lodged 121 131 

Decisions on applications 
lodged 

123 124 

Permit applications approved 121 123 

Permit applications refused 2 1 

Permit applications 
withdrawn/lapsed 
 

3 7 

Notice of Decision to Grant a 
Permit 
 

0 1 

Review lodged at VCAT 1 1 

Planning Certificates 
Prepared 
 

265 240 

Number of subdivision 
applications 

29 40 
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SWAN HILL REGIONAL LIVESTOCK EXCHANGE 
 
The Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange as it currently stands, was built in 1995. Cattle sales are conducted on a 
fortnightly basis with sheep sales on alternative fortnights. Special sales - both cattle and sheep are conducted at the agents’ 
request.  
 
There are a total of 209 cattle pens, all soft standing and 588 hard and soft standing sheep pens. The livestock exchange 
attracts livestock and buyers from across Victoria, southwest NSW and South Australian regions.  The Swan Hill Regional 
Livestock Exchange is the largest livestock trading centre in North West Victoria.   
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
New sheep ramp installed 
The new sheep ramp is an electronic winch adjustable ramp to cater for multi deck transporters. 
The ramp fully meets OH&S standards and is offset to allow truck operators to more easily manoeuvre multi trailer units for 
loading and unloading. 
 
Replacement of cattle laneways 
The replacement of cattle lanes with non slip, pattern concrete heightens animal welfare standards and worker safety. 
 
Additional and improved livestock holding areas 
New livestock holding areas have been completed with secure fencing, surface improvements and additional capacity for 
consignment of livestock before and after sales. Additional water and feed facilities have also been included. 
 
Introduction of saleyard specific OH&S standards, training and accreditation for workers and regular users of the livestock 
exchange. 
 
Introduction of animal handling training for sale day workers. 
 
Hosting of Livestock Saleyards Association of Victoria (LSAV) Annual Conference 
The hosting of the LSAV Annual Conference 2010 was a significant event for the Swan Hill livestock industry. The conference 
showcased Swan Hill, its regional livestock exchange and the many industries, attractions, activities and facilities that the 
region has to offer. 
 
The conference was attended by the majority of Victorian saleyards operators as well as representatives from across Australia. 
Keynote speakers from within the livestock industry plus associated interest groups presented a broad range of topical and 
current issues.  

 
 
YEAR AHEAD 
 
Further advance the redevelopment plans for the saleyards to final stages with approvals for recommended development 
options and plans. 
 
Consolidate and build on throughput and turnover through further market exposure, promotional strategies, quality of facility 
and services, and industry reputation. 
 
Continue to support and encourage a co-operative environment through frequent and constructive dialogue with all 
stakeholders. 
 
 SHEEP   CATTLE 

FINANCIAL 
YEAR 

SHEEP 
HEAD NO. 

 SHEEP $ 
TURNOVER   FINANCIAL 

YEAR 
CATTLE 

HEAD NO. 
CATTLE $ 

TURNOVER 

2006/07     154,638  7,385,760 
  

2006/07       20,740 11,498,563 

2007/08     181,230  9,599,408 
  

2007/08       29,174 15,941,466 

2008/09     169,259 9,880,747 
  

2008/09       17,103 10,185,532 

2009/10     177,491 12,600,293 
  

2009/10       17,718 10,808,725 

2010/11 180,721 24,700,000 
  

2010/11 26,255 19,600,000 
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PLANT MANAGEMENT 
 
The Fleet and Plant Management Programs function is to provide efficient and effective management, maintenance and 
operational services for Council's fleet, plant and equipment assets, providing a commercially competitive option for the 
provision of equipment in support of Council programs. The program provides all management functions including technical 
specifications, procurement, operational, contractual and disposal services for the Council fleet and plant. The program also 
engages in the negotiation for short-term, task-specific vehicles and plant. 
 
It provides a viable and competitive maintenance facility for the purpose of maintaining Council fleet and plant and ensures 
maximum service with minimum equipment downtime.  In addition, all maintenance and management of the municipal 
drainage and irrigation pumping systems are provided through the Plant Management Program.  
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
A review of fleet management and purchasing was conducted to minimise environmental impact. Listed below are the 
outcomes from this review. 
 
Working party established – reviewing key components and data 
The working party members have been drawn from staff that have permanent allocation or regular use of council vehicles 
along with management representatives. 
The working party is investigating issues such as vehicle pooling, total distances travelled – both individual vehicle and 
across the whole fleet, environmental issues, vehicle use patterns and overall vehicle requirements, use of communication 
technology, driver education and alternate transport methods. 
 
Introduced more lower-emission vehicles into the available vehicle selection. 
More smaller capacity and diesel-engine vehicles have been included in the vehicle listings. Where a business case or 
entitlement for larger vehicles does not exist, replacement policy is such that the smallest, most efficient vehicle will be 
procured. 
 
Introduced incentives for eligible staff to select lower emission vehicles 
A salary sacrifice incentive is available to those staff, with a vehicle use entitlement to select smaller or more efficient 
vehicles. 
 
LPG power as an option on vehicles where available 
LPG, as an alternate fuel source has been included on all vehicles where it is an available manufacturer’s option. LPG fuel is 
now more readily available in regional areas and can offer reductions in emissions and fuel costs as well as increased 
residual values. While some vehicles available are a dedicated LPG option, others have dual fuel capabilities such as LPG/
ULP. Some driver education is required to expel the myths regarding LPG. 

 
Diesel-only engines are being optioned in more light commercial replacements. 
 
Investigating low rolling resistance tyres. 
 
Endorsement and the use of specific oils to extend service intervals 
This initiative has the effect of reducing the total volumes of new oils used and the storage, collection, transport and disposal 
of the old oils. 

 
Further investigating alternate fuels such as bio-diesel. 
 
Reviewing replacement strategies in line with the timely uptake of advanced technology for improved vehicle efficiency and 
any overall whole of life financial implications. 
 
 
OUTDOOR SWIMMING POOLS 
 
Further improvements  are continuing in water consumption at the Swan Hill Outdoor Pool. 
 
A further 1.9 megalitres of water has been saved through continual monitoring and adjustments to operational procedures. 
 
The cumulative total water savings from this pool during the five-year seasonal period 2006/07 to 2010/11 has been in excess 
of 55 megalitres. 
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Environmental Management 

 
Council will actively work to manage our 
environment by: 
 
x� Demonstrating leadership through Council’s own actions to achieve a balance between the 

ongoing economic prosperity of our region and safeguarding our environment 
x� Active involvement in decisions about the future management of the Murray Darling Basin 
x� Advocating and facilitating the protection of Indigenous flora and fauna species and of river, 

wetland and dry land environs 
x� Protecting both our natural and built environment for the enjoyment and appreciation of 

residents, visitors and future generations, and 
x� Being mindful of the impacts of climate change.  
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Council Plan Initiatives—Our Commitments and Performance 

Strategic Objective 1: Contributing to good environmental outcomes for the Murray River, its 
environs and the lake system. 

Actively lobby with State and Federal organisations 
on the future of the Murray Darling Basin.  

9  

Presentations have been made to Federal Government 
advisors. Meetings have also been conducted with Federal 
Shadow Minister for Water. Further lobbying to occur when 
revamped Murray Darling Basin Plan is released in August 
2011. 

Initiatives Progress Status 

Strategic Objective 3: Promoting and advocating sound environmental practices.  

Initiatives Progress Status 
Investigate appropriate location for a transfer 
station facility in Swan Hill. 9� The new Material Recovery Transfer Station shed will be 

located within the Swan Hill Landfill site by the end of 
2011/12. 

9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete��� � � Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 

Strategic Objective 5: Managing the built and natural environment 

Initiatives Progress Status 
Develop a directive to ensure all demolition 
applications are reviewed by all Major Projects and 
Waste sections. 

8� This directive is still under development. This action will be 
carried over to 2011/12. 

Lobby for funding, submit application and 
commence research of land use and planning 
issues to work in collaboration with agencies to 
encourage better sustainable land use practices 
including the impact of major changes to land 
capability.  

�
9�

EM member of Technical Reference Committee with 
Mallee CMA. Regular lobbying occurring with State Water 
Minister. No further action is required until the VEAC 
position regarding land use is determined.  

Determine Council’s roles and responsibilities with 
regard to pest plants and animals through 
discussion with DSE and MAV. 

 
9  

MAV working group established which Council has 
representation on. Draft position paper has been 
developed by the working group and is still to be circulated 
to Council. Action to be carried over to 2011/12. 

Establish working party to investigate alternative 
plant items and practices to minimise 
environmental impact. 

 
9  

A working party has been established. Currently reviewing 
key components and data. 
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SUSTAINABILITY 
 
The Swan Hill landscape is typically a diverse collection of vegetation communities and topography. It is within this 
landscape the Environment Unit is charged with protecting and enhancing the natural and living landscape. 
Objectives of the Environment Unit are: 
 
x� To educate and encourage the community and officers to embrace sustainable living practices 
x� Protect native vegetation and restore and rehabilitate the landscape 
x� Implement sustainable water practices 
x� Identify and control pest plant and animal infestations 
x� Develop and implement Environmental Management Systems (EMS) 
x� To increase recycling rates while emphasising reduce and reuse principles, and 
x� Contribute to the ongoing reduction of the municipality's environment footprint. 

 
The Environment Unit promotes the highest standards and awareness of environmental and natural resource management 
throughout the municipality. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Adoption of the Sustainable Living Strategy (SLS) in September 2010 
This strategy is the overarching framework which brings together existing programs, 
incorporates new advances in environmental management and community-driven 
sustainability solutions while identifying new issues and priorities for the municipality. 
 
Six key priorities were identified and the following action plans have been developed: 
x� Sustainable communities and buildings 
x� Sustainable energy and fuel use 
x� Develop partnerships with key stakeholders 
x� Biodiversity protection 
x� Water quality, conservation and security, and 
x� Waste-resource management. 
 
 
The SLS has a strong focus on the value of building capacity among the community in creating a sustainable region. It was 
commended by the sustainability accord team, as the strategy is linked to the SHRCC Council Plan increasing the potential 
to achieve initiatives while providing a valuable template for engaging community. 
 
Council successfully gained funding from the Strengthening Basin Communities Round Two Program to develop community 
resilience and water use strategies. 
 
Building resilience 
An action in the Sustainable Living Strategy identified the need for greater community capacity building, from 10 years of 
drought followed more recently by the largest floods on the hydrological record, our communities have demonstrated their 
ability to adapt to such extremes. However, local communities require self empowerment through the use of local knowledge 
to continue to increase their resilience to climate variability moving into the future. These strategies will provide the tools for 
use in Council decision making with regard to building resilience into Council’s activities. Potential projects include 
innovative storm water capture, sewer mining and aquifer recharge. 
 
 

The Lake Boga Sea Scouts manually 
removing the Lake Boga/Tresco Boneseed 
(also known as Bitou Bush) along Tresco 
roadsides and the Lake Boga foreshore  
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SLiM 
The environment Unit has continued to support Sustainable Living in the Mallee (SLiM), a community-driven group now with 
over 250 financial members. The aim of SLiM is to increase community awareness and knowledge of how to live sustainably 
in our region. Council has supported SLIM in collecting community feedback by surveying members and identifying their 
interests. This year over seven well-attended community events were held in response, including creating permaculture 
vegetable gardens, understanding solar technology and water saving techniques 
 
Understanding solar technology was the highest priority of the community with 96% of those surveyed expressing further 
information into solar technology. In response, Council initiated ‘due diligence’ to support SLiM in delivering the Swan Hill 
Region Solar 1000 project. The significant economic and environmental advantages generated in the community include: 
 
x� $150,000 system discounts due to community buying power 
x� $1.5 million in solar credits directed to the region 
x� Local jobs with over $450,000 injected into local trades 
x� Assisting local businesses achieve Clean Energy Council accreditation 
x� Five solar systems donated to community buildings 
x� 1700 megawatts of energy produced locally per year reducing the dollars 

leaving the region in electricity bills, and 
x� Over 2000 tonnes Greenhouse Gas emission in reductions annually. 
 
 
EASY - the local Environmentally Aware Sustainable Youth Network 
In November 2010 Council partnered with OzGREEN and the local youth sustainability network EASY to hold a Youth 
Leading Australia (YLA) event. The conference was facilitated by local youth and was aimed at empowering young people to 
play a leadership role in reducing their school and communities’ ecological footprint. The highly successful forum was one of 
17 held around the world simultaneously as part of an international initiative. 
 
The partnership has also given access to local young people to complete intensive leadership, facilitation and digital media 
training to expand opportunities for youth-driven sustainability projects within the community. EASY have gone on to co-
ordinate local events and represent the region at national events including the 2010 National Youth Climate Change 
conference. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Roll out of the Alternative Nature Strip Treatments Guidelines 
The ongoing drought encouraged the community to reflect on the value of lawn nature strips as most were bare dirt with 
patchy weeds. Through the SHRCC Mayor, Community Pride campaign guidelines were developed to advise residents how 
to create a nature strip that will contribute to the character of our neighbourhood streetscapes while reducing water use.  This 
innovative course of action has been embraced by residents and community groups and enhanced community pride 
throughout the municipality. 
 
Water savings in Swan Hill  
The Sustainable Water Use Plan has provided the opportunity to monitor and re-evaluate potable water use and identify 
potential savings.  Auditing sites have identified leakages, overwatering and opportunities to utilise non-potable, rather than 
potable, water for sports grounds and parks. When soil reaches an optimum moisture level, no benefit is achieved from 
further watering. Staff are now better equipped to assess soil moisture, achieving significant water savings without 
compromising the condition of our parks and gardens. Water-wise landscape designs such Michael Holmes Park and 
Feldtmann Park has both reduced water usage and rejuvenated areas around the municipality previously impacted by water 
restrictions. 
 

Local youth from EASY, pictured with 
Murray the Polar Bear, promoting the Earth 
Hour radio event, which the group co-
ordinated earlier this year.  
 
Photo courtesy of The Guardian. 
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CHALLENGES 
 
Pest plant and animal infestations continue to be an issue for our region. The long debate appears to be coming closer to a 
solution that includes a risk management approach to roadside assets while identifying potential funding streams. Council has 
been supportive of the working group and appreciates their assessment of this important issue. 
 
Changing in funding offers 
The change of government has impacted on existing and proposed programs. Community groups spend a lot of time and 
resources on developing these extensive applications, and the sudden withdrawal of the Climate Communities grants funds 
disappointed our community groups who were committed to deliver projects with the aim of our community becoming more 
resilient to the changing times. 
 
Funding rebates for the locust control program 
The invasion of locusts was considered to potentially pose the largest agricultural impact in 30 years. Local Government was 
expected to be the conduit for agencies to work together, provide the community with information while ensuring infestations 
on Council-managed land, including reserves and roadsides, were treated. This unbudgeted project required significant 
investment in staff time and money. The rebate which is for chemical only provided less than 10% of the total cost of the 
control program. While it is acknowledged support was provided from DPI and MAV, remote rural Councils can least afford 
such unbudgeted expenses. 
 
Roadside Management 
The Swan Hill municipality manages over 14,000 kilometres of roadsides, varying in width from 10 to 100 metres. These 
roads are often the only example of remnant vegetation classes (EVC), and provide important habitat corridors for threatened 
species such as the regent parrot. Managing demands such as access for increasingly larger agricultural machinery and 
farming blocks that require wider road openings are challenging. Council is currently reviewing the Roadside Management 
and Codes of Practice Plans to ensure changing legislative requirements such as the Cultural Heritage Act, Catchment and 
Land Protection Act and the provisions of the Municipal Planning Scheme are being addressed. 
 
 
Pest Plant and Animal Control 
The Lake Boga/Tresco Boneseed (also known as Bitou Bush) Control Project is a great example of communities and Council 
working together to control this regionally significant weed. Despite the confusion over who is the responsible land manager, 
the funding from DPI has been embraced and a project has been conducted in partnership with the Lake Boga Sea Scouts 
and the Swan Hill Green Corp Team. The teams have been manually removing this weed infestation from along Tresco 
roadsides and the Lake Boga foreshore. 
 
Similarly the Roadside Rabbit Control Program in Waitche, 30 kilometres North West of Swan Hill, is an example of 
government agencies and community Landcare groups working together to conduct rabbit infestation inspections on more 
than 300 large dry land farms, while treating over 170 kilometres of rabbit warren infestations.  The long term challenge is the 
community’s expectation of Council to control pest plants and animals on roadsides. The building capacity of a Local 
Government program will be finalised in 2011, raising the question of how this control program continues.  Without ongoing 
funding for control programs, pest plant and animal infestations will increase and the commitment of the community to provide 
in-kind support will diminish. 
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WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

The objectives of Council’s Waste Management services are to provide Council with a safe, efficient and effective 
domestic garbage collection service, collect garbage from any approved residential premises or place located in the 
‘garbage collection’ district on a weekly basis, collect recyclable material from approved residential premises or 
place located in the ‘garbage collection’ district on a fortnightly basis. 
 

Council’s waste services also include education campaigns and projects to assist and support residents' practice of 
efficient waste disposal by using the Reduce, Reuse and Recycle process.  
 

 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 

Waste Management Strategy 
The objective of Swan Hill Rural City Waste Management Strategy is to evaluate all existing practices and services, 
ensuring a significant reduction in the amount of waste going to landfill has been achieved, ultimately reducing 
Council’s ecological footprint. 
 
Council Waste Services and Contracts 
The waste services contracts were renewed in October 2010. Implications from the newly emerged State 
Government legislation and Environment Protection Act and Regulations have been considered in the new contract 
documents and budget allocation for 2010/11. The services provided consist of the kerbside collection service 
including household, public place litter and recycling, management of the recyclables transfer station facility, 
management of Swan Hill and rural landfills and management of the Robinvale landfill. Other services provided are 
waste education and an annual hard waste collection. 
 
Savings that have been achieved from the renewal of the waste management contracts contributed to the following: 
x� Allocating $1.5 million to the capital works/improvements within Council’s landfill facilities, and 
x� Meeting the needs of our diverse community by delivering cost effective waste services and sound     
      environmental practices. 

 
Together with its financial plan, the current strategy had been reviewed in line with the new waste management 
services contracts.   
 
The review will be presented to Council in light of the evolved regulations and EPA Guidelines prior to developing 
the new Waste Strategy. 
 
Council is working with the Central Murray Regional Waste Management Group (CMRWMG) on educating the local 
community on waste minimisation and encouraging recycling. 
 
 
CHALLENGES 
 
An increase in the landfill gate fee due to EPA incremental levy. 
 
The cost to Council associated with the mandatory Environmental Audit to Council’s licensed sites. 
 
The cost associated with new EPA requirement. 
 
The management for Council’s night soil depots under the new EPA licence requirement. 
 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
An improvement in Council’s environmental practices. 
 
Implementation of a household Green Waste Collection Service. 
 
There will be significant improvement in the waste management infrastructure projects. 
 
Maintaining the employment of supported workers within our waste facilities. 
 
Construction of a new eco shed, roads, leachate pond and fence at the Swan Hill Landfill. 
 
Review Swan Hill capping design criteria in light of new site risk assessment. 
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Governance & Leadership 

Council will seek to achieve the following to govern 
and lead our community: 
 
x� Display openness, transparency and fairness in decision-making 
x� Undertake effective communication with the community 
x� Deliver services that are responsive and represent effective and efficient utilisation of resources 
x� Work in partnership with our community and other stakeholders 
x� Efficient development and utilisation of organisational resources 
x� Provide advocacy and leadership on all issues of critical importance to the community 
x� Facilitate and manage change, and 
x� Display and maintain strong leadership through consistent support of Council’s strategic plans. 



 

Governance & Leadership            77 

Council Plan Initiatives—Our Commitments and Performance 

Strategic Objective 1: Developing open community relationships  

Initiatives Progress Status 

Complete implementation of the Customer 
Request System at Swan Hill and Robinvale 
offices. 

Customer Request System to be operational at 
other sites.  8� The system is in partial use at the Karine Street Depot and 

within the Engineering Department at SHRCC. This action 
will be carried over to 2011/12. 

8� The system has been purchased. Implementation has 
been postponed to enable pre-cursor systems to be 
implemented first. The existing system is still being 
utilised. This action will be carried over to 2011/12. 

Review of Local Law Number One. 9� Local Law Number One was reviewed and adopted at the 
June 2011 Council Meeting. 

Strategic Objective 2: Councillor and staff accountability 

Review Staff Code of Conduct. 9� Staff Code of Conduct was reviewed and approved by the 
CEO October 2010. 

Initiatives Progress Status 

Strategic Objective 3: Responsible management of resources 

Initiatives Progress Status 
Review and implement actions from the Workforce 
Plan and IT Strategy.  9� The Workforce Plan was adopted at the September 2010 

Council Meeting. 
The Draft IT Strategy is complete and under review by the 
IT Steering Committee. This will be carried over to 
2011/12. 

9�Complete/Implemented� � � 8�Incomplete��� � � Â�Deferred/Delayed beyond 2010/11 
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PUBLIC RELATIONS AND EVENTS 
  
This service area provides overall public relations and events support across Swan Hill Rural City Council, ensuring key 
messages regarding Council activities are conveyed to the public through the media and other means, including through 
media releases, municipal-wide newsletters, advertising and the Council website. 
 
Media liaison is a priority of the unit, with a number of media enquiries coming through to the Media and Events Unit per week 
(including a large volume of enquiries during the January 2011 flood event). The unit also issues around 300 media releases 
per year, is responsible for the co-ordination of print advertising and regularly updates relevant sections of the Council 
website, such as Latest News and public notices. 
 
The unit also provides administrative, marketing and publicity support for a number of events including Pioneers Week, Tour 
of the Murray, Seniors Festival Week, Go North Arts Festival, New Year’s Eve and any other events that may arise during the 
year.  
 
Media and events also provides in-kind support to a number of community events such as the Swan Hill Eisteddfod, Australia 
Day and the Swan Hill-Yamagata Exchange Program and provides assistance with business and other organisations holding 
conferences within Swan Hill, as well as outside events coming into the region. 
 
It is also responsible for Council’s Media Policy, Council’s Document Manual and has also developed a Writing Style Guide 
and Design Style Guide for internal use across the organisation - all of these manuals will be reviewed during the 2011/12 
year. 
 

HIGHLIGHTS 
The implementation of the Swan Hill Rural City Council Communication Strategy 2010-2013, which was adopted in June 
2010, continues to be one of the priorities of the unit.  
 

A number of actions have been completed through this strategy including the publication of regular Mayoral Columns in the 
Robinvale Sentinel (as well as the continuation of regular columns in The Guardian) and the formation of a Website and 
Social Media committee to review Council’s current website and possible social media initiatives.  
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
During the next 12 months, the Media and Events Unit will continue to implement actions from the Communication Strategy, 
review the aforementioned documents, as well as ensure it provides high-level public relations, media and events support 
across the organisation.  

 

 

 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
 
“Records and recordkeeping are fundamental to transparent, accountable government. They are indispensable to the efficient 
and effective functioning of all government agencies and the responsibility of all their staff.” 
 
 
The Records Management section of 
Council is responsible for the capture, 
registration, maintenance and disposal of 
the bulk of Council’s records.  Records 
currently process in excess of 55,000 
documents annually and is responsible for 
managing approximately 7,100 boxes of 
archived records.   
 
During this financial year, Records 
engaged consultants to undertake a 
disposal project which endeavoured to 
classify 63 shelf meters of Council’s 
previously untouched records.  This 
project also incorporated a training and 
education component to up skill the 
Records staff to allow this project to  
continue internally. 
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INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 
 
Information Technology Services (ITS) provides a range of services directly to Council staff and Councillors as well as 
indirectly to the Swan Hill community. The services are broad and cover the support of the desktop computing environment, 
application servers, telephone systems - both mobile and fixed line, and provides maintenance and support of the computer 
network. 
 
Interesting Facts: 
 
ITS has an $800,000 operating budget. 
 
The direction of ITS is determined by the IT Steering Committee, a committee comprised of staff from most directorates of 
Council, it provides governance for all IT projects undertaken by ITS. 
 
The ITS infrastructure consists of seven primary sites linked by fibre optical cables, 16 physical servers, eight virtual servers 
and over 180 workstations. 
 
During the 2010/11 financial year we received over 150,000 legitimate emails and sent nearly 125,000. 
 
Council received over one million emails during 2010, with nearly 80% being spam. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Replacement of the Council’s central storage server, the server which was installed nearly eight years ago, provided storage 
space for Council data and files and has been replaced with a high capacity Enterprise Content Management System, the 
old server had approximately 250 gigabytes while the new server has in excess of three terabytes or roughly 10 times the 
amount of the old server. 
 
Council’s use of hand held smart devices continues to grow and now provides Council staff with the ability to access core 
applications remotely. Council received recognition from Telstra for its use and adoption of the Telstra IP based telephony 
and data system and this was reflected in a Telstra case study of the Council. 
 
THE YEAR AHEAD 
 
Staff will only require a single username and password for accessing Council systems. 
 
The adoption of improved technology to reduce the IT carbon emissions footprint. 
 
Improved IT training resources for Council staff. 
 
Continued process improvement following on from the recent Authority installation along with the installation of additional 
modules covering building and planning. 
 
 
STRATEGIES AND PLANS 
 
Aboriginal Employment Plan 
In accordance with the Aboriginal Employment Plan, suitable cross cultural training was sourced through Council’s 
Aboriginal Affairs Manager and was implemented in May 2011 with 15 Council staff attending.  This course will now be 
offered on an annual basis to all staff. 

While Council only managed to recruit one of the targeted two scholarship students over the course of the reporting year, 
Human Resources have actively promoted to Program Managers the preference for Indigenous candidates and associated 
financial assistance as traineeships/apprenticeships arise.   
 
Subsequently, two Indigenous trainees and one Indigenous apprentice were employed during the reporting year, exceeding 
targets set in the Aboriginal Employment Plan. 
 
Workforce Plan 
 
Extensive research was conducted internally to devise strategies that will enable Council to anticipate and respond to the 
changing needs of our community ensuring we have adequate and appropriately skilled staff employed in the most effective 
way for ongoing service delivery.  
 
The reviewed Workforce Plan was adopted in September 2010. 
 
Continued over next page 
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Cr Jennings with local students at the 
Celebrating Women in Local 
Government luncheon.  

YEAR OF WOMEN IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
 
2010 was the Year of Women in Local Government (YoWILG), which 
highlighted the need to look at positive ways to support women in 
Local Government and address the issue of increased participation 
in decision making processes relating to Local Government. 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Councillor Yvonne Jennings was named as one 
of 21 YoWILG ambassadors from around Australia, and was the only 
ambassador from regional Victoria. This was important recognition of 
Cr Jennings’ continued efforts in the identification of opportunities for 
women in Local Government, including at a Councillor, management 
and employee level, as well as her continued support within the com-
munity to assist women to achieve their full potential. 
 
In October 2010 Council recognised YoWILG through a formal lunch-
eon, “Celebrating Women in Local Government”. More than 30 peo-
ple attended the luncheon including students, schools careers advi-
sors, principals, Council staff and the general public, who heard 
about the various journeys a number of Local Government staff had 
taken to meet their career aspirations. 
 
The event was facilitated by the Editor of The Guardian newspaper 
Felicia Chalmers. Guest speakers included YoWILG Ambassador Cr 
Yvonne Jennings, Library, Arts and Culture Manager with Gan-
nawarra Shire Council Nerida Dye, Ouyen Service Centre Co-
ordinator with Mildura Rural City Council Rhonda Monaghan, Swan 
Hill Rural City Council Planning Assistant Rachael Blandthorn and 
Swan Hill Regional Livestock Exchange Team Leader with Swan Hill 
Rural City Council Hannah Symons. 
 
The success of YoWILG culminated in Council adopting the Victorian 
Local Government Women’s Charter at its March 2011 Council 
meeting. Council is now actively working towards implementing ac-
tions from the charter. 

Procurement 
 
A new policy was developed to provide a framework and consistent approach for procurement throughout Council.   
 
The Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to review and adopt a procurement policy within 12 months of a general 
election.   
 
On 18 November, 2010 at the Special Council Meeting, Council adopted the procurement policy with the recommendation 
to review the policy annually. 
 
Staff Code Of Conduct 
 
The Staff Code of Conduct was adopted in October 2010.  The document was reviewed by Council’s Executive Manage-
ment Team and was also opened up for consultation via staff representatives on the Consultative Committee. 
 
Local Law Number One, Meeting Procedures 
 
Council had an extensive review of Local Law No 1, Meeting Procedures in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1989. Councillors reviewed the document on a number of occasions as a part of the process. 
 
This local law governs procedures and processes associated with Council meetings and the importance that Council con-
duct its meetings in an orderly and efficient manner. 
 
Local Law Number One, Meeting Procedures was adopted in September 2010. 
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Our People 
At the Swan Hill Rural City Council we recognise the importance of continuing to take into consideration the specific 
needs and expectations of staff to manage the juggling act between paid work and other activities that are important to 
people. In particular, ensuring staff have options for career development and progression, while simultaneously meeting 
family responsibilities, requires significant culture change, which pleasingly is already occurring across the organisation. 

STAFF NUMBERS BY BUSINESS UNIT 

Female  
PT 

Male  
FT 

Economic 

Environment 

Social 
Development 

Leadership 
and Identity 

13 6 

61 5 

23 3 

10 12 

STAFF BY EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

Part Time  
42% 

Full Time  
58% 

STAFF BY GENDER AND EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY 

Female 
FT 

Male 
PT 

7 

17 

28 

14 

11 

19 

7 

66 

Male  
Total EFT 

Male  
PT EFT 

Female 
Total EFT 

Female  
PT EFT 

3 6 

7 

5 

30 

2 

1 

1 

16 13 

63 

33 

44 

24 

13 

24 

TOTAL 109 66 24 103 7 48 116 114 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council continues its commitment to staff health and wellbeing with several initiatives introduced to 
encourage a healthy lifestyle and improved work life balance among our employees. 
 
Funding was accessed through WorkSafe to support independent health checks for all Council workers.  44% of staff 
participated and were able to get a snapshot of their current health, including cholesterol levels, blood pressure, 
cardiovascular risk, diabetes risk and waist measurement, along with some advice on eating and exercise habits.  
 
Staff feedback and interest in improving their health was positive so the program was extended to a pedometer 
challenge in the new year. With 13 teams competing, the highlight of the competition was one staff member walking 18 
kilometers in one day in an attempt to win the challenge. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
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Council’s commitment to staff wellbeing also saw a continuation of the following initiatives: 
x� Corporate Wellness Program (subsidised gym memberships) 
x� Quit Smoking Initiative  
x� Free Employee Assistance Program 
x� Ergonomic Assessments 
x� Six weekly issue of the HR Newsletter outlining Council policies and procedures, professional development and 

wellbeing initiatives in the workplace. 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 
Council and staff recognise that they each have obligations under the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 and it is 
their intention to fulfil their respective obligations in accordance with that act including regular audits and actioning of audits 
within reasonable timeframes and in accordance with resources available. 
 
OH&S Committee 
Council has an OH&S Committee consisting of management and staff representatives.  The committee meets every two 
months to review policy, review hazard and injury incidents, discuss workplace OH&S issues and identify opportunities to 
improve Council’s OH&S performance.   
 
The committee met six times during 2010/11 with outcomes including an internal promotion campaign to staff on OH&S 
health and wellbeing initiatives, co-ordination of four OH&S staff representative elections, assistance with a fire warden 
planning day to review all fire and evacuation processes for each Council site/work location, development of an OH&S 
Induction Manual for Splatt Street Office staff and sign up of Curves and Feelgood Fitness to Council’s Corporate Wellness 
Program.  
 
OH&S Initiatives and Training 
The OH&S Committee continued to support a variety of health and wellbeing programs to Council staff while ensuring 
legislative requirements were met through the following initiatives/programs in 2010/11: 
 

x� Provision of personal protective equipment 
x� Ergonomic assessments 
x� Physiotherapy appointments 
x� Morning stretching program at the depot 
x� Hearing tests, and 
x� Provision of sunscreen and insect repellent. 

OH&S Training included First Aid Level I and Level II which is 
made available to all staff, Heat Stress for Outdoor Workers, 
CPR Update, Traffic Management, workplace specific Manual 
Handling training, Fire Warden training, Confined Space Entry, 
WorkCover for Managers, Incident and Hazard Reporting and 
OH&S Refresher Courses.  

OH&S Performance 
In 2010/11 there were 32 reported incidents compared to 36 in the previous year.  In 2010/11 there were eight lost time 
injuries compared to 12 for 2009/10. 
 
 

Average cost per standard claim Average number of claims 
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPURTUNITY 
 
Council’s Equal Opportunity (EO) Directive reflects the organisation’s commitment to providing a workplace free of 
discrimination and harassment.  The principles of the directive are reflected in all Council’s policies and decision-making 
processes, particularly relating to staff recruitment, career development and promotion.   
 
The EO Directive is reinforced regularly to staff through the staff newsletter and performance reviews and staff attend 
Equal Opportunity training every three years.   
 
The workforce is further supported by EO Contact Officers who are staff representatives trained to provide advice and 
support to other staff to help resolve workplace issues.  EO Contact Officers receive regular training and assistance and 
meet on a quarterly basis for networking/debriefing purposes.  
 
While workplace issues are always present, Council did not receive any formal equal opportunity complaints during the 
period 2010/11.   

APPRECIATING OUR STAFF 
 
Every year Swan Hill Rural City Council presents awards to staff who have reached years of service milestones.  This year 
13 staff were presented with Staff Service Awards at the annual All Staff Function held in August 2010. 
 
Council also marked its fourth year of the Black Duck Awards which recognises staff contributions and achievements to 
both Council and the community.  These were also presented at the All Staff Function. 

25 Years  
Pam Martin 

20 Years   
David Lane 
Keith Campbell 
Tony Evans 
Tony Heffer 
Tracey Free 

10 Years 
Belinda Howard 
Hodi Beauliv 
Narelle Ladson 
Narelle Williams 
Norma Dean 
Rebecca Carmichael 
Tony Jenkins 

Black Duck Award Recipient 
Darren Rovere– Environmental Management 
Darren was awarded the “Black Duck” in August 2010 in recognition 
of his efforts in ensuring asbestos ‘flumes’ were cleared from an old 
State Rivers site in Piangil.  What was particularly concerning was 
that while the site was fenced, local children regularly entered the 
site to play, exposing them to a significant health risk.  Darren spent 
eight months working with State and Federal Government Authorities 
in an attempt to determine ‘ownership’ of the site and have it cleared. 
 
Black Duck Award Nominees 
Sustainable Communities  
Kane Sparks in recognition of his role as Council’s Youth Officer and 
achievements made through implementation of the Swan Hill Youth 
Strategy 
 
Governance and Leadership 
Rhonice Graham in recognition of her service delivery to internal 
clients through her role as Finance Officer – Payroll Support.  
 
Eleanor Smith in recognition of her commitment to representing staff 
interests through her various roles including non union Staff 
Representative, EO Contact Officer, Accident Investigation Team 
Member and OHS Committee Representative. 
 
Special Commendation Certificates 
Leah Farrow in recognition for her role as Children’s Advocate 

CEO Dennis Hovenden presenting the Black 
Duck Award to 2010 recipient Darren Rovere. 
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT—LEADERSHIP AND TRAINING 
 
Council continues to be at the forefront of professional development and training options for staff with over 3,000 hours 
of organisational training alone provided to staff during the year, this being the equivalent of 10 hours training per 
effective full time staff member.   
 
Staff training needs are identified during their annual performance review discussions with their Manager.  Council’s 
training has continued to focus on training specific to position requirements and leadership, mentoring, business, team 
building and personal development.  Staff are also encouraged to pursue further studies and currently Council staff are 
completing graduate and post graduate qualifications in civil design, business, planning, engineering and human 
resources. 
 
Seven Council staff commenced Diploma of Management studies which is offered internally and has now been 
extended to include external participants from Swan Hill District Health, Gannawarra Shire Council and Buloke Shire.  
These staff will graduate from studies in August 2011.   
 
Council’s Scholarship Program sees seven local students completing either graduate or TAFE studies financially 
supported during the school year and receiving valuable on the job experience by working at Council during their 
semester breaks.   
 
Under the Aboriginal Employment Plan, two scholarship placements are set aside for Indigenous students. Council 
successfully recruited its first recipient in January 2011, Emily Connelly who is studying a Bachelor of Health Science.  
Council will again work with local schools and Indigenous groups to source a second Indigenous student during the 
January 2012 intake. 
 
Other scholarship students recruited to the program this year were Kelsie Corrie, Bachelor of Public Health, Dwayne 
Delmenico, Property Valuation, Chris Rowlands, Bachelor of Arts (Natural Resource Management) and Daniel Fedele, 
Bachelor of Civil Engineering. 
 
Council continued its focus on developing internal leadership capabilities, successfully applying for entry into the highly 
sought after LG Pro Emerging Leaders Program for the sixth consecutive year with the nominated staff member, Claire 
Oswin, Economic Development Officer, graduating in February 2011.  Unfortunately, Council was unable to obtain a 
place for the 2011/12 Emerging Leader Program and will reapply for the 2012/13 intake.   
 
Other professional development and leadership studies accessed by staff during the year included the LG Pro ‘Ignite’ 
Program and the LG Pro Mentoring Program.  
 
Other training initiatives focused on the extension of Council’s induction program, Aboriginal cultural awareness, Culture 
at Work, customer service, work/life balance, dealing with pathological behaviours in the workplace, retirement advice, 
first aid, CPR and occupational health and safety.   

CEO Dennis Hovenden (far left) with SHRCC Mayor 
Cr Greg Cruickshank (far right) pictured with 
successful scholarships applicants. 
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VOLUNTEERS 
 
Swan Hill Rural City Council is proud to have local people as volunteers to support delivery of our services to the 
community.     
 
Over 70 volunteers are registered with Council to provide activities and catering services at the Pioneer Settlement, 
becoming integral to the operations of the Pioneer Settlement and its continued growth and development. 
 
Volunteers also support Council’s Out of School Hours Program, the L2P Driver Mentor Program, Family Day Care, Art 
Gallery operations, Youth Services and the Yamagata Student Exchange.   
 
Volunteers add a new dimension to our workforce base and Council acknowledges the commitment and enthusiasm 
these people bring to our organisation. 
 
 
 
 

SHRCC Mayor Cr Greg Cruickshank at the Australian Red Cross Appeal. 
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Appendices 
APPENDIX 1: DONATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 

Beverford District Primary School Donation $200.00 
Combined Churches Christmas Carols Donation $200.00 
Italian Social Club Donation $200.00 
Kunawaa Pre-School Contribution $984.26 
Lake Boga Bowling Club Donation $200.00 
Lake Boga Catalina Museum Donation $200.00 
Lake Boga Lions Club Donation $200.00 
Lake Boga Pre-school Contribution $2,000.00 
Lakeside Golf Club Contribution $2,000.00 
MacKillop College Contribution $2,041.59 
Mallee Artists Swan Hill (MASH) Contribution $450.91 
Mallee Family Care Sponsorship $3,681.82 
Manangatang P-12 Contribution/Donation $1,200.00 
Manangatang Swimming Pool Contribution $23,807.00 
Manangatang Improvement Group Contribution $3,454.55 
Manangatang Racing Club Inc Sponsorship $1,500.00 
Manangatang RSL Donation $200.00 
Metian Public Hall Upgrade Contribution $1,055.18 
Mid Murray Flying Club Contribution $909.09 
Murray Mallee Quilters Contribution $444.55 
Nyah District Christmas Carnival Contribution $2,000.00 
Nyah District Girl Guides Contribution $422.50 
Nyah District Swimming Pool Contribution $32,425.00 
Nyah Two Bays Amateur Swim Club Donation $200.00 
Nyah West Kindergarten Contribution $1,876.00 
Nyah West Tennis Club Inc Contribution $1,000.00 
Piangil Memorial Park Committee Donation $200.00 
REBA Contribution $2,000.00 
Regional Arts Victoria Event Contribution $38,222.64 
Riding for the Disabled Contribution $903.47 
Robinvale Benevolent Society Contribution $2,000.00 
Robinvale District Health Services Contribution $75,109.08 
Robinvale Football Club Contribution $1,000.00 
Robinvale Lady Golf Members Donation $200.00 
Robinvale Musical Arts Club Contribution $500.00 
Robinvale Musical Arts Club/Group Donation $200.00 
Robinvale Visitor Centre Contribution Contribution $27,000.00 
Rotary Club of Robinvale- Euston Contribution $880.00 
Royal Flying Doctors Donation $200.00 
RSPCA Million Paws Walk Committee Donation $200.00 
S K Nicholas Contribution $500.00 
SLIM Donation $59.80 
Speewa Hall Committee Contribution $2,015.42 
St Mary's Junior Football Club Inc Contribution $992.73 
St Marys Tyntynder Cricket Club Contribution $1,818.18 
Summer Splash Charity Group Donation $200.00 

ORGANISATION PURPOSE AMOUNT 
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Swan Hill Aboriginal Health Service Contribution $2,810.64 
Swan Hill Badminton Association Contribution $1,000.00 
Swan Hill Boxing Club Contribution $1,090.91 
Swan Hill Canoe Club Contribution $363.64 
Swan Hill Childcare Co-Op Ltd Contribution $2,000.00 
Swan Hill College Contribution $431.82 
Swan Hill District Health Contribution $2,927.27 
Swan Hill Eisteddfod Donation $300.00 
Swan Hill Genealogical & Historical Society Contribution $979.09 
Swan Hill Go Kart Club Contribution $2,000.00 
Swan Hill Incorporated Special Marketing Levy $271,611.00 
Swan Hill Indoor Sports Facilities Contribution $20,000.00 
Swan Hill Kart Club Contribution $1,818.18 
Swan Hill Neighbourhood House Contribution $2,000.00 
Swan Hill Portsea Camp Contribution $2,000.00 
Swan Hill Poultry Club Inc Contribution $1,818.18 
Swan Hill Primary School Contribution $1,000.00 
Swan Hill Scouts Contribution $576.51 
Swan Hill Specialist School Contribution $1,000.00 
Swan Hill Stroke Support Group Contribution $745.45 
Swan Hill Swimming Pool Contribution $20,000.00 
Swan Hill Table Tennis Association Contribution $954.55 
Ultima CFA Donation $200.00 
Ultima Golf Club Inc Donation $200.00 
Ultima Lions Club Contribution $2,186.11 
Wemen Progress Association Contribution $1,636.36 
Woorinen & District Progress Donation $200.00 
Woorinen Cricket Club Contribution $2,000.00 

TOTAL  $580,903.48 
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APPENDIX 2: ORGANISATIONS OF WHICH COUNCIL IS A MEMBER 
 
 

Aged and Community Care Victoria $2,960 
Airservices Australia $110 
Anstat Pty Ltd $1,874 
Artlink Australia $88 
Australasian Motor Museums Association Inc $100 
Australian Performing Arts Centres Association (APACA) $464 
Case Management Society of Australia $211 
Central Murray Regional Waste Management Group $1,000 
Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance $1,500 
Department of Education and Early Childhood Development $717 
Early Childhood Australia Inc $270 
Environmental Protection Authority $2,815 
Family Day Care Victoria Inc $1,273 
Free Kindergarten Association Childrens Services Inc $150 
Friends of the Elms Inc $91 
Heritage Attractions Australia $50 
International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI Oceania) $710 
Local Government Professionals (LG PRO) $305 
Maritime Museum of Victoria $150 
Municipal Association of Victoria $1,091 
Municipal Works Officers Association $280 
Museums Australia National Office $160 
National Association for the Visual Art Ltd $150 
National Childcare Accreditation Council $101 
National Saleyards Quality Assurance Ltd $440 
North West Municipalities Association $400 
POAAL Services Pty Ltd $150 
Print Council of Australia $155 
Public Galleries Association of Victoria $500 
Public Libraries Victoria Network Inc $2,906 
Sustainable Living in the Mallee $1,749 
The Childrens Book Council of Australia $80 
The Joanna Briggs Insitute $455 
Timber Merchants Association $72 
Vicsport $250 
Victorian Association of Performing Arts Centre (VAPAC) $900 
Victorian Maternal Child and Health $50 
Victorian Municipal Building Surveyours Group Inc $300 
Waste Management Associates of Australia $295 
Winthrop Australia $1,067 

ORGANISATION MEMBERSHIP FEES 
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APPENDIX 3: FEEDBACK 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 

Return by mail to: 
The Chief Executive Officer 
Swan Hill Rural City Council 
PO Box 488 
SWAN HILL VIC 3585 
 
 
Or drop it into: 45 Splatt Street, Swan Hill 
 
Fax: (03) 5036 2340 
 
Email: council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 

My main interest in the report is as a:  

Ƒ Customer Ƒ 
Government body 
(Federal) Ƒ Developer 

Ƒ Contractor/supplier Ƒ 
Member of a community 
group Ƒ Business investment 

Ƒ Local business Ƒ 
Member of a sporting 
group Ƒ Local resident 

Ƒ 
Government body 
(local) Ƒ 

Member of an 
environment group Ƒ Student 

Ƒ 
Government body 
(State) Ƒ 

Member of a financial 
group Ƒ Local 

What did you like most about the report? 
 
 

Was there anything else you would have liked included in the report? 
 

Do you have any other comments or suggested improvements? 
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OPERATING RESULT 
 
Council completed the year with financially pleasing results.  On a rates determination basis, the result of $70,762 better 
than budget after allowing for timing differences in the receipt of Government grants of $1,309,123. 
 
On a full accruals basis the deficit for the year was $456,211.  It is important to note that this is an accounting profit after 
recognising non-cash items such as depreciation of $6.6 million and the ‘receipt’ of infrastructure assets created by 
developers (such as roads and drainage on Council’s Tower Hill Estate). 
 
Major revenue and expenditure items included in the operating result can be identified from the following graphs.  
 
For more information on the comprehensive income statement, balance sheet and cash flows for the year, please refer to 
the audited General Purpose Financial Report in the following section of this annual report. 

EXPENDITURE 
 
Council’s total expenses for the 2010/11 year 
were $45.7 million as per the Standard Income 
Statement (excluding net loss on disposal of 
assets). 
 
A breakdown of Council’s expenses highlights 
that 96.4% relates to three expenditure 
categories. 
 
x�Employee Benefits   36.8% 
x�Contract Payments, Materials 

and Services    45.0% 
x�Depreciation    14.5% 

Total Expenditure (Total 45.7M) 

Depreciation 
14.5% 

Other Expenses 
2.7% 

Finance Costs 
0.9% 

Employee Benefits 
36.8% 

Contract Payments, 
Materials and 

Services 
45.0% 

Rates and Garbage 
Charges 
43.2% 

Statutory Fees and 
Fines 
2.1% 

REVENUE 
 
Council’s total revenue for the 2010/11 year 
was $45.3 million as per the Standard 
Income Statement. 
 
A breakdown of Council’s revenue sources 
highlights that  94.3% of Council’s income 
comes from four income categories. 
 
x� Rates and Garbage Charges    43.2% 
x� Grants                                       35.5% 
x� Other Revenue                            6.4% 
x� User Fees                                    9.2% 

Net gain on 
disposal of assets 

0.1% 

User Fees 
9.2% 

Recurrent Grants 
27.9% 

Non-recurrent 
Grants 
7.6% 

Cash  
Contributions 

0.8% 
Non-cash  

Contributions 
0.4% 

Interest 
2.1% 

Reimbursements 
0.3% 

Other Revenue 
6.4% 

Total Revenue (Total 45.3M) 
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
During the financial year, Council spent $7.6 million on 
capital works and asset purchases, bringing the five 
year total of expenditure on fixed assets to over $34.9 
million.  The graph shows the level of expenditure 
spent on new and redeveloped assets over the past 
five years. 

EQUITY 
 
The Balance Sheet in the audited General Purpose 
Financial Report shows total community equity of 
$279.4 million, represented by Accumulated Surplus 
and Asset Revaluation Reserve.  The growth in equity 
is due to the identification and revaluation of assets.  
This graph shows the growth in equity over the past 
five years. 
 

BORROWINGS (excluding financial 
leases) 
 
Loans are used to fund major capital projects and 
asset purchases that are unable to be funded from 
other sources.  Loan funding allows the community to 
pay for the asset (such as a leisure centre) over some 
of the time it is being used.  At 30 June 2011, Council 
had a loan liability of $7.3 million.  This is a planned 
and responsible level of debt, achieved in accordance 
with Council’s borrowing strategy.  Loan repayments 
are currently $1.1 million per annum, a level at which 
they will remain for the next few years. 
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS 

 
 
 
The Revenue Ratio shows rate revenue as a proportion 
of total revenue, and seeks to measure Council’s reliance 
on property rates.  It is influenced by other revenue 
sources such as Government grants, contributions, user 
fees and charges. 

 
 
 
Working Capital Ratio shows that level of current assets 
Council has available to meet its current liabilities.  The 
graph shows that the ratio is very healthy and has 
remained stable over the past five years. 

The Debt Exposure Ratio is an indicator of Council’s 
ability to pay its debts.  The ratio compares total liability 
to total realisable assets, (all realisable assets not subject 
to any restriction).  The graph shows that the amount of 
realisable assets available to meet each $1 of total 
liability, has remained steady and improved over the last 
five years and places Council in a strong financial 
position. 

 
 
The Debt Commitment Ratio identifies the percentage of 
rate revenue required to pay interest and principal on 
Council’s loans.  Closely tied to the Borrowing Strategy, 
the ratio shows that Council is in a healthy position.  The 
ratio is expected to reduce further over the next few 
years in accordance with the Borrowing Strategy. 

 
 
 
The Debt Servicing Ratio shows the amount of rates 
required to pay the interest on Council’s loan liability.  
This ratio documents that loan interest does not place a 
burden on finances.  The ratio includes operating leases. 
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UNDERSTANDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Introduction 
 

The Financial Report is a key report by the Swan Hill Rural City Council.  It shows how Council performed financially during 
the 2010/11 financial year and the overall position at the end of the financial year (30 June 2011).  
 
Council presents its financial report in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards.  Particular terms required by 
the Standards may not be familiar to some readers.  Swan Hill Rural City Council is committed to accountability and it is in 
this context that the following explanations have been developed to assist readers understand and analyse the financial 
report. 
 
 
 
What is contained in the Annual Financial Report? 
 

Council’s financial report has two main sections, namely the Report and the Notes.  There are four Statements and 43 
notes.  These are prepared by Council staff, examined by the Council Audit Committee and Council, and are audited by the 
Victorian Auditor-General.  
 
The four Statements included in the first few pages of the report are the Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and a Cash Flow Statement.  
 
The Notes detail Council’s accounting policies and the make-up of values contained in the Statements. 
 
 
 
1. Comprehensive Income Statement 
 

The Comprehensive Income Statement measures Council’s performance over the year and shows if a surplus or a deficit 
has been made in delivering services.   
 
The Statement includes all sources of income, less all operating expenses incurred in delivering Council services.  This 
includes depreciation, or the writing down, of the value of buildings, roads, footpaths, drains and all other infrastructure 
assets, which are used to deliver Council services.  These assets are depreciated over the life of the asset or as they are 
consumed. Capital costs or new assets purchased or created during the year are excluded from the Statement but, as 
indicated above, are depreciated as they are used.  
 
The Statement is prepared on an ‘accrual’ basis.  This means that all income and costs for the year are recognised even 
though the income may not yet be received (such as interest on bank deposits) or expenses not yet paid (invoices not yet 
received for goods and services already used).   
 
If the Statement is in a deficit (loss) situation, this means that Council is not creating sufficient funds to replace infrastructure 
assets at the time when they need to be replaced. Continual deficits may indicate concern about Council’s ability to be 
financially viable in the longer term.  
 
The key figure to look at is the surplus/(deficit) for the year. A deficit means that the expenses were greater than revenue. 
 
 
 
2. Balance Sheet 
 

The Balance Sheet is an important financial statement.  This one page summary is a snapshot of the financial situation as at 
30 June 2011.  It shows what the Council owns as Assets and what it owes as Liabilities.  The bottom line of this Statement 
is Net Assets.  This is the net worth of Council, which has been built up over many years.  
 
The assets and liabilities are separated into Current and Non-Current.  Current means those assets or liabilities, which will 
fall due or be consumed in the next 12 months. The components of the Balance Sheet are described here. 
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Current and Non-Current Assets 
 
x� Cash includes cash and cash equivalents i.e. cash held in the bank, petty cash and term deposits 
x� Receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and others 
x� Other assets include income earnt but not yet received and accounts which have been prepaid 
x� Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure is the largest component of Council’s worth and represents the value of all 

land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment, and other items which have been invested in by Council over many years 
 
Current and Non-Current Liabilities 
 
x� Payables are those to whom Council owes money as at 30 June 2011 
x� Provisions include Employee Benefits which is the accounting term for accrued Long Service and Annual Leave. Landfill 

restoration works are also grouped under provisions 
x� Interest bearing loans and borrowings, which are repaid over a set period of time, Finance Leases that are leases of 

assets where ownership of the asset is transferred to the Council 
 
Net Assets 
 
This term is used to describe the difference between the value of Total Assets and the value of Total Liabilities. It represents 
the net worth of Council as at 30 June 2011.  The net value of the Council is also synonymous with Total Equity. 
 
Total Equity 
 
x� Asset Revaluation Reserve is the difference between the previously recorded value of property and infrastructure assets 

and their current valuations 
x� Accumulated Surplus is the value of all net assets accumulated over time, including Other Reserve allocations for 

specific projects. 
 
 
3. Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
During the course of the year, the value of Total Ratepayers Equity as set out in the Balance Sheet changes.  This 
Statement shows the values of such changes and how these changes arose.  
 
The main reason for a change in equity stem from: 
x� The surplus/(deficit) for the year from operations, described in the Comprehensive Income Statement as the surplus/

(deficit) for the year 
x� Revaluation of assets; takes on a regular schedule basis on average every three years. It also occurs when existing 

assets are taken up in the books for the first time 
 
4. Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Cash Flow Statement summarises Council’s cash payments and cash receipts for the year.  This Statement is 
presented according to a very specific Accounting Standard and needs some care in analysis.  The values may differ from 
those shown in the Comprehensive Income Statement because the Comprehensive Income Statement is prepared on an 
accrual accounting basis.   
 
Cash in this Statement refers to bank deposits and other forms of highly liquid investments that can readily be converted to 
cash.  
 
Council’s cash arises from, and is used in, three main areas: 
 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
 
x� Receipts – All cash received into Council’s bank account from ratepayers and others that owed money to Council. 

Receipts also include the interest earnt from Council’s cash investments. It does not include the costs associated with the 
sale of assets 

x� Payments – All cash paid by Council from its bank account to staff, creditors and other persons.  It does not include the 
costs associated with the creation of assets 
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Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
 
The accounting term Investing Activities relates to payments for the acquisition and creation of assets, such as new plant, 
roads and other long-term revenue producing assets; and the proceeds from the sale of assets such as plant, and land. 
 
 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
 
This is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed funds are recorded.   
 
The bottom line of the Cash Flow Statement is the Cash at End of Financial Year.  This shows the capacity of Council to meet 
its debts and other liabilities. 
 
 
Notes to the Accounts 
 
The Notes are a very important and informative section of the report. The Australian Accounting Standards are not prescrip-
tive in a lot of issues.  Therefore, to enable the reader to understand the basis on which the values shown in the Statements 
are established, it is necessary to provide details of Council’s accounting policies.  These are described in Note 1.   
 
Apart from the accounting policies, the Notes also give details behind many of the summary figures contained in the State-
ments.  The Note numbers are shown beside the relevant items in the Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement.  
 
Where Council wishes to disclose other information, which cannot be incorporated into the Statements, then this is shown in 
the Notes. 
 
Other Notes include: 
x� The cost of the various functions of Council 
x� The breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves and other assets 
x� Transactions with persons related to Council 
x� Comparisons of Budget to Actual results (Standard Statements) 
x� Financial performance indicators  
 
The Notes should be read at the same time as, and together with, the other parts of the Financial Statements to get a clear 
picture of the accounts. 
 
Statements by Principal Accounting Officer and Councillors 
 
The Certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person responsible for the financial management of Coun-
cil that, in his opinion, the Financial Statements have met all the statutory and professional reporting requirements.   
 
The Certification of Councillors is made by two Councillors on behalf of Council that, in their opinion, the Financial Statements 
are fair and not misleading.  The Chief Executive Officer also endorses and signs the certification. 
 
Auditor General’s Report 
 
The Independent Audit Report is the external and independent opinion on the Financial Statements.  It provides the reader 
with a totally independent opinion on the Financial Statements.  The opinion covers both the Statutory and professional re-
quirements and also the fairness aspects of the Financial Statements. 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011 
 
 Note 2011 2010 

  $ $ 
    
Income    
Rates and charges 2 19,539,923 18,847,785 
Statutory fees and fines 3 937,693 1,031,220 
User fees 4 4,175,430 3,467,397 
Grants – recurrent 5 12,615,676 12,403,682 
Grants – non-recurrent 5 3,419,795 2,888,817 
Contributions – cash 6(a) 369,269 798,878 
Contributions – non-monetary assets 6(b) 164,685 825,842 
Reimbursements 7 154,167 311,014 
Interest  964,032 786,627 
Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  33,423 300,324 
Other income 8 2,903,563 2,865,006 
    
Total Income  45,277,656 44,526,592 
 
 
Expenses    
Employee benefits 9 16,847,045 15,611,753 
Materials and services 10 16,022,425 15,391,331 
Contributions paid 11 4,543,145 4,405,470 
Bad and doubtful debts 12 (61,004) 89,442 
Depreciation and amortisation 13 6,639,509 5,805,679 
Finance costs 14 408,109 404,095 
Other expenses 15 1,334,638 3,098,981 
    
Total Expenses  45,733,867 44,806,751 
 
Surplus/(Deficit)  (456,211) (280,159) 
    
Other comprehensive income    
    
Net asset revaluation increment 28 7,089,925 11,964,761 
 
Comprehensive result  6,633,714 11,684,602 
 
The above Comprehensive Income Statement should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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BALANCE SHEET 
As at 30 June 2011 
 
 Note 2011 2010 

  $ $ 
    
Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 16 11,338,972 10,413,042 
Trade and other receivables 17 922,678 2,052,589 
Financial assets 18 3,457,609 2,600,000 
Inventories 19 160,743 384,440 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 82,009 105,380 
Other assets 21 288,031 210,147 
Total Current Assets  16,250,042 15,765,598 
 
Non-current assets    
Trade and other receivables 17 177,842 214,206 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 22 276,605,577 269,703,046 
Intangible assets 23 950,272 863,334 
Total non-current assets  277,733,691 270,780,586 
Total assets  293,983,733 286,546,184 
 
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 24 2,109,677 2,210,114 
Trust funds and deposits 25 228,147 294,766 
Provisions 26 3,446,115 3,343,623 
Interest – bearing loans and borrowings 27 1,191,722 1,166,017 
Total current liabilities  6,975,661 7,014,520 
 
Non-current liabilities    
Provisions 26 1,468,784 1,234,591 
Interest – bearing loans and borrowings 27 6,095,997 5,487,496 
Total non-current liabilities  7,564,781 6,722,087 
Total Liabilities  14,540,442 13,736,607 
    
Net Assets  279,443,291 272,809,577 
 
Equity    
Accumulated surplus  189,871,618 190,327,829 
Reserves 28 89,571,673 82,481,748 
    
Total Equity  279,443,291 272,809,577 
 
The above balance sheet should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011 
 

 
 

2011 

Note Total 
2011 

 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2011 
 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
2011 

    $    $    $ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year  272,809,577 190,327,829 82,481,748 

Surplus/(Deficit)  (456,211) (456,211) - 

Net asset revaluation increment  28 7,089,925 - 7,089,925 

Balance at end of the financial year  279,443,291 189,871,618 89,571,673 
 
 
 

 
 

2010 

 Total 
2010 

 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2010 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
2010 

    $    $ $ 

Balance at beginning of the financial year  261,124,975 190,607,988 70,516,987 

Surplus/(Deficit)  (280,159) (280,159) - 

Net asset revaluation increment  28 11,964,761 - 11,964,761 

Balance at end of the financial year  272,809,577 190,327,829 82,481,748 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011 
 
 Note 2011 

Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 

2010  
Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
  $ $ 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Rates  20,554,319 18,168,107 
Statutory fees and fines  937,693 1,031,220 
User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST)  4,827,144 3,073,518 
Grants (inclusive of GST)  16,316,087 15,578,518 
Contributions (inclusive of GST)  406,196 1,352,634 
Reimbursements (inclusive of GST)  169,584 342,115 
Interest  964,032 786,627 
Other receipts (inclusive of GST)  3,060,520 3,186,451 
Net GST refund/payment  1,725,378 1,699,680 
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST)  (23,615,671) (21,716,858) 
Payments to employees (including redundancies)  (17,247,690) (16,232,183) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 29 8,097,592 7,269,829 
 
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  (7,078,496) (10,851,372) 
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  538,346 1,326,936 
Payments for other financial assets  (857,609) 1,500,000 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (7,397,759) (8,024,436) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities    
Finance costs  (48,746) (89,477) 
Borrowing costs  (408,109) (404,095) 
Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings  1,800,000 1,250,000 
Repayments of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (1,117,048) (1,075,068) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  226,097 (318,640) 
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  925,930 (1,073,247) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  10,413,042 11,486,289 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 30 11,338,972 10,413,042 
 
Financing arrangements 31   
Restrictions on cash assets 32   
 
The above Cash Flow Statement should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011 
 
Introduction 
 
This financial report of Swan Hill Rural City Council is a general purpose financial report that consists of a 
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes 
accompanying these financial statements.  This general purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government Act 
1989, and the Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies 
 

(a)  Basis of accounting 
  
 This financial report has been prepared on the accrual and going concern bases. 

 
This financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where 
specifically stated in note 1(g), 1(j) and 1(s). 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and 
disclosure has been made of any material changes to comparatives. 
 
Council has elected not to consolidate Special Committees of Management as the assets and 
liabilities involved were deemed to have an immaterial impact on the financial position or 
performance. 

 
(b)  Revenue recognition 
  
 Rates, grants and contributions 
 Rates, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenues when 

the Council obtains control over the assets comprising these receipts. 
 
Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is 
an enforceable debt linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 
 
Control over granted assets is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier 
notification that a grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer. 
 
Income is recognised when the Council obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the 
contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the 
Council and the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. 
 
Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues during the financial year were obtained on 
condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the unused grants or contributions is disclosed in Note 
5.  The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or contribution from prior years that were 
expended on Council’s operations during the current year. 
 
Grants are considered Recurrent if funding agreements state that the grant will be paid over a period 
exceeding two financial years.  Non-Recurrent grants are those where funding is expected as a once 
off payment, payments to be received within a period less than two years, or grants acquired of a 
capital nature. 
 
A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided at balance date. 
 
User fees and fines 
User fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first 
occurs.  A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when collection in full is no longer probable. 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 Sale of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 
 The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed 

to the buyer. 
  
 Interest and rents 
 Interest and rents are recognised as revenue on a proportional basis when the payment is due, the 

value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, whichever first occurs. 
 

(c)  Inventories 
  
 Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service 

potential.  Other inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 

(d)  Depreciation of non-current assets 
  
 Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, cultural and heritage assets, and 

other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the 
Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.  
Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset 
classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually. 
 
Where infrastructure assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular 
replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives and/or residual values and a 
separate depreciation rate is determined for each component. 
 
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 
 
Major depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless 
otherwise stated: 

 
 Period 
Land and buildings  

Land improvements 
Buildings 

10 to 100 years 
10 to 100 years 

  
Cultural and heritage assets  

Heritage assets 100 years 
Artworks 100 years 
Library books 5 to 100 years 

  
Plant and equipment  

Plant, machinery and equipment – large 5 to 10 years 
Plant, machinery and equipment – small 2 to 4 years 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 3 to 10 years 
Computers and telecommunications 3 to 5 years 

 
Infrastructure 

 

Roads  
� road pavements  25 to 30 years 
� road ancillary assets 20 to 25 years 
� unsealed roads 100 years 

Footpaths 20 to 50 years 
Kerb and channel 25 to 50 years 
Drainage 20 to 80 years 
Waste management 85 years 

  
Other infrastructure  

Irrigation & sprinkler systems 10 years 
Parks and gardens furniture & equipment 10 years 
Playground equipment 10 years 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e)  Repairs and maintenance 
  
 Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred.  Where the 

repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation 
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is 
expensed. 

 
(f)  Borrowing costs 
  
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  Borrowing 

costs include interest on bank overdrafts and interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges. 
 

(g)  Recognition and measurement of assets 
  
 Acquisition 
 The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of 

assets provided as consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the 
acquisition.  Fair value is the amount for which the asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction.   
 
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct 
labour, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads. 
 
The following classes of assets have been recognised in note 22  In accordance with Council's policy, 
the threshold limits detailed below have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset 
class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year: 

 

 

Threshold 
Limit 

$ 
Property  

Land 1 
Land improvements 1,000 
Land under roads 1 
Buildings 5,000 

Cultural and heritage assets  
Heritage assets 1,000 

 Artworks 1 
 Library books 1 

Plant and equipment  
Plant and machinery 1,500 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1,500 
Computers and telecommunications 1,000 

Infrastructure  
Roads  
� Construction  5,000 
� Major patches 10,000 
� Seal 5,000 

Footpaths 5,000 
Kerb and channel 5,000 
Drainage 5,000 
Waste Management 1 

Other infrastructure  
Irrigation & sprinkler systems 5,000 
Parks & gardens furniture & equipment 5,000 
Playground equipment 5,000 
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(h) Recognition and measurement of assets (continued) 
  
 Revaluation 
 Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and 

equipment, furniture and fittings, computers and communication equipment, land under roads and 
library books are measured at their fair value, being the amount for which the assets could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arms length transaction.  At balance date, the 
Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure 
that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value materially differed from 
the fair value at balance date the class of asset was revalued. 
 
In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a 
regular basis ranging from 2 to 5 years.  The valuation is performed either by experienced council 
officers or independent experts. 
 
Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset 
that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to 
the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior 
increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the 
decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same class of 
assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset. 
 

 
 Land under roads 
 Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the deemed cost basis.  

Council does not recognise land under roads that it controlled prior to that period in its financial 
report. 

 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
  
 For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 

deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 

 
(j) Financial assets 
  
 Financial assets are valued at fair value, being market value, at balance date.  Any unrealised gains 

and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense. 
 

 
(k) Investments 
  
 Investments, other than investments in associates, are measured at cost and interest revenues are 

recognised as they accrue. 
 

 
(l) Tender deposits 
  
 Amounts received as tender deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as 

Trust funds until they are returned or forfeited (refer to note 25). 
 

 
(m) Employee benefits 
  
 Wages and Salaries 
 Liabilities for wages and salaries and rostered days off are recognised and are measured as the 

amount unpaid at balance date and include appropriate oncosts such as workers compensation and 
payroll costs. 
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 Annual leave 
 Annual leave entitlements are accrued on a pro rata basis in respect of services provided by 

employees up to balance date. 
 
Annual leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the 
amount, including appropriate oncosts, expected to be paid when settled. 
 
Annual leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements.  Commonwealth bond 
rates are used for discounting future cash flows. 

 
 Long Service Leave 
 Long service leave entitlements payable are assessed at balance date having regard to expected 

employee remuneration rates on settlement, employment related oncosts and other factors including 
accumulated years of employment, on settlement, and experience of employee departure per year of 
service. 
 
Long service leave expected to be paid within 12 months is measured at nominal value based on the 
amount expected to be paid when settled. 
 
Long service leave expected to be paid later than one year has been measured at the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for these accrued entitlements.  Commonwealth 
bond rates are used for discounting future cash flows. 

 
 Classification of employee benefits 
 An employee benefit liability is classified as a current liability if the Council does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the period.  
This would include all annual leave and unconditional long service leave entitlements. 

 
 Superannuation 
 A liability is recognised in respect of Council's present obligation to meet the unfunded obligations of 

defined benefit superannuation schemes to which its employees are members.  The liability is defined 
as the Council's share of the scheme's unfunded position, being the difference between the present 
value of employees’ accrued benefits and the net market value of the scheme’s assets at balance 
date. 
 
The superannuation expense for the reporting year is the amount of the statutory contribution the 
Council makes to the superannuation plan which provides benefits to its employees together with any 
movements (favourable/unfavourable) in the position of any defined benefits schemes. Details of 
these arrangements are detailed in note 33. 

 
(n) Leases 
  
 Finance Leases 
 Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the asset, 

but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Council are classified as finance leases.  Finance 
leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value.  Lease payments are allocated between 
the reduction of the lease liability and the interest expense.  Leased assets are amortised on a 
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is likely that the Council will 
obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter.  
 

 Operating leases 
 Lease payments for operating leases are recognised as an expense in the years in which they are 

incurred as this reflects the pattern of benefits derived by the Council. 
 

(o) Allocation between current and non-current 
 In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to 

the time when each asset or liability is expected to be settled.  The asset or liability is classified as 
current if it is expected to be settled within the next twelve months, being the Council’s operational 
cycle, or if the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting date. 
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(p) Agreements equally proportionately unperformed 
  
 The Council does not recognise assets and liabilities arising from agreements that are equally 

proportionately unperformed in the Balance Sheet.  Such agreements are recognised on an ‘as 
incurred’ basis. 

 
(q) Web site costs 
  
 Costs in relation to websites are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
(r) Goods and services tax (GST) 
  
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 

of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

 
(s) Impairment of assets 
  
 At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether 

there is any indication that these assets have been impaired.  If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, is compared to the assets carrying value.  Any excess of the assets carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the Comprehensive Income Statement. 

 
(t) Intangible assets 
  
 An intangible asset is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value.  Intangible assets 

are not amortised as they are revalued annually. 
 

(u) Rounding 
  
 Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

 
(v) Non current assets held for sale 
  
 A non-current asset held for sale (including disposal groups) is measured at the lower of its carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are not subject to depreciation. Non current assets, 
disposal groups and related liabilities assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale (or 
disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification. 

 
(w) Investment property 
 Investment property, comprising freehold office complexes, is held to generate long-term rental 

yields. Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Costs incurred 
subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefit in 
excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Council. Subsequent to 
initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, determined annually by 
independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive income statement in 
the period that they arise. Rental income from the leasing of investment properties is recognised in 
the comprehensive income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

  
(x) Financial guarantees 
  
 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The 

liability is initially measured at fair value, and if there is material increase in the likelihood that the 
guarantee may have to be exercised, at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with 
AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. In the determination of fair value, 
consideration is given to factors including the probability of default by the guaranteed party and the 
likely loss to Council in the event of default.  
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(y) Pending accounting standards 
 

The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the Council but are 
not yet effective. 

 
They have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date. 

 
 
Standard/Interpretation Summary Applicable for annual 

reporting periods 
beginning or ending on 

Impact on Local 
Government 
financial statements 

AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments and AASB 
2009–11: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 
7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Interpretations 
10 & 12] 
 

These standards are applicable 
retrospectively and amend the 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Council has not yet 
determined the potential impact on the 
financial statements.  Specific changes 
include: 
 
* simplifying the classifications of financial 
assets into those carried at amortised cost 
and those carried at fair value; 
 
* removing the tainting rules associated 
with held-to-maturity assets; 
* simplifying the requirements for 
embedded derivatives; 
 
* removing the requirements to separate 
and fair value embedded derivatives for 
financial assets carried at amortised cost; 
 
* allowing an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are 
not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a 
return on investment can be recognised in 
profit or loss and there is no impairment or 
recycling on disposal of the instrument; 
and 
 
* reclassifying financial assets where 
there is a change in an entity's business 
model as they are initially classified based 
on: 
 
a. the objective of the entity's business 
model for managing the financial assets; 
and 
 
b. the characteristics of the contractual 
cash flows. 
 
 

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or after 
1 January 2013. 
 

These changes are 
expected to provide 
some simplification in 
the accounting for and 
disclosure of financial 
instruments 
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Standard/Interpretation Summary Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning or ending on 

Impact on Local 
Government 
financial statements 

AASB 2009–12: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 
108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1031 
and Interpretations 2, 4, 
16, 1039 & 1052]  
 

This standard makes a number of editorial 
amendments to a range of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
including amendments to reflect changes 
made to the text of International Financial 
Reporting Standards by the IASB. The 
standard also amends AASB 8 to require 
entities to exercise judgment in assessing 
whether a government and entities known 
to be under the control of that government 
are considered a single customer for the 
purposes of certain operating segment 
disclosures. 
 

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or after 
1 January 2011. 
 

These amendments 
are not expected to 
impact Council 
 

AASB 2009–14: 
Amendments to 
Australian Interpretation 
— Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement [AASB 
Interpretation 14]  
 

This standard amends Interpretation 14 to 
address unintended consequences that 
can arise from the previous accounting 
requirements when an entity prepays 
future contributions into a defined benefit 
pension plan. 
 

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
commencing on or after 
1 January 2011. 
 

These amendments 
are not expected to 
impact Council 
 

 
(z) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments 
 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed by way 
of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.  Contingent assets and liabilities are presented 
inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

 
Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet.  Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and 
inclusive of GST payable. 
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$ 
2010 

$ 
 

 
Note 2 Rates and charges 
 

Council uses Capital Improved Value as the basis of valuation of all properties within the 
municipal district.  The Capital Improved Value of a property is the value of its Land, 
Buildings and Improvements. 
 
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2010/2011 was $2,991 million 
(2009/2010 $2,798 million).  The 2010/2011 rate in the Capital Improved Value dollar was 
0.0055630 (2009/2010, 0.00564184).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Residential 7,839,705 7,057,968 
Commercial 1,465,780 1,638,435 
Industrial 467,320 505,042 
Farm/Rural 7,483,245 7,046,621 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 27,487 378,662 
Garbage charge 2,382,541 2,028,536 
Special marketing rates 293,149 281,302 
Other 4,117 18,456 
Abandonment’s (423,421) (107,237) 
Total rates and charges 19,539,923 18,847,785 
   
Rate (Cents in the $ CIV)   
General Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00556300 0.00564184 
25% Premium Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value Dollar 0.00556300 0.00705230 
50% Reduced Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value Dollar - 0.00282097 
General Rate and Drainage – Swan Hill Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00578560 0.00585174 
25% Premium and Drainage – Swan Hill Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00723210 0.00726212 
General Rate and Drainage – Robinvale Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00578560 0.00605315 
25% Premium and Drainage – Robinvale Differential Rate in the Capital Improved Value 0.00723210 0.00746365 
Residential Vacant Land – Swan Hill & Robinvale 0.01157120 - 
Commercial – Swan Hill & Robinvale Shop & Dwelling 0.00650870 - 
 
The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal 
district was 1 January 2010, and the valuation was first applied in the rating year 
commencing 1 July 2010. 
 
The date of the previous general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the 
municipal district was 1 January 2008, and the valuation first applied to the rating period 
commencing 1 July 2008. 

  

   
 
Note 3 Statutory fees and fines 
 

Building and planning fees 291,459 438,923 
Valuation data fees 153,664 18,783 
Animal registration/release fees 131,672 144,757 
Health registration fees 99,143 117,198 
Parking control fees and fines 251,062 270,046 
Other fees and fines 10,693 41,513 
Total statutory fees and fines 937,693 1,031,220 
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Note 4 User fees 
 

Administration fees 556,400 436,823 
Child Care/children’s program fees 252,157 306,412 
Sales – admissions 652,365 628,607 
Sales – merchandise, catering, other sales 369,196 409,752 
Hire & leasing fees 551,134 471,407 
Livestock exchange 500,783 294,187 
Aged services 819,342 732,302 
Tourism & economic development 50,909 - 
Other 423,144 187,907 
Total user fees 4,175,430 3,467,397 

 
 
Note 5 Grants 
 

Grants were received in respect of the following: 
 

  

Recurrent   
Commonwealth Government – roads to recovery 802,905 964,330 
Commonwealth Government – health and aged care 3,352,937 3,119,597 
Victorian Grants Commission – general purpose 4,032,409 3,880,923 
Victorian Grants Commission – local roads 1,858,019 1,579,220 
Employment subsidies 30,975 16,800 
Public health 15,526 38,220 
Home and community care 1,209,997 1,214,243 
Maternal and child health 267,583 270,598 
Family and children 375,551 558,693 
Economic development 87,500 95,000 
Community projects 54,260 136,000 
School crossing 29,282 9,118 
Art gallery and performing arts 150,000 150,300 
Libraries 162,452 171,978 
Other 186,280 198,662 
Total recurrent 12,615,676 12,403,682 

 
Non-recurrent – Operating   
Community projects 237,316 140,394 
Environmental protection 104,995 114,390 
Emergency management/response  269,085 - 
Family and children 145,949 194,706 
Library services 46,524 45,910 
Indigenous affairs 122,740 160,909 
Drought support initiatives - 2,000 
Economic development 316,136 256,923 
Home and community care 53,456 118,073 
Recreation - 77,729 
Victorian Government – unbundling of water adjustment package 620,000 920,000 
Other 5,750 12,200 
 1,921,951 2,043,234 
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Non-recurrent – Capital   
Buildings - 130,000 
Roads 283,724 184,670 
Footpaths 125,000 17,500 
Art & heritage 125,000 20,636 
Parks, playgrounds and street beautification 880,244 427,980 
Other 83,876 64,797 
 1,497,844 845,583 
Total non-recurrent 3,419,795 2,888,817 

 
Condition on Grants   
Grants recognised as revenue during the year that were obtained on condition that they 
be expended in a specified manner that had not occurred at balance date were: 

  

   
Operating grants 2,470,353 2,359,940 
Capital grants 1,419,075 796,300 
 3,889,428 3,156,240 
   
Grants which were recognised as revenue in prior years and were expended during the 
current year in the manner specified by the grantor were: 

  

   
Operating grants 2,258,830 2,616,900 
Capital grants 357,775 2,382,141 
 2,616,605 4,999,041 
   
Net increase (decrease) in restricted assets resulting from grant revenues for the year: 1,272,823 (1,842,801) 
   

 
Note 6 Contributions  

 
(a)  

 
Cash 
Parks & gardens - 181,166 
Cultural & heritage 143,975 296,659 
Economic development - 33,400 
Sealed roads - 172,608 
Carparking 35,000 - 
Footpaths 18,350 - 
Waste management - 300 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 111,087 75,825 
Environmental protection 21,146 5,980 
Other 39,711 32,940 
Total contributions - cash 369,269 798,878 

 
(b)  

 
Non-monetary assets 
Roads - 428,165 
Drainage - 202,319 
Footpaths - 94,380 
Artworks 10,600 56,510 
Library books 10,413 7,340 
Pioneer Settlement 42,000 - 
Other 101,672 37,128 
Total contributions – non-monetary assets 164,685 825,842 

 
Total contributions 533,954 1,624,720 



 
 
 
 
 

114 |  SHRCC—Annual Report 2010/11 

General Purpose Financial 
Statements 

 
 
 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
Note 7 Reimbursements 
 

Road maintenance/works - 88,150 
Other 154,167 222,864 
Total reimbursements 154,167 311,014 

 
Note 8 Other income 
 

Tower Hill land sales 2,806,486 2,798,157 
Less - Tower Hill cost of goods sold (23,371) (55,989) 
Other 120,448 122,838 
Total other income 2,903,563 2,865,006 

 
Note 9 Employee benefits 
 

Wages and salaries 13,270,370 12,715,755 
Agency staff 425,996 603,063 
WorkCover  351,446 274,534 
Long service leave 319,681 274,436 
Staff training 273,784 311,719 
Superannuation 1,288,006 1,219,505 
Superannuation – additional call* 684,522 - 
Fringe benefits tax 123,759 99,088 
Other oncosts 109,481 113,653 
Total employee benefits 16,847,045 15,611,753 

 
 *During this period Council was required to make an additional contribution to Vision Super to meet our obligations in 

relation to members of the defined benefit plan.  
 
 
Note 10 Materials and services 

   

 
Waste management 1,481,730 1,699,192 
Road and infrastructure maintenance 1,448,965 1,274,600 
Major projects 2,527,042 2,395,198 
Building maintenance and repairs 787,850 692,720 
Tower Hill development costs 2,806,256 3,098,137 
Organisational support 1,802,671 1,933,374 
Cleaning 567,902 528,725 
Community support events 1,203,473 1,271,817 
Culture and heritage programs 438,477 411,371 
Insurance 488,136 467,542 
Flood response  780,222 - 
Utilities 865,763 823,048 
Parks and reserves maintenance 373,439 419,572 
Professional services 450,499 376,035 
Total materials and services 16,022,425 15,391,331 
   

Note 11 Contributions paid   
   
Aged and community care 3,422,903 3,223,288 
Community Grants and sponsorships 306,580 313,426 
Contributions to committees of management 788,671 774,173 
Education/scholarship programs 15,000 12,303 
Other contributions paid 9,991 82,280 
 4,543,145 4,405,470 
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Note 12  Bad and doubtful debts 
 

Parking and by-law debtors (4,948) 10,423 
Rates debtors 12,475 - 
Private schemes (11,187) 16,184 
Other debtors (57,344) 62,835 
Total bad and doubtful debts (61,004) 89,442 

 
Note 13 Depreciation and amortisation 
 

Buildings   
Buildings – freehold 518,114 467,957 
Buildings – other controlled 460,258 233,734 
Plant and equipment   
Plant, machinery and equipment 957,261 895,864 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 95,944 99,596 
Computers and telecommunications 167,081 157,839 
Infrastructure   
Sealed roads 2,084,521 1,490,686 
Unsealed roads 592,894 563,851 
Kerb and channel 291,178 286,280 
Footpaths 260,824 260,824 
Drainage 469,156 457,187 
Waste management 86,771 61,141 
Other infrastructure 507,315 456,218 
Cultural and heritage assets   
Library collection 31,783 192,419 
Artworks 14,509 12,909 
Pioneer Settlement plant & office equipment - 3,140 
Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels 42,742 40,391 
Pioneer Settlement site exhibits 15,228 14,287 
Pioneer Settlement other infrastructure - 10,701 
Pioneer Settlement buildings 43,930 100,655 
Total depreciation and amortisation 6,639,509 5,805,679 
   

 
Note 14 Finance costs 
 

Bank overdraft charges   
Interest – borrowings 392,226 373,937 
Interest – finance leases 15,883 30,158 
Total finance costs 408,109 404,095 

 
 
Note 15 Other expenses 
 

Auditors’ remuneration 58,314 40,197 
Councillor emoluments 208,950 204,114 
Vehicle registrations 84,394 86,954 
Bank charges 50,135 51,694 
Software licences 73,342 25,310 
Asset write offs/adjustments 736,750 2,574,241 
Legal costs 65,017 65,863 
Other  57,736 50,608 
Total other expenses 1,334,638 3,098,981 



 
 
 
 
 

116 |  SHRCC—Annual Report 2010/11 

General Purpose Financial 
Statements 

 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Note 16 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash on hand 6,475 6,440 
Cash at bank 108,337 242,114 
Money market call account 3,610,000 2,430,000 
Bank bills 7,614,160 7,734,488 
Total cash and cash equivalents 11,338,972 10,413,042 
   
Users of the financial report should refer to Note 32 for details of restrictions on cash 
assets and note 34 for details of existing Council commitments. 

  

 
 
Note 17 Trade and other receivables 
 

Current   
Rates debtors 268,078 1,282,474 
Provision for doubtful debts – rates debtors (41,035) (28,560) 
Parking infringement and by-laws debtors 36,913 43,740 
Provision for doubtful debts – parking infringement and by-law debtors (24,398) (29,346) 
Private scheme debtors 66,522 57,520 
Provision for doubtful debts – private scheme debtors (10,573) (21,761) 
Other debtors 417,257 558,176 
Provision for doubtful debts – other debtors (21,009) (79,227) 
Net GST receivable 230,923 269,573 
Total 922,678 2,052,589 

 
Non-current   
Private scheme debtors 177,842 214,206 
Total 177,842 214,206 

 
Total trade and other receivables 1,100,520 2,266,795 
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Note 18 Financial assets 
 

Current   
Bank bills (note 1(j)) 3,457,609 2,600,000 
Total financial assets 3,457,609 2,600,000 

 
 
Note 19 Inventories 
 

Inventories held for distribution 137,331 360,310 
Inventories held for resale 23,412 24,130 
Total inventories 160,743 384,440 

 
 
Note 20 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
 

Tower Hill Estate   
Opening balance 105,380 125,205 
Cost of acquisitions - 36,164 
Cost of goods sold (23,371) (55,989) 
Closing balance – non current assets classified as held for sale 82,009 105,380 

 
 
Note 21 Other assets 
 

Current   
Prepayments 83,194 63,198 
Accrued income 201,564 132,770 
Other 3,273 14,179 
Total other assets 288,031 210,147 
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 
 

Summary   
At cost 22,438,913 23,192,002 
Less accumulated depreciation (9,411,079) (9,487,695) 
 13,027,834 13,704,307 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2005 - 1,080,000 
Less accumulated depreciation - (53,999) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 5,631,877 24,427,181 
Less accumulated depreciation (3,362,936) (11,397,409) 

At fair value as at 30 June 2007 109,382,940 144,285,936 
Less accumulated depreciation (33,308,915) (44,752,409) 

At Council valuation as at 31 December 2008 15,984,747 15,984,747 
Less accumulated depreciation (8,707,212) (8,420,461) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2009 13,549,506 13,558,097 
Less accumulated depreciation (7,908,779) (7,698,426) 

At Council valuation as at 30 June 2010 136,700,517 137,066,207 
less accumulated depreciation (61,250,991) (59,350,263) 

At fair value as at 30 June 2010 109,835,553 109,393,103 
Less accumulated depreciation (59,145,867) (58,123,565) 

At fair value as at 30 June 2011 70,258,631 - 
Less accumulated depreciation (24,081,328) - 

 263,577,743 255,998,739 

Total 276,605,577 269,703,046
 
 
 

  

Property 
 

  

Land - freehold   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 15,331,618 15,219,718 
 15,331,618 15,219,718 
Land – other controlled   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 6,123,900 5,795,800 
 6,123,900 5,795,800 
Land – under roads   
At deemed cost 5,210 5,210 
 5,210 5,210 
Total Land 21,460,728 21,020,728 
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
Buildings on freehold land 

  

At cost 115,757 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 
 115,757 - 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 44,706,591 44,712,495 
Less accumulated depreciation (28,411,460) (27,898,100) 
 16,295,131 16,814,395 
   
Buildings on other controlled land   
At cost 171,257 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 
 171,257 - 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 37,049,847 37,041,493 
Less accumulated depreciation (25,557,615) (25,092,603) 
 11,492,232 11,948,890 

 
   
Total Buildings 28,074,377 28,763,285 
   
Total Property 49,535,105 49,784,013 
   
Fair value of land was determined at 30 June 2010 by qualified independent valuer Mr Franz J Turzi, Dip.Agr.Sc. 
AAPI (VAL) Certified Practicing Valuer - State of Victoria of Franz J Turzi and Associates Pty Ltd.  The valuation of 
land is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning 
provisions. 
 
Land under roads is valued at deemed cost.  Deemed cost is based on Council valuations at 30 June 2008 for land 
under roads in existence at that date and at the date acquired for subsequent acquisitions using site values 
adjusted for englobo characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services. 
 
During the year, the classification of Buildings has been reviewed in detail.  A number of buildings have been 
reclassified from buildings on freehold land to buildings on other controlled land.  
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

 
2011 

$ 

 
2010 

$ 

Plant and Equipment    
   
Plant and equipment   
At cost 10,484,322 10,229,638 
Less accumulated depreciation (6,249,780) (6,150,431) 

 4,234,542 4,079,207 
Fixtures, fittings and furniture   
At cost 1,243,221 1,201,950 
Less accumulated depreciation (982,589) (882,915) 

 260,632 319,035 
Computers and telecommunications   
At cost 962,188 1,015,421 
Less accumulated depreciation (701,337) (649,393) 
 260,851 366,028 

   
Total plant and equipment 4,756,025 4,764,270 

   
   
Cultural and heritage assets   

   
Artworks   
At cost - 141,347 
Less accumulated depreciation - (11,309) 

 - 130,038 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2005 - 1,080,000 
Less accumulated depreciation - (53,999) 

 - 1,026,001 
   

At fair value as at 30 June 2011 1,543,373 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 1,543,373 - 
Library collection   
At cost 1,681,177 1,634,593 
Less accumulated depreciation (1,373,858) (1,423,026) 

 307,319 211,567 
   

Pioneer Settlement plant and office equipment   
At cost - 30,396 
Less accumulated depreciation - (19,277) 

 - 11,119 
 

Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels   
At cost - 527,284 
Less accumulated depreciation - (11,994) 

  515,290 
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels (cont)   
At fair value 30 June 2006 - 3,639,300 
Less accumulated depreciation - (145,572) 

 - 3,493,728 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2011 4,896,872 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 4,896,872 - 
   
Pioneer Settlement other infrastructure   
At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 - 696,898 
Less accumulated depreciation - (115,552) 

 - 581,346 
   
Pioneer Settlement site exhibits   

     At fair value 30 June 2006 - 1,428,509 
     Less accumulated depreciation - (57,141) 
 - 1,371,368 

   
At fair value as at 30 June 2011 1,971,501 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 

 1,971,501 - 
   

Pioneer Settlement buildings   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 6,623,597 6,623,597 
Less accumulated depreciation (5,176,792) (5,132,862) 

 1,446,805 1,490,735 
   
Total cultural and heritage assets 10,165,870 8,831,192 
 
 
 
Fair value of Council's permanent artwork collection was prepared in 2010 on the basis of Estimated Replacement Cost 
on the Australian Market by Mr Warren Joel, Managing Director of Leonard Joel Australia, South Yarra, Victoria. 

 
Valuation of Pioneer Settlement vehicles and vessels and site exhibit assets was conducted by qualified independent 
valuer Mr David Freeman, member of Auctioneers and Valuers Association of Australia, and Chief Executive Officer of 
Amanda Adams Auctions, Bulleen, Victoria.  The valuation is based on average market realisation prices that should be 
obtained if the items were sold via private treaty or auction sales. 
 
Fair value of Pioneer Settlement buildings was determined at 30 June 2010 by qualified independent valuer Mr Franz J 
Turzi, Dip.Agr.Sc. AAPI (VAL) Certified Practicing Valuer - State of Victoria of Franz J Turzi and Associates Pty Ltd.  The 
valuation of buildings is determined from market-based evidence if the building is considered to be of resaleable value.  
If there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialised nature of the building a depreciated 
replacement cost approach is used to determine market value. 
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$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

Infrastructure   
   

Sealed roads   
At cost 2,201,324 - 
Less accumulated depreciation - - 
 2,201,324 - 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2010 136,700,517 137,066,207 
Less accumulated depreciation (61,250,991) (59,350,263) 
 75,449,526 77,715,944 
   
Unsealed roads   
At cost  1,689,255 775,077 
Less accumulated depreciation (6,972) - 
 1,682,283 775,077 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2007 109,382,940 109,382,940 
Less accumulated depreciation (33,308,915) (32,722,992) 
 76,074,025 76,659,948 
Kerb and channel   
At cost 244,225 224,508 
Less accumulated depreciation (4,427) - 
 239,798 224,508 
   
At Council valuation as at 30 June 2008 15,984,747 15,984,747 
Less accumulated depreciation (8,707,212) (8,420,461) 
 7,277,535 7,564,286 
   
Footpaths and cycleways   
At cost 1,331,891 1,015,545 
Less accumulated depreciation (92,116) (46,058) 

 1,239,775 969,487 
   
At Council valuation as at 30 June 2009 13,549,506 13,558,097 
Less accumulated depreciation (7,908,779) (7,698,426) 
 5,640,727 5,859,671 
   
Drainage   
At cost - 2,908,035 
Less accumulated depreciation - (50,865) 
 - 2,857,170 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2007 - 34,902,996 
Less accumulated depreciation - (12,029,417) 
 - 22,873,579 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2011 39,482,963 - 
Less accumulated depreciation (13,705,951) - 
 25,777,012 - 
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2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont)   
   
Waste management assets   
At cost - 46,342 
Less accumulated depreciation - (2,317) 
 - 44,025 
   
At Council valuation as at 30 June 2006 5,631,877 5,470,000 
Less accumulated depreciation (3,362,936) (2,971,799) 
 2,268,941 2,498,201 

 
Other infrastructure   
At cost - 2,561,514 
Less accumulated depreciation - (240,110) 
 - 2,321,404 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2006 - 13,192,474 
Less accumulated depreciation - (8,107,345) 
 - 5,085,129 
   
At fair value as at 30 June 2011 22,340,458 - 
Less accumulated depreciation (10,351,913) - 
 11,988,545 - 
Total infrastructure 209,839,491 205,448,429 

 
Sealed roads, including sealed road ancillary assets, were brought to account at Council Officer's valuation at 30 
June 2010 by Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon condition ratings collected during 2009/2010.  
Current replacement costs are determined by reference to current sealing and construction contract prices.  Values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 
 
Kerb and channel were brought to account at Council officer’s valuation at 31 December 2008. The valuation was 
undertaken by Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon Condition rating collected in November and 
December 2008.  Asset values represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining 
useful lives. 
 
Footpaths were brought to account at Council officer’s valuation at 30 June 2009. The valuation was undertaken by 
Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon Condition rating collected in March 2009.  Asset values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 
 
Fair value of unsealed roads and drainage assets were brought to account at fair value at 31 December 2010 and 
was undertaken by Council Officer Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon Cordell Building and 
Plumbing Cost Guides and physical inspection of the assets, and represents the written down replacement costs 
allowing for the remaining useful life of these assets.   
 
Fair value of other infrastructure assets were determined at 30 June 2011 and was undertaken by council officer 
Roger Lambert, BE(Civil). The valuation is based upon Cordell Building and Plumbing Cost Guides, recent job 
costing analysis and physical inspection of the assets, and represents the written down replacement costs allowing 
for the remaining useful life of these assets. 
 
Waste Management assets were brought to account at Officer’s Valuation at 30 June 2006.  The valuation took into 
account movements in condition and costs of construction at that date and was undertaken by Council Officer Roger 
Lambert, BE(Civil), based upon current replacement costs and physical inspection of the assets.  Asset values 
represent the written down replacement costs of the assets allowing for remaining useful lives. 

 
Works in progress   
Capital Works in progress 2,309,086 875,142 
   
Total property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 276,605,577 269,703,046 
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 
 

 

 
2011 

 
 

Balance at 
beginning of 
financial year 

Acquisition of 
assets 

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements) 
(note 28) 

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
(note 13) 

Written 
down value 
of disposals 

Transfers 
 

Balance at 
end of 

financial year 
 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Property        
Land - freehold 15,219,718 - - - (30,000) 141,900 15,331,618 
Land under roads 5,210 - - - - - 5,210 
Land - other controlled 5,795,800 - - - - 328,100 6,123,900 
Total land 21,020,728 - - - (30,000) 470,000 21,460,728 
        
Buildings – freehold 16,814,395 115,757 - (518,114) - (1,150) 16,410,888 
Buildings – other controlled 11,948,890 171,257 - (460,258) - 3,600 11,663,489 
Total buildings 28,763,285 287,014 - (978,372) - 2,450 28,074,377 
Total property 49,784,013 287,014 - (978,372) (30,000) 472,450 49,535,105 
        
Plant and Equipment        
Plant, machinery and 
equipment 4,079,207 1,587,369 - (957,261) (566,243) 91,470 4,234,542 
Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment 319,035 - - (95,944) - 37,541 260,632 
Computers and 
telecommunications 366,028 59,689  (167,081) (520) 2,735 260,851 
Total plant and equipment 4,764,270 1,647,058 - (1,220,286) (566,763) 131,746 4,756,025 
        
Infrastructure        
Sealed roads 77,715,944 2,200,690 - (2,084,521) (181,897) 634 77,650,850 
Unsealed roads 77,435,025 914,177 - (592,894) - - 77,756,308 
Kerb & channel 7,788,794 19,717 - (291,178) - - 7,517,333 
Footpaths 6,829,158 316,346 - (260,824) (4,178) - 6,880,502 
Drainage 25,730,749 - 526,917 (469,156) (11,498) - 25,777,012 
Waste management 2,542,226 131,877 - (86,771) - (318,391) 2,268,941 
Other infrastructure 7,406,533 404,540 4,626,159 (507,315) (234,657) 293,285 11,988,545 
Total infrastructure 205,448,429 3,987,347 5,153,076 (4,292,659) (432,230) (24,472) 209,839,491 
        
Cultural and heritage 
assets 

       

Library collection 211,567 127,535 - (31,783) - - 307,319 
Artworks 1,156,039 10,600 403,946 (14,509) (12,703) - 1,543,373 
Pioneer Settlement plant & 
office equipment 11,119 - - - - (11,119) - 
Pioneer Settlement vehicles &  
vessels 4,009,018 22,500 922,488 (42,742) (22,490) 8,098 4,896,872 
Pioneer Settlement site 
exhibits 1,371,368 19,500 595,861 (15,228) - - 1,971,501 
Pioneer Settlement other  
infrastructure 581,346 - - - (174,031) (407,315) - 
Pioneer Settlement buildings 1,490,735 - - (43,930) - - 1,446,805 
Total cultural and heritage 
assets 8,831,192 180,135 1,922,295 (148,192) (209,224) (410,336) 10,165,870 
 
 

       

Works in progress        
Total works in progress 875,142 1,603,332 - - - (169,388) 2,309,086 
Total property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 269,703,046 7,704,886 7,075,371 (6,639,509) (1,238,217) - 276,605,577 
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Note 22 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment(cont) 

 

 
2010 

 
 

Balance at 
beginning of 
financial year 

Acquisition of 
assets 

Revaluation 
increments 

(decrements) 
(note 28) 

Depreciation 
and 

amortisation 
(note 13) 

Written down 
value of 

disposals 

Transfers 
 

Balance at 
end of 

financial year 
 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Property        
Land - freehold 13,110,209 648,718 2,221,899 - (761,108) - 15,219,718 
Land under roads 1,542 3,668 - - - - 5,210 
Land - other controlled 3,677,572 - 2,287,728 - (169,500) - 5,795,800 
Total land 16,789,323 652,386 4,509,627 - (930,608) - 21,020,728 
        
Buildings – freehold 17,337,781 1,115,999 (1,167,993) (467,957) (21,374) 17,939 16,814,395 
Buildings – other controlled 13,312,455 13,835 (988,748) (233,734) (154,918)  11,948,890 
Total buildings 30,650,236 1,129,834 (2,156,741) (701,691) (176,292) 17,939 28,763,285 
Total property 47,439,559 1,782,220 2,352,886 (701,691) (1,106,900) 17,939 49,784,013 
        
Plant and Equipment        
Plant, machinery and 
equipment 

 
4,172,177 

 
1,320,930 

 
- 

 
(895,864) 

 
(518,036) 

 
- 

 
4,079,207 

Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment 

 
418,631 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(99,596) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
319,035 

Computers and 
telecommunications 398,399 125,611 - (157,839) (143) - 366,028 
Total plant and equipment 4,989,207 1,446,541 - (1,153,299) (518,179) - 4,764,270 
        
Infrastructure        
Sealed roads 66,588,189 4,359,968 9,986,099 (1,490,686) (1,914,130) 186,504 77,715,944 
Unsealed roads 77,223,798 775,078 - (563,851) -  77,435,025 
Kerb & channel 7,893,748 224,508 - (286,280) (43,182) - 7,788,794 
Footpaths 6,116,927 596,720 - (260,824) (42,490) 418,825 6,829,158 
Drainage 25,909,284 267,603 - (457,187) - 11,049 25,730,749 
Waste management 2,603,367 - - (61,141) - - 2,542,226 
Other infrastructure 7,098,965 685,874 - (456,218) - 77,912 7,406,533 
Total infrastructure 193,434,278 6,909,751 9,986,099 (3,576,187) (1,999,802) 694,290 205,448,429 
        
Cultural and heritage 
assets 

       

Library collection 285,096 118,890 - (192,419) - - 211,567 
Artworks 1,112,438 56,510 - (12,909) - - 1,156,039 
Pioneer Settlement plant & 
office equipment 14,259 - - (3,140) - - 11,119 
Pioneer Settlement vehicles &  
vessels 3,921,938 124,321 - (40,391) - 3,150 4,009,018 
Pioneer Settlement site 
exhibits 1,385,655 - - (14,287) - - 1,371,368 
Pioneer Settlement other  
infrastructure 592,047 - - (10,701) - - 581,346 
Pioneer Settlement buildings 1,520,070 96,295 (102,358) (100,655) - 77,383 1,490,735 
Total cultural and heritage 
assets 8,831,503 396,016 (102,358) (374,502) - 80,533 8,831,192 
 
 

       

Works in progress        
Total works in progress 1,054,859 613,045 - - - (792,762) 875,142 
Total property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 255,749,406 11,147,573 12,236,627 (5,805,679) (3,624,881) - 269,703,046 
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 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
 
Note 23 Intangible assets 
 

Water rights 950,272 863,334 
Total intangible assets 950,272 863,334 

   
Gross carrying amount – Water rights   
Balance at beginning of financial year 863,334 1,135,200 
Acquisitions 72,384 - 
Asset revaluation movement 14,554 (271,866) 
Balance at end of financial year 950,272 863,334 

 
Note 24 Trade and other payables 

   
Accrued expenses – operating  862,240 1,047,664 
Accrued expenses – capital 347,929 - 
Salaries and wages 535,455 469,574 
Trade creditors – operating 237,355 623,919 
Trade creditors - capital 126,698 68,957 
Total trade and other payables 2,109,677 2,210,114 

   
Note 25 Trust funds and deposits 
   

Refundable house removal deposits 57,600 62,600 
Refundable vehicle crossing deposits 18,955 15,800 
Refundable design section security deposits 58,639 25,999 
Refundable civic facilities deposits 14,970 9,064 
Retention amounts 71,411 176,918 
Other refundable deposits 6,572 4,385 
Total trust funds and deposits 228,147 294,766 

   
Note 26 Provisions 
 

2011 

Annual 
leave 

$ 

Long service 
leave 

$ 

Landfill 
restoration 

$ 

Other 
 
$ 

Total 
 

$ 
Balance at beginning of the 
financial year 

1,258,754 2,282,818 965,840 70,802 4,578,214 

Additional provisions 930,274 217,326 131,877 - 1,279,477 
Amounts used (814,786) (77,804) - (50,202) (942,792) 
Balance at the end of the financial 
year 1,374,242 2,422,340 1,097,717 20,600 4,914,899 

 
2010      
Balance at beginning of the 
financial year 

1,092,239 2,231,061 965,840 - 4,289,140 

Additional provisions 798,289 122,181 - 70,802 991,272 
Amounts used (631,774) (70,424) - - (702,198) 
Balance at the end of the financial 
year 1,258,754 2,282,818 965,840 70,802 4,578,214 
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 2011 2010 Note 

26
 Provisions (cont) 

$ $ 

 

(a) Employee benefits   
Current           (i)   
Annual leave 1,374,242 1,258,754 
Long service leave 2,051,273 2,014,067 
 3,425,515 3,272,821 
Non-current   (ii)   
Long service leave 371,067 268,751 
 371,067 268,751 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee benefits:   
Current 3,425,515 3,272,821 
Non-current 371,067 268,751 
 3,796,582 3,541,572 

 

The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of 
employee benefits: 

  

Weighted average increase in employee costs 4.60% 4.50% 
Weighted average discount rates 2.56% 2.31% 
Weighted average settlement period 14 years 14 years 

 

(i) Current   
All annual leave and long service leave entitlements representing 10 or 
more years 

  

-Short-term employee benefits, that fall due within 12 months after the end 
of the period measured at nominal value 2,895,650 2,705,254 
-Other long-term employee benefits that do not fall due within 12 months 
after the end of the period measured at present value 529,865 567,567 
 3,425,515 3,272,821 
(ii) Non-current   
Long service leave representing less than 10 years of continuous service 
measured at present value 371,067 268,751 
   
(b) Landfill restoration   
Under the Environmental Protection Act 1970, Council is obligated to restore the Swan Hill Landfill site to a 
particular standard.  Current Waste Management projections indicate that the Swan Hill Landfill site will cease 
operation in 2047 and restoration work is expected to commence shortly thereafter.  The forecast life of the 
Swan Hill Landfill site is based on current estimates of remaining capacity and the forecast rate of infill.  The 
provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of works 
to be undertaken.  The expected cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work 
required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard.  Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is 
dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work required and related costs.  

 

Council does not expect to receive reimbursement from a third party.   
   
Non-current   
Landfill remediation provision 1,097,717 965,840 
   
(c) Other Provisions   
Council has recognised a provision for the payment of extraction royalties to the land owner of a newly 
acquired Limestone site.  The land owner will be paid per unit of limestone as its used by Council.  This 
Limestone is to be used in the renewal and construction of Council road assets and the site is expected to 
have a useful life of 12 months. 
Current   
Limestone site extraction royalties 20,600 70,802 

   

Total Provisions   
Current 3,446,115 3,343,623 
Non-current 1,468,784 1,234,591 
 4,914,899 4,578,214 
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Note 27 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 

Current   
Borrowings – secured 1,191,722 1,117,271 
   
Non-current   
Borrowings - secured 6,095,997 5,487,496 
   
Total 7,287,719 6,604,767 
   
The maturity profile for Council’s borrowings is:   

 
Not later than one year 43,508 32,779 
Later than one year and not later than five years 2,543,855 3,618,579 
Later that five years 4,700,356 2,953,409 
Total 7,287,719 6,604,767 

 
 

Finance leases   
 
Council had the following obligations under finance leases for the lease of equipment (the sum of which is 
recognised as a liability after deduction of future lease finance charges included in the obligation): 
   
Not later than one year - 64,629 
Later than one year and not later than five years - - 
Minimum lease payments - 64,629 
Less: future finance charges - (15,883) 
Recognised in the balance sheet as: - 48,746 

 
Current   
Leases - 48,746 
Total - 48,746 

 
 

Aggregate carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings:   
Current 1,191,722 1,166,017 
Non-current 6,095,997 5,487,496 
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 7,287,719 6,653,513 
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Note 28 Reserves 
 
Asset revaluation reserve 

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting 
period 

Increment 
(decrement) 

Transfer to 
equity 

Balance at 
end of 

reporting 
period 

 $ $ $ $ 
2011     

Property     
Land 8,986,787 - - 8,986,787 
Buildings 9,112,325 - - 9,112,325 
 18,099,112 - - 18,099,112 
Infrastructure     
Sealed roads 21,271,082 - - 21,271,082 
Kerb and channel 5,785,332 - - 5,785,332 
Unsealed roads 19,046,144 - - 19,046,144 
Footpaths 3,227,578 - - 3,227,578 
Drainage 7,783,678 526,917 - 8,310,595 
Other infrastructure 1,651,623 4,626,159 - 6,277,782 
 58,765,437 5,153,076 - 63,918,513 
Cultural and heritage assets     
Artworks 1,073,657 403,946 - 1,477,603 
Pioneer Settlement 4,250,579 1,518,349 - 5,768,928 
 5,324,236 1,922,295 - 7,246,531 
     
Water rights 292,963 14,554 - 307,517 
     
Total asset revaluation reserve 82,481,748 7,089,925 - 89,571,673 
 
2010 

    

Property     
Land 4,477,160 4,509,627 - 8,986,787 
Buildings 11,269,066 (2,156,741) - 9,112,325 
 15,746,226 2,352,886 - 18,099,112 
Infrastructure     
Sealed roads 11,284,983 9,986,099 - 21,271,082 
Kerb and channel 5,785,332 - - 5,785,332 
Unsealed roads 19,046,144 - - 19,046,144 
Footpaths 3,227,578 - - 3,227,578 
Drainage 7,783,678 - - 7,783,678 
Other infrastructure 1,651,623 - - 1,651,623 
 48,779,338 9,986,099 - 58,765,437 
Cultural and heritage assets     
Artworks 1,073,657 - - 1,073,657 
Pioneer Settlement 4,352,937 (102,358) - 4,250,579 
 5,426,594 (102,358) - 5,324,236 
     
Water rights 564,829 (271,866) - 292,963 
     
Total asset revaluation reserve 70,516,987 11,964,761 - 82,481,748 
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2010 

$ 
Note 29 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus (deficit) 
 
Comprehensive result 6,633,714 11,684,602 
   
Asset revaluation increment (7,089,925) (11,964,761) 
Depreciation/amortisation 6,639,509 5,805,679 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure (33,423) (300,324) 
Provision of doubtful debts (61,879) 80,331 
Contributions – Non monetary assets (164,685) (825,842) 
Assets written off 736,750 2,574,241 
Reallocation of borrowing costs to financing activities 408,109 404,095 
Reallocation of non-cash finance sources – landfills (131,877) - 
   
Change in assets and liabilities:   
(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables 1,228,154 (913,068) 
(Increase) / Decrease in other operating assets (77,884) 385,845 
Increase / (Decrease) in accrued expenses (119,543) 894,300 
Decrease in trade and other payables (453,181) (592,228) 
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories 247,068 (252,115) 
Increase in provisions 336,685 289,074 
   
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,097,592 7,269,829 
 
 
Note 30 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 16)  11,338,972 10,413,042 
Less bank overdraft - - 
Total reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 11,338,972 10,413,042 
 
   
 
Note 31 Financing arrangements 
 
Bank overdraft 500,000 500,000 
Used facilities - - 
Unused facilities 500,000 500,000 
 
 
Note 32 Restricted assets 

 
Council has cash and cash equivalents (note 16) that are subject to restrictions.  As at the reporting date, Council had 
legislative restrictions in relation to employee entitlements (Long Service Leave) and refundable trust deposits (Trust 
funds). 
 
Long service leave (note 26) * 2,012,646 1,919,989 
Trust funds (note 25) 228,147 294,766 
Total restricted assets 2,240,793 2,214,755 
 
* Restricted asset for long service leave is based on the Local Government (Long Service Leave) Regulations 2002 and 
does not necessarily equate to the long service leave liability disclosed in note 26 due to a different basis of calculations 
prescribed by the regulation. 
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Note 33 Superannuation 
 
Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund (the Fund).  Obligations for contributions are recognised as an expense in profit and loss when 
they are due. The Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded 
differently. 
The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee contributions on a 
progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (9% required 
under Superannuation Guarantee Legislation).  No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation 
benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.   
 
The Fund's Defined Benefit Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan.  As the Fund's assets and liabilities are pooled and 
are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to reliably allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers.  As provided under Paragraph 32 (b) of AASB 119, Council does not use defined benefit accounting for these 
contributions. 
 
Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefits category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on 
the advice of the Fund's Actuary.  On the basis of the results of the most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by 
the Fund's Actuary as at 31 December 2008, Council makes the following contributions:- 

x 9.25% of members’ salaries (same as previous year); 
x the difference between resignation and retrenchment benefits paid to any retrenched employees, plus 

contribution tax (same as previous year); 
 

The Fund Surplus or deficit (ie the difference between fund assets and liabilities) is calculated differently for funding 
purposes (ie calculating required contributions) and for the calculation of accrued benefits as required in AAS 25 to 
provide the values needed for the AAS119 disclosure in the Council’s financial statements.  AAS 25 requires that the 
present value of the defined benefit liability to be calculated based on benefits that have accrued in respect of 
membership of the plan up to the measurement date, with no allowance for future benefits that may accrue.   
 
Following an actuarial review conducted by the Trustee in late 2010, as at 31 December 2008, a funding shortfall of $71 
million for the Fund was determined.  A call to Employers for additional contributions was made for the financial year 30 
June 2011.  A further actuarial review will be undertaken as at 31 December 2011 by mid 2012.  Based on the result of 
this review, a detailed funding plan will be developed and implemented to achieve the target of full funding by 31 
December 2013.  Council will be notified of any additional required contributions by late 2012.  
 
The Fund’s liability for accrued benefits was determined by the Actuary in the 31 December 2008 actuarial review 
pursuant to the requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AAS 25 as follows: 
 
 31 December 

2008 
$’000 

Net Market Value of Assets 3,630,432 
Accrued Benefits (per accounting standards) 3,616,422 
Difference between Assets and Accrued Benefits 14,010 
Vested Benefits 3,561,588 
 
The financial assumptions used to calculate the Accrued Benefits for the defined benefit category of the Fund were: 
Net Investment Return – 8.50% p.a. 
Salary Inflation – 4.25% p.a. 
Price Inflation – 2.75% p.a. 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Fund   
Defined benefits plans   
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 1,144,595 260,101 
Employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) at 
reporting date - - 
Accumulation funds   
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 1,455,874 929,316 
Employer contributions payable to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) at 
reporting date - - 
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Note 34 Commitments 
The Council has entered into the following commitments: 

 
2011 

Not later than 
1 year 

Later than 1 
year and 
not later 
than 2 
years 

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years 

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Operating     
Recycling 725,365 765,987 3,063,948 4,555,300 
Garbage collection 689,823 744,954 2,950,199 4,384,976 
Leisure centre management 796,000 798,000 1,596,000 3,190,000 
Information systems and technology 67,884 67,884 67,884 203,652 
Tree maintenance contracts 286,388 - - 286,388 
Cleaning contracts for council buildings 482,222 718,252 718,252 1,918,726 
Home maintenance services 235,134 - - 235,134 
Valuation services – 2010 General Valuations 135,507 16,307 146,000 297,814 
Security Services 32,864 - - 32,864 
Operation of PS Pyap 120,000 - - 120,000 
Swan Hill Planning Scheme 38,250 - - 38,250 
Internal Audit Services 30,000 30,000 - 60,000 
Aboriginal Strategic Placement 36,000 - - 36,000 
Supply of Document Output Devices 120,000 120,000 240,000 480,000 
Swan Hill Community Hub Project 110,982 - - 110,982 
Review of Residential Strategy  30,000 - - 30,000 
Loddon Mallee Local Gov’t Consortium – Aged 
Care 28,500 - - 28,500 
Swan Hill Rural Youth Access Research Project 26,000 - - 26,000 
Habitat Planning 18,000 - - 18,000 
Total 4,008,919 3,261,384 8,782,283 16,052,586 
     
Capital     
Gravel & Shoulder Resheeting & Reconstruction 
of Roads 

691,700 - - 691,700 

Enlarge Main Pump Station – Civil Works 157,835 - - 157,835 
Construction & Installation of Shade Structures 240,445 - - 240,445 
Supply of Electrical Infrastructure Steggall Park 61,473 - - 61,473 
Swan Hill CBD Redevelopment 179,770 62,964 41,976 284,710 
Total 1,331,223 62,964 41,976 1,436,163 
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2010 

Not later 
than 1 year 

Later than 
1 year and 
not later 
than 2 
years 

Later than 2 
years and 
not later 

than 5 years 

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Operating     
Recycling 45,000 - - 45,000 
Garbage collection 338,709 - - 338,709 
Leisure centre management 816,500 816,500 2,428,500 4,061,500 
Information systems and technology 372,487 372,487 280,212 1,025,186 
Tree maintenance contracts 300,000 300,000 300,000 900,000 
Cleaning contracts for council buildings 469,000 - - 469,000 
Home maintenance services 185,500 185,500 - 371,000 
Valuation services – 2010 General Valuations 263,192 - - 263,192 
Security Services 33,000 - - 33,000 
Operation of PS Pyap 90,500 - - 90,500 
Swan Hill Planning Scheme 38,250 - - 38,250 
Internal Audit Services 30,000 30,000 30,000 90,000 
Disability Action Plan 20,000 - - 20,000 
Performing Arts 5,835 - - 5,835 
Total 3,007,973 1,704,487 3,038,712 7,751,172 
     
Capital     
Buildings 75,250 451,000 - 526,250 
Plant and equipment 333,877 - - 333,877 
Roads 1,175,219 805,219 - 1,980,438 
Drainage - - - - 
Pioneer Settlement 65,450 - - 65,450 
Total 1,649,796 1,256,219 - 2,906,015 

  
 

2011 
$ 

 
 

2010 
$ 

Note 35 Operating leases 
 
Operating lease commitments 
 
At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable 
operating leases for the lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within 
Council’s activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities): 

  

   
Not later than one year 514,875 312,477 
Later that one year and not later that five years 1,209,596 1,267,895 
Later than five years 1,129,846 1,157,001 
 2,854,317 2,737,373 
 
Note 36 Contingent liabilities 
 
The Council is presently involved in several confidential legal matters, which are being conducted through Council’s 
solicitors.  As these matters are yet to be finalised, and the financial outcomes are unable to be reliably estimated, no 
allowance for these contingencies has been made in the financial report. 
 
Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional 
contributions to the scheme to ensure that the liabilities of the fund are covered by the assets of the fund.  As a result of 
the increased volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods has increased.  At 
this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential amount. 
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Note 37 Financial Instruments 
 
(a) Accounting Policy, Terms and Conditions 

 
Recognised 
Financial  
Instruments 

Note Accounting Policy Terms and Conditions 

Financial Assets    
 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
16 

 
Cash on hand and at bank and 
money market call accounts are 
valued at face value. 
 
Interest is recognised as it accrues. 
 
 
Investments and bills are valued at 
cost. 
 
Investments are held to maximise 
interest returns of surplus cash. 

 
On call deposits returned an interest rate of 4.40% to 
4.65% (2.9% to 4.40% in 2009/2010). The interest rate 
at balance date was 4.65% (4.40% in 2009/2010). 
 
Funds returned fixed interest rate of between 5.20% 
(3.2% in 2009/2010), and 6.30% (6.30% in 2009/2010) 
net of fees. 
 

 
Trade and other 
receivables 

   

� Other debtors 17 Receivables are carried amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method.  A provision for doubtful 
debts is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has occurred. 
 
Collectability of overdue accounts 
is assessed on an ongoing basis. 
 

General debtors are unsecured, not subject to interest.  
Credit terms of 30 days. 

Financial Liabilities   
Trade and other 
payables 

24 Liabilities are recognised for 
amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services provided to 
Council as at balance date whether 
or not invoices have been 
received. 
 

General Creditors are unsecured, not subject to interest 
charges and are normally settled within 30 days of 
invoice receipt. 

Interest bearing 
loans and 
borrowings 

27 Loans are carried at their principal 
amounts, which represent the 
present value of future cash flows 
associated with servicing the debt.  
Interest is accrued over the period 
it becomes due and recognised as 
part of payables. 

Borrowings are secured by way of mortgages over the 
general rates of the Council. 
 
The weighted average interest rate on borrowings is 
6.96% (6.69% in 2009/2010). 
 
 

  Finance leases are accounted for 
at their principal amount with the 
lease payments discounted to 
present value using the interest 
rates implicit in the leases. 

As at balance date, the Council had no finance leases. 
 
The weighted average rate implicit in the lease is 0% 
(6.53% in 2009/2010). 

    
Bank Overdraft 27 Overdrafts are recognised at the 

principal amount.  Interest is 
charged as an expense as it 
accrues. 

The overdraft is subject to annual review.  It is secured 
by a mortgage over Council’s general rates and is 
repayable on demand.   
The interest rate as at balance date was 10.74% 
(10.49% in 2009/2010). 
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Note 37 Financial Instruments (cont) 
 
(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 
The exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both 
recognised and unrecognised, at balance date are as follows: 
 

 Fixed interest maturing in:  
 

2011 
Floating 

interest rate 
$ 

1 year or 
less 

$ 

Over 1 to 5 
years 

$ 

More than 5 
years 

$ 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 3,718,337 7,614,160 - - 6,475 11,338,972 
Other financial assets - 3,457,609 - - - 3,457,609 
Trade and other receivables - 55,949 177,842 - 408,763 642,554 
Other assets - - - - 288,031 288,031 
Total financial assets 3,718,337 11,127,718 177,842 - 703,269 15,727,166 
       
Weighted average interest  
rate 4.62% 5.97%  

   

       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 2,109,677 2,109,677 
Trust funds and deposits - - - - 228,147 228,147 
Interest-bearing loans and  
borrowings - 43,508 2,543,855 4,700,356 - 7,287,719 
Total financial liabilities - 43,508 2,543,855 4,700,356 2,337,824 9,625,543 
       
Weighted average interest  
rate 

 
5.82% 6.38% 7.29% 

  

       
       
Net financial assets 
(liabilities) 3,718,337 11,084,210 (2,366,013) (4,700,356) (1,634,555) 6,101,623 

 
 

 Fixed interest maturing in:  
 

2010 
Floating 

interest rate 
$ 

1 year or 
less 

$ 

Over 1 to 5 
years 

$ 

More than 5 
years 

$ 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 2,672,114 7,734,488 - - 6,440 10,413,042 
Other financial assets - 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 
Trade and other receivables - 35,759 214,206 - 493,343 743,308 
Other assets - - - - 210,147 210,147 
Total financial assets 2,672,114 10,370,247 214,206 - 709,930 13,966,497 
       
Weighted average interest  
rate 4.13% 5.49%  

   

       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 2,210,114 2,210,114 
Trust funds and deposits - - - - 294,766 294,766 
Interest-bearing loans and  
borrowings - 81,525 3,618,579 2,953,409 - 6,653,513 
Total financial liabilities - 81,525 3,618,579 2,953,409 2,504,880 9,158,393 
       
Weighted average interest  
rate 

 
6.69% 6.40% 7.05% 

  

       
       
Net financial assets 
(liabilities) 2,672,114 10,288,722 (3,404,373) (2,953,409) (1,794,950) 4,808,104 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 
(c) Net Fair Values 
 
The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at balance 
date are as follows: 

 Total carrying amount as per 
Balance Sheet 

Aggregate net fair value 

Financial Instruments 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

     
Financial assets     
  Cash and cash equivalents 11,338,972 10,413,042 11,338,972 10,413,042 
  Other financial assets 3,457,609 2,600,000 3,457,609 2,600,000 

  Trade and other receivables 642,554 743,308 642,554 743,308 
  Other assets 288,031 210,147 288,031 210,147 
Total financial assets 15,727,166 13,966,497 15,727,166 13,966,497 
     
Financial liabilities     
  Trade and other payables 2,109,677 2,210,114 2,109,677 2,210,114 
  Trust funds and deposits 228,147 294,766 228,147 294,766 
  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 7,287,719 6,653,513 5,716,560 5,716,560 
Total financial liabilities 9,625,543 9,158,393 8,054,384 8,221,440 

 
(d) Credit Risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is 
represented by the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet. 
 
(e) Risks and mitigation 
 
The risks associated with our main financial instruments and our policies for minimising these risks are detailed below. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices.  The Council’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant 
exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk.  Components of market risk to which we are 
exposed are discussed below. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities that we use.  Non derivative interest bearing assets are predominantly short term liquid assets.  Our interest 
rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which expose us to fair value interest 
rate risk. 
 
Our loan borrowings are sourced from major Australian banks by a tender process. Finance leases are sourced from 
major Australian financial institutions.  Overdrafts are arranged with major Australian banks.  We manage interest rate 
risk on our net debt portfolio by: 

� Ensuring access to diverse sources of funding; 
� Reducing risks of refinancing by managing in accordance with target maturity profiles; and 
� Setting prudential limits on interest repayments as a percentage of rate revenue. 

 
We manage the interest rate exposure on our net debt portfolio by appropriate budgeting strategies and obtaining 
approval for borrowings from the Department of Planning and Community Development each year. 
 
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989.  We 
manage interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures: 

� Conformity with State and Federal regulations and standards, 
� Capital protection, 
� Appropriate liquidity, 
� Diversification by credit rating, financial institution and investment product, 
� Monitoring of return on investment, 
� Benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget. 

Maturity will be staggered to provide for interest rate variations and to minimise interest rate risk. 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause us to 
make a financial loss.  We have exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in our balance sheet.  To help 
manage this risk: 
 

� We have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with; 
� We may require collateral where appropriate; and 
� We only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our 

investment policy. 
 
Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the consumer, business and 
government sectors.  Credit risk associated with the Council’s financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the 
Victorian Government.  Apart from the Victorian Government we do not have any significant credit risk exposure to a 
single customer or groups of customers.  Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of our 
customers and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful debts is raised. 
 
We may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the Balance Sheet, such as when we 
provide a guarantee for another party.  Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 36. 
 
 
Movement in Provisions for Doubtful Debts 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Balance at the beginning of the year 158,894 78,402 
New provisions recognised during the year 54,179 102,245 
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (875) (3,084) 
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year (115,183) (18,669) 
Balance at end of year 97,015 158,894 
 
Ageing of Trade and Other Receivables 
At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired.  These amounts relate to a number 
of independent customers whom there is no recent history of default.  The ageing of the Council’s Trade & Other Receivables 
was: 

 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Current (not yet due) 515,457 429,666 
Past due by up to 30 days 89,118 269,574 
Past due between 31 and 60 days 96,369 464,713 
Past due between 61 and 90 days 62,889 852,859 
Past due between 181 and 365 days 335,643 35,777 
Past due by more than 1 year 1,044 214,206 
Total trade and other receivables 1,100,520 2,266,795 
 
 
Ageing of Individually impaired Trade and Other Receivables. 
At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $97,015 (2010, $158,894) were 
impaired.  The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $97,015 (2010, $158,894).  The individually 
impaired debtors relate to general and sundry debtor and have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection.  
Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council’s debt collectors or are on payment 
arrangements. 
 
The ageing of Trade and Other Receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was: 
 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Current (not yet due) 1,686 467 
Past due by up to 30 days 2,288 1,829 
Past due between 31 and 60 days 2,477 2,422 
Past due between 61 and 90 days 2,847 2,511 
Past due between 91 and 365 days 24,352 86,857 
Past due by more than 1 year 63,365 64,808 
Total trade and other receivables 97,015 158,894 
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements: 

� We will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date; 
� We will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth; or 
� We may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all. 

 
To help reduce these risks we: 

� Have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be 
maintained; 

� Have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place; 
� Have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid 

instruments; 
� Monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and 
� Set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal 

repayments to rate revenue. 
 
The Council’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of 
risk. 
 
The table below lists the contractual maturities for Financial Liabilities. 
 
These amounts represent undiscounted gross payments including both principal and interest amounts 
 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
Months 

1-2  
Years 

2-5 
Years 

>5 
Years 

Contracted 
Cash Flow 

Carrying
Amount 

 
2011 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Trade and 

other 
payables 

2,109,677 - - - - 2,109,677 2,109,677 

Trust 
Funds and 
deposits 

228,147 - - - - 228,147 228,147 

Interest-
bearing 

loans and 
borrowings 

852,190 808,142 1,544,564 3,768,263 2,127,571 9,100,730 7,287,719 

Total 
financial 
liabilities 

3,190,014 808,142 1,544,564 3,768,263 2,127,571 11,438,554 9,625,543 

 
 

 
2010 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
Months 

1-2  
Years 

2-5 
Years 

>5 
Years 

Contracted 
Cash Flow 

Carrying
Amount 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Trade and 

other 
payables 

2,210,114 - - - - 2,210,114 2,210,114 

Trust 
Funds and 
deposits 

294,766 - - - - 294,766 294,766 

Interest-
bearing 

loans and 
borrowings 

832,806 758,156 1,404,613 3,831,141 1,306,437 8,133,153 6,653,513 

Total 
financial 
liabilities 

3,337,686 758,156 1,404,613 3,831,141 1,306,437 10,638,033 9,158,393 
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Note 37 Financial instruments (cont) 
 
(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis 
 
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, the Council believes the following movements are “reasonably possible” over the 
next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia); 
 

� A parallel shift of + 0.5% and -0.5% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 4.75% (2010, -0.5% 
and +1%). 

 
The table below discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial instruments held by 
the Council at year-end, if the above movements were to occur. 
 

 Interest rate risk 
Market risk exposure  +0.5% -0.5% 

  +50 basis points -50 basis points 
  Profit Equity Profit Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
2011 
Financial assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Financial Assets 
Trade and other receivables 
 

 
 

11,332,497 
3,457,609 

233,791 
 

 
 

56,662 
17,288 

1,169 

 
 

56,662 
17,288 

1,169 

 
 

(56,662) 
(17,288) 

(1,169) 

 
 

(56,662) 
(17,288) 

(1,169) 

Financial liabilities: 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 
  7,287,719 

  
36,439 

 
36,439 

 
(36,439) 

 
(36,439) 

 
 
 

 Interest rate risk 
Market risk exposure  -0.5% +1% 

  -50 basis points +100 basis points 
  Profit Equity Profit Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
2010 
Financial assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Other financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 
 

 
 

10,406,602 
2,600,000 

249,965 
 

 
 

(52,033) 
(13,000) 

(1,250) 

 
 

(52,033) 
(13,000) 

(1,250) 
 

 
 

104,066 
26,000 

2,500 

 
 

104,066 
26,000 

2,500 

Financial liabilities: 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 
    6,653,513 

  
33,268 

 
33,268 

 
(66,535) 

 
(66,535) 

 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Note 38 Auditors’ remuneration 
 
Audit fee to conduct external audit – Victorian Auditor-General 34,349 33,925 
Internal audit fees  20,569 4,500 
Auditors remuneration - other 3,833 1,772 
 58,751 40,197 
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Note 39 Related party transactions 
 
(i) Responsible Persons 

Names of persons holding the position of a Responsible Person at Swan Hill Rural City Council at any time during 
the year are:- 
Councillors Mayor Greg Cruickshank (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 

Councillor David Quayle (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 
Councillor Gary Norton (Councillor 18/03/2003 to current) 
Councillor John Katis (Councillor 15/03/1997 to current) 
Councillor Yvonne Jennings (Councillor 27/11/2005 to current) 
Councillor Les McPhee (Councillor 29/11/2008 to current) 
Councillor Bill Croft (Councillor 29/11/2008 to current) 

Chief Executive Officer Dennis Hovenden (Commenced 02/01/2007) 
 

(ii) Remuneration of Responsible Persons 
The numbers of Responsible Officers, whose total remuneration from Council and any related entities fall within 
the following bands: 

 2011 2010 
$10,000 - $19,999 - 2 
$20,000 - $29,999 5 3 
$30,000 - $39,999 1 1 
$50,000 - $59,999 1 1 
$180,000 - $189,999 1 1 

 8 8 
Total remuneration for the reporting year for Responsible Persons included 
above, amounted to: $382,245 $372,136 

 
(iii) Retirement Benefits  

No retirement benefits have been made by the Council to a Responsible Person. (2009/2010, $0) 
 
(iv) Loans 

No loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by the Council to a Responsible Person during the reporting 
year (2009/2010, $0) 

 
(v) Other Transactions 

Councillor Greg Cruickshank operates Greg Cruickshank Photographics which Council has dealt with under 
normal business terms during 2010/2011.  Total transactions for the 2010/2011 year = $3,324 (2009/2010, 
$1,058). 
 
No transactions other than remuneration payments or the reimbursement of approved expenses were entered into 
by Council with Responsible Persons, or Related Parties of such Responsible Persons during the reporting year. 

 
(vi) Senior Officers Remuneration 

A Senior Officer other than a Responsible Person, is an officer of Council who has management responsibilities 
and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer or whose total annual remuneration exceeds $124,000. 
 
The number of Senior Officers other than the Responsible Persons, are shown below in their relevant income 
bands: 
Income Range 2011 2010 
< $124,000 3 3 
$124,000 - $129,999 - 1 
$130,000 - $139,999 1 - 
$140,000  - $149,999 1 3 
$150,000  - $159,999 1 - 
$160,000 -  $169,999 1 - 
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Total remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers included above, 
amounted to: 

$796,594 $762,774 
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Note 40 Revenues, expenses and assets by function/activity  
 

 Economic 
Prosperity Environment Leadership and 

Identity  
Social 

Development Total 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
     
INCOME     
     
Grants 587,571 499,198 4,204,992 3,943,043 4,816,784 4,979,862 6,426,123 5,870,396 16,035,471 15,292,499
     
Other 2,447,603 2,780,313 3,822,852 3,853,620 20,805,966 20,569,796 2,165,765 2,030,364 29,242,185 29,234,093
     
TOTAL 3,035,174 3,279,511 8,027,844 7,796,663 25,622,750 25,549,658 8,591,888 7,900,760 45,277,656 44,526,592

EXPENSES 6,101,865 8,344,825 16,925,347 14,356,156 10,479,249 9,803,150 12,227,406 12,302,620 45,733,867 44,806,751

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 
FOR THE YEAR (3,066,691) (5,065,314) (8,897,503) (6,559,493) 15,143,501 15,746,508 (3,635,518) (4,401,860) (456,211) (280,159)

     

ASSETS ATTRIBUTED 
TO 
FUNCTIONS/ABILITIES* 

8,338,589 7,667,096 213,236,183 208,039,679 70,407,253 70,675,003 2,001,708 164,406 293,983,733 286,546,184

 
*Assets have been attributed to functions/activities based on the control and/or custodian of specific assets. 
 
Economic Prosperity 
Enable economic prosperity of the community through leadership, planning and working in partnership in the areas of sustainable 
growth for agriculture, industry and tourism, by the provision of expertise and advice. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Business enterprises 
  Economic development 
  Pioneer settlement 
 
Environment 
Ensure that the natural and built environment is protected and developed in a manner which will achieve a productive, attractive and 
sustainable environment that enhances our lifestyle. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Amenity 
  Waste management 
  Recreation 
  Heritage and culture 
  Transport 
  Aquatic facilities 
 
Leadership and Identity 
Facilitate responsive Local Government which represents community interests, and identity, and encourages community 
participation and enhances relationships with other spheres of Government, the private sector and the regional community. 
 
The Division includes the following branches: 
  Governance 
  Organisational support 
 
Social Development 
Plan and provide for accessibility to services and facilities to ensure the physical health and well being of the community.  A level of 
care and responsibility will be assumed to enable the wider community to participate in the broadest possible range of Council 
activities. 
 
The Division includes the following Branches: 
  Social infrastructure 
  Aged and disability services 
  Family and children support 
  Protecting community well-being 
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Note 41 Financial ratios 
 
(a) Debt servicing ratio (to identify the capacity of 2011 2010 2009 
 Council to service its outstanding debt) $ % $ % $ % 
         
 Debt servicing costs  408,109 404,095 473,074 
 Total revenue 45,277,656 =0.90% 44,526,592 =0.91% 44,185,993 = 1.07% 
        
 Debt servicing costs refer to the payment of interest on loan borrowings, finance lease and bank overdraft. 

The ratio expresses the amount of interest paid as a percentage of Council’s total revenue. 
     
(b) Debt commitment ratio (to identify Council’s 2011 2010 2009 
 debt redemption strategy) $ % $ % $ % 
         
 Debt servicing & redemption costs  1,573,903 1,568,640 1,531,376 
 Rate revenue 19,539,923 =8.05% 18,847,785 =8.32% 17,574,720 = 8.71% 

        
 The strategy involves the payment of loan principal and interest, finance lease principal and interest. 

The ratio expresses percentage of rate revenue utilised to pay interest and redeem debt principal. 
 

(c) Revenue ratio (to identify Council’s 2011 2010 2009 
 dependence on non-rate income) $ % $ % $ % 

         
 Rate revenue  19,539,923 18,847,785 17,574,720
 Total revenue 45,277,656 =43.16% 44,526,592 =42.33% 44,185,993 =39.77% 

        
 The level of Council’s reliance on rate revenue is determined by assessing rate revenue as a proportion of the total revenue 

of Council. 
 

(d) Debt exposure ratio (to identify Council’s 2011 2010 2009 
 exposure to debt) $ % $ % $ % 
        
 Total indebtedness  12,299,649 11,521,852 11,803,284 
 Total realisable assets 55,795,672 =22.04% 54,285,107 =21.22% 53,808,774 =21.94% 

        
 For the purposes of the calculation of financial ratios, realisable assets are those assets which can be sold and which are not 

subject to any restriction on realisation or use. 
   
 Any liability represented by a restricted asset (note 32) is excluded from total indebtedness. 
  

 The following assets are excluded from total assets when calculating Council’s realisable assets: 
 Land and buildings on Crown land, land under roads, restricted assets, heritage assets and total infrastructure assets. 

 

 This ratio enables assessment of Council’s solvency and exposure to debt.  Total indebtedness refers to the total liabilities of 
Council.  Total liabilities are compared to total realisable assets which are all Council assets not subject to any restriction 
and are able to be realised.  The ratio expresses the percentage of total liabilities for each dollar of realisable assets. 

     
(e) Working capital ratio (to assess Council’s 2011 2010 2009 
 ability to meet current commitments) $ % $ % $ % 
        
 Current assets  16,250,042 15,765,598 17,177,147
 Current liabilities 6,975,661 =232.95% 7,014,520 =224.76% 6,835,418 =251.30%

        
 The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities.  
     
(f) Adjusted working capital ratio (to assess 2011 2010 2009 
 Council’s ability to meet current 

commitments) 
$ % $ % $ % 

        
 Current assets  16,250,042 15,765,598 17,177,147
 Current liabilities 4,924,388 =329.99% 5,000,453 315.28% 5,013,250 =342.63%

        
 The ratio expresses the level of current assets the Council has available to meet its current liabilities. 

 

 Current liabilities have been reduced to reflect the long service leave that is shown as a current liability because Council 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, but 
is not likely to fall due within twelve months after the end of the period. 

142 |  SHRCC—Annual Report 2010/11 



 
 
 
 
 

 
SHRCC – Annual Report 2010/11  |  143   

General Purpose Financial 
Statements

Note 42 Capital expenditure 
 
 Note 2011 2010 

  $ $ 
Capital expenditure areas    
Roads, streets and footpaths  3,501,434 5,448,036 
Drainage  296,636 154,767 
Land and buildings  291,739 1,817,519 
Plant and equipment  1,647,058 1,446,541 
Other infrastructure  1,656,007 1,098,787 
Cultural and heritage assets  117,122 368,976 
Total capital works  7,509,996 10,334,626 
 
Represented by:    
Renewal of infrastructure (a) 5,156,669 7,513,035 
Upgrade of infrastructure (b) 261,543 708,075 
Expansion of infrastructure (c) - - 
New infrastructure  404,545 717,888 
New buildings  83,907 1,384,843 
New cultural and heritage assets  1,603,332 10,785 
Total capital works  7,509,996 10,334,626 
 
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure movement    
The movement between the previous year and the current year in property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure as shown in the Balance Sheet links to 
the net of the following items: 

   

    
Total capital works  7,509,996 10,334,626 
Contributions – non-monetary assets 6(b) 63,013 812,947 
Asset revaluation movement 28 7,075,371 12,236,627 
Depreciation/amortisation 13 (6,639,509) (5,805,679) 
Written down value of disposals 22 (1,238,217) (3,624,881) 
Other movements  131,877 - 
Net movement in property, plant and equipment, infrastructure 22 6,902,531 13,953,640 
 
(a) Renewal 
Expenditure on an existing asset which returns the service potential or the life of the asset up to that which it had 
originally.  It is periodically required expenditure, relatively large (material) in value compared with the value of the 
components or sub-components of the asset being renewed.  As it reinstates existing service potential, it has no impact 
on revenue, but may reduce future operating and maintenance expenditure if completed at the optimum time. 
 
(b) Upgrade 
Expenditure which enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service or expenditure that will increase the life 
of the asset beyond that which it had originally.  Upgrade expenditure is discretional and often does not result in 
additional revenue unless direct user charges apply.  It will increase operating and maintenance expenditure in the future 
because of the increase in the Council’s asset base. 
 
(c) Expansion 
Expenditure which extends an existing asset, at the same standard as is currently enjoyed by residents, to a new group 
of users.  It is discretional expenditure which increases future operating and maintenance costs, because it increases 
Council’s asset base, but may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group. 
 
 
Note 43 Events occurring after balance date 
 
Since the reporting date, world financial markets have shown volatility that may affect the carrying value of the Swan Hill 
Rural City Council’s investment portfolio. The Swan Hill Rural City Council continues to maintain a conservative 
investment strategy to manage our exposure to this volatility. 
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
In my opinion the accompanying Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act, 
1989, the Local Government (Financing and Reporting) Regulations 2004, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 

 
 
David C Lenton CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
Swan Hill 
 
In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements present fairly the financial transactions of the Swan Hill Rural City 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2011, and of the financial position of the Council at that date. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars of the Financial Statements 
to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the Council on 16 August 2011 to certify the Financial Statements in their final form. 
 

 
Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
Swan Hill 

 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) 
Yvonne Jennings 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
Swan Hill 
 

 
Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
Swan Hill 
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NOTES TO THE STANDARD STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1 Basis of preparation of Standard Statements 
 
Council is required to prepare and include audited Standard Statements within its Annual Report.  Four Statements are 
required – a Standard Income Statement, Standard Balance Sheet, Standard Cash Flow Statement and a Standard 
Statement of Capital Works, together with explanatory notes. 
 
These statements and supporting notes form a special purpose financial report prepared to meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Finance and Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
The Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with those used for General Purpose 
Financial Statements and the Budget.  The result reported in these statements is consistent with that reported in the 
General Purpose Financial Statements. 
 
The Standard Statements are not a substitute for the General Purpose Financial Statements, which are included on 
pages 97 to 144 of the Annual Report.  They have not been prepared in accordance with all Australian Accounting 
Standards or other authoritative professional pronouncements. 
 
The Standard Statements compare Council’s Financial Plan, expressed through its budget, with actual performance.  
The Local Government Act 1989 requires explanation of any material variances.  The Council has adopted a materiality 
threshold of ten per cent.  Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the 
variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 
 
The budget figures included in the Statements are those adopted by Council on 17 August 2010.  The budget was based 
on assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the budget.  The Council set guidelines and parameters for 
revenue and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s Business Plan and financial performance targets 
for both the short and long term. 
 
Detailed information on the actual results are contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements on pages 97 to 
144.  The detailed budget can be obtained by contacting Council.  The Standard Statements should be read with 
reference to these documents. 
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STANDARD INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ending 30 June 2011 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2010/11 Variances  2010/11 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Revenues from Ordinary Activities      
      
Rates & Garbage Charge 19,944,000 (404,077) (2.0)  19,539,923 
Grants - Recurrent 12,144,000 471,676 3.9  12,615,676 
Grants & Contributions – Non Current 2,821,000 598,795 21.2 1 3,419,795 
Interest 799,000 165,032 20.7 2 964,032 
User Fees 2,877,000 1,298,430 45.1 3 4,175,430 
Contributions - Cash 1,773,000 (1,403,731) (79.2) 4 369,269 
Statutory Fees & Fines 964,000 (26,307) (2.7)  937,693 
Net Gain (Loss) from Disposal of Assets 127,000 (93,577) (73.7) 5 33,423 
Other Revenue (net of cost of goods sold) 3,761,000 (857,437) (22.8) 6 2,903,563 
Reimbursements - 154,167 100.0 7 154,167 
Capital Contributions – Non Cash 1,311,000 (1,146,315) (87.4) 8 164,685 
Total Revenue 46,521,000 (1,243,344)   45,277,656 
 
Expenses from Ordinary Activities      
Employee Benefits 16,150,000 697,045 4.3  16,847,045 
Contract Payments, Materials & Services 14,850,000 1,172,425 7.9  16,022,425 
Finance Costs 418,000 (9,891) (2.4)  408,109 
Depreciation & Amortisation 6,016,000 623,509 10.4  6,639,509 
Bad & Doubtful Debts 7,000 (68,004) (971.5) 9 (61,004) 
Other Expenses 750,000 584,638 78.0 10 1,334,638 
Contributions Paid 4,462,000 81,145 1.8  4,543,145 
Total Expenses 42,653,000 3,080,867   45,733,867 
 
Surplus (Deficit) 3,868,000 (4,324,211)   (456,211) 
      
Movements in Equity      
Net Increase (Decrease) in Asset Revaluation 
Reserves 5,895,000 1,194,925 20.3 11 7,089,925 
Total Changes in Equity 9,763,000 (3,129,286) (32.1)  6,633,714 
 
 
Non-Recurrent Items Included in Above Results      
Income:      
Land Sales 130,000 (84,475) (65.0)  45,525 
Grants & Contributions – Non-recurrent 2,821,000 598,795 21.2  3,419,795 
Capital Contributions – Non-Cash 1,311,000 (1,146,315) (87.4)  164,685 
Expenditure:      
Major Projects / Once off items 1,388,000 2,298,156 165.5  3,686,156 
Flood Event (costs to be recouped) - 933,801 100.0  933,801 
Non-Recurrent Items (2,874,000) 3,863,952 (134.4)  989,952 
Recurrent Operating Surplus (Deficit) 994,000 (460,259) (46.3)  533,741 
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Standard Income Statement (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

1 
 

Grants & Contributions - 
Non Current 
 

Additional capital grants of $1,858,965 were received during the year.  The significant 
grants received were for Blackspot and Better roads funding ($263,724), Flood 
management and recovery grants ($234,085), Migrant and Pacific Seasonal Workers 
grant funding ($233,637), Catalina Museum Refurbishment ($120,000), McCrae St 
Redevelopment ($125,000), Swan Hill Community Hub – Racecourse Redevelopment 
($137,218),  various Natural Resource Management non recurrent grants ($102,295), 
additional playground equipment  funding ($67,266), Swan Hill CBD development 
($240,545), upgrade irrigation systems Robinvale ($113,475).  These additional 
grants were offset by the non receipt of budgeted grants for the Steggall Park 
Playground ($650,000), Nyah West pre-school ($200,000) and a reduced claim for 
Roads to Recovery funding ($328,180). 

2 Interest 
 

Interest earned on investments was $210,567 greater than forecast.  This was offset 
by lower than forecast interest earned from Rates penalties of $45,535 due to better 
than forecast collection rates.   

3 User Fees 
 

User fees and charges had a result $1,298,430 greater than forecast due to a number 
of services budgeted as contributions now being reported as user fees. Payments for 
Family Day Care, After School Care, Vacation Care and Aged Services Fees were 
budgeted as Contributions but are now being reported as user fees. 

4 Contribution – Cash A majority of the budgeted contributions are now being reported as user fees.  Refer 
note 3.  No major Contributions budgeted for weren’t received in 2010/2011. 

5 Net Gain (Loss) from 
Disposal of Assets 

The budget had forecast for the sale of six blocks of land during 2010/2011, however 
only the sale of land at the Robinvale Bowling Club was completed in the year. 

6 Other Revenue (net of 
cost of goods sold) 
 

Tower Hill Land sales were $718,454 below forecast as the next stage release wasn’t 
completed in 2010/2011.  Budgeted rate recovery sales of $70,000 weren’t conducted 
in the year.  

7 Reimbursements Council received reimbursements for insurance claims and workcover which had not 
been budgeted. 

8 Capital Contributions – 
Non Cash 
 

As the next stage of the Tower Hill Estate wasn’t completed in the 2010/2011 year 
resulting capital contributions were $ 1,284,000 below forecast. Council received an 
additional water right to the value of $72,384. 

9 Bad & Doubtful Debts 
 

Better than forecast collection rates enabled Council to reduce the levels of its bad 
and doubtful debts provision in 2010/2011.  Council was able to recover $115,182 of 
the $158,893 it provided for last financial year, therefore the provision for doubtful 
debts has been able to be reduced from $158,893 to $97,015. 

10 Other Expenses 
 

Asset write-offs of $736,750 occurred during the year. The major write offs were in 
Sealed Roads ($181,897), the majority being due to flooded roads that required 
reconstruction, Pioneer Settlement assets no longer in use ($196,520) and Recreation 
Reserve assets which are no longer controlled by Council ($234,657).  

11 Net Increase 
(Decrease) in Asset 
Revaluation 
Reserves  

The forecast had allowed for the revaluation of Drainage and Cultural & Heritage 
Assets.  Both these asset classes were revalued during 2010/2011, however Other 
Infrastructure was also revalued.  The movement in valuations across asset classes 
were; Drainage increased $527,917, Other Infrastructure $4,626,159, Artworks 
$403,946, Pioneer Settlement $1,518,349 and Water Rights $14,554. 
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STANDARD BALANCE SHEET 
For the year ending 30 June 2011 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2010/11 Variances  2010/11 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Current Assets      
Cash & Cash Equivalents 7,736,000 3,602,972 46.6 12 11,338,972 
Financial Assets - 3,457,609 100.0 12 3,457,609 
Other Assets 476,000 (187,969) (39.5) 13 288,031 
Trade & Other Receivables 1,618,000 (695,322) (43.0) 14 922,678 
Inventories - Other 112,000 48,743 43.5 15 160,743 
Inventories - Land Held for Resale 125,000 (42,991) (34.4) 16 82,009 
Total Current Assets 10,067,000 6,183,042 61.4  16,250,042 
      
Non-Current Assets      
Trade & Other Receivables 212,000 (34,158) (16.1) 17 177,842 
Financial Assets 600,000 (600,000) (100.0) 18 - 
Property, Plant, Equipment & Infrastructure 278,797,000 (2,191,423) (0.8)  276,605,577 
Intangible Assets 1,204,000 (253,728) (21.1) 19 950,272 
Total Non-Current Assets 280,813,000 (3,079,309) (1.1)  277,733,691 
Total Assets 290,880,000 3,103,733 1.1  293,983,733 
      
Current Liabilities      
Trade & Other Payables 2,844,000 (734,323) (25.8) 20 2,109,677 
Interest-Bearing Loans & Borrowings 1,202,000 (10,278) (0.9)  1,191,722 
Employee Provisions 3,014,000 432,115 14.3 21 3,446,115 
Trust Funds & Deposits  99,000 129,147 130.5 22 228,147 
Total Current Liabilities 7,159,000 (183,339) (2.6)  6,975,661 
      
Non-Current Liabilities      
Interest-Bearing Loans & Borrowings 6,231,000 (135,003) (2.2)  6,095,997 
Employee Provisions 474,000 (474,000) (21.7) 23 371,067 
Landfill Provision 966,000 (966,000) 13.6 24 1,097,717 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 7,671,000 (106,219) (1.4)  7,564,781 
Total Liabilities 14,830,000 (289,558) (2.0)  14,540,442 
      
Net Assets 276,050,000 3,393,291 1.2  279,443,291 
      
Equity      
Accumulated Surplus / Reserves 192,199,000 (2,327,382) (1.2)  189,871,618 
Asset Revaluation Reserve 83,851,000 5,720,673 6.8  89,571,673 
Total Equity 276,050,000 3,393,291 1.2  279,443,291 
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Standard Balance Sheet (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

12 Cash & Cash 
Equivalents /  
Financial Assets 

Cash & cash equivalents and Financial assets are greater than budget due to the under-
expenditure on capital works and asset purchases of $7.17 million.  Refer note 33 to 38. 

13 Other Assets The value of forecast prepayments was $188,000 below budget.  The budget had allowed 
for the prepayment of some loan instalments with a due date into July, however new loan 
management software holds the repayments until the due date, and therefore July 
repayments weren’t paid until the 1st of July. 

14 Trade & Other 
Receivables 
 

The decrease compared to budget primarily relates to outstanding rates. Rate collection 
percentages were 97.27% compared to 93.52% (2010). Total debtors had been forecast to 
increase 19% however the year end result is a decrease of 56% year on year. 

15 Inventories - Other 
 

It has been forecast that the stockpile of Limestone acquired last year would be used by 30 
June 2011. At this date Council still has some of this stock to the value of $104,302. 
Council no longer stocks unleaded fuel at the depot; therefore the value of fuel held in stock 
has reduced $19,080 compared to last year.  The remaining variance can be attributed to 
lower stock levels at locations such as the Pioneer Settlement and Art Gallery. 

16 Inventories - Land 
Held for Resale 
 

It had been forecast that the next stage of lots for sale at Tower Hill would be released in 
2010/2011, however this stage has been delayed, and therefore the value of Land Held for 
Resale has reduced over the year due to ongoing sales of current lots. 

17 Trade & Other 
Receivables 

Collection rates for private scheme debtors improved over forecast, and no new private 
schemes were recognised in 2010/2011. 

18 Finance Assets Council no longer has any investments with a maturity date greater than 12 months. 
19 Intangible Assets 

 
Intangible assets held relate entirely to water rights.  When preparing the 2010/2011 
Business Plan and Annual Budget in March 2010 the forecast hadn’t factored in a 
revaluation of water rights.  

20 Trade & Other 
Payables 

Electronic payments to suppliers occurred on the 30/06/2011, normally paid during July. 
 

21 Employee Provisions Increases in pay rates influenced by Council's EBA (4.75%) and an increase in the number 
of staff on average not taking their full leave entitlement have lead to the increased 
provision. 

22 Trust Funds & 
Deposits 
 

The actual value of overall deposits is $66,619 lower than the previous year.  The balance 
of trust funds deposits is made up of Contract Retentions ($71,411), Vehicle Crossing 
Deposits ($18,955), House Removal deposits ($57,600), Design Section Security Deposits 
($58,635) and Civic Facility and other deposits ($21,542). Contract retentions have 
scheduled release dates that can exceed 2 years, while other deposits held rely on certain 
criteria/events occurring or not eventuating and could be held progressively over a much 
longer period i.e. house removal deposits. 

23 Employee Provisions 
 

From the time the Budget was adopted Council has and a number or staff become eligible 
for LSL, therefore these entitlements are now reported as Current Liabilities.  This 
movement in Provisions had not been forecast in the Budget.     

24 Landfill Provisions During 2010/2011 Council completed an assessment of its Landfill Remediation Provision 
as the calculations relating to this provision had not been assessed since 2006.  It was 
determined that the provision for the remediation works on the landfill site be increased 
from $966,000 to $1,097,717 to cover expenses once the current landfill site has reached 
the end of its useful life. 
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STANDARD CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ending 30 June 2011 

 Budget    Actuals 
 2010/11             Variances 2010/11 
 $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Cash flows from Operating Activities      
Rates 19,857,000 697,319 3.5  20,554,319 
Statutory fees and fines 964,000 (26,307) (2.7)  937,693 
User charges and other fines (inclusive of GST) 3,159,000 1,668,144 52.8 25 4,827,144 
Grants (inclusive of GST) 14,965,000 1,351,087 9.0  16,316,087 
Contributions (inclusive of GST) 1,950,000 (1,543,804) (79.2) 26 406,196 
Interest 799,000 165,032 20.7 27 964,032 
Reimbursements - 169,584 100.0 26 169,584 
Other receipts (inclusive of GST) 4,201,000 (1,140,480) (27.1) 28 3,060,520 
Net GST refund/payment 1,157,000 568,378 49.1 29 1,725,378 
Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (22,036,000) (1,579,671) 7.2  (23,615,671) 
Payments to employees (inclusive of GST) (16,092,000) (1,155,690) 7.2  (17,247,690) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,924,000 (826,408) (9.3)  8,097,592 
      

Cash flows from Investing Activities      

Payments for property, plant & equipment and 
infrastructure (13,439,000) 6,360,504 (47.3) 30 (7,078,496) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment and 
infrastructure 746,000 (207,654) (27.8) 31 538,346 
Proceeds from financial assets - (857,609) 100.0 32 (857,609) 
Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (12,693,000) 5,295,241 (41.7)  (7,397,759) 
      
Cash flows from Financing Activities      
Borrowing costs (418,000) 9,891 (2.4)  (408,109) 
Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings 1,800,000 0 0.0  1,800,000 
Repayment of interest bearing loans and borrowings (1,110,000) (7,048) 0.6  (1,117,048) 
Finance Costs - (48,746) 100.0  (48,746) 
Net Cash Outflow from Financing Activities 272,000 (45,903) (16.9)  226,097 
      
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held (3,497,000) 4,422,930 (126.5)  925,930 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 11,233,000 (819,958) (7.3)  10,413,042 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 7,736,000 3,602,972 46.6  11,338,972 
 
Reconciliation of Operating Result and Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  
For the year ending 30 June 2011 
 

Net Surplus (Deficit) from Operations 3,868,000 (4,324,211) (111.8)  (456,211) 
Depreciation and Amortisation 6,016,000 623,509 10.4  6,639,509 
(Profit) Loss on Asset Disposals (127,000) 93,577 (73.7)  (33,423) 
Non-Cash Capital Contributions/Asset Adjustments (1,311,000) 1,883,065 (143.6)  572,065 
Cost of Tower Hill Land Sold 58,000 (58,000) (100.0)  - 
Borrowings cost (Interest) 418,000 (9,891) (2.4)  408,109 
Movement in Provision Doubtful Debts - (61,879) 100.0  (61,879) 
Reallocation of non-cash finance sources – landfills 
 

- (131,877) 100.0  (131,877) 
Movements in:   

 

  

Current Receivables (80,000) 1,308,154 (1,635.2)  1,228,154 
Other Operating Assets 8,000 (85,884) (1,073.6)  (77,884) 
Inventories (86,000) 333,068 (387.3)  247,068 
Non-Current Receivables (5,000) 5,000 (100.0)  - 
Current Payables/Accruals 127,000 (633,105) (498.5)  (506,105) 
Current Employee Benefits 37,000 206 0.6  152,694 
Current Trust Funds (20,000) (46,619) 233.1  (66,619) 
Non-Current Employee Benefits 21,000 146,602 698.1  102,316 
Movement in Provisions - 81,675 100.0  81,675 
Net Movement in Current Assets / Liabilities 2,000 1,027,422 51,371.1  1,161,299 
      

Inflow from Operating Activities 8,924,000 (826,408) 9.3  8,097,592 
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Standard Cash Flow Statement (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 
 

Ref. Item Commentary 

25 User charges and other fines
(inclusive of GST) 

The overall variance between user charges, contributions and reimbursements 
income classifications is $329,787 (6.5%). This better than budget variance is 
primarily $195,445 from higher market usage charges at the Livestock 
Exchange and $80,674 higher than anticipated return of unspent consortium 
advanced money from other municipalities involved in the Community Aged 
Care Packages program. 

26 Contributions & 
Reimbursements (inclusive 
of GST)  

See Commentary Notes Ref. No. 25. 

27 Interest 
 

Interest on investments ($810,567) exceeded forecast and interest on 
outstanding rates ($153,465) was below anticipated actuals. Interest on 
investments was $210,566 better than budget due to higher cash balances held 
throughout the year.  The majority of this additional cash came from capital 
works not completed as forecast (Refer Ref. 33 to 38). The lower interest 
collected on rate debtors ($41,535) reflects the lower total rate arrears at year-
end and a corresponding overall increase in the collection rate of 93.52% 
(2009/2010) to 97.27% (2010/2011). 

28 Other receipts (inclusive of 
GST) 
 

Tower Hill Estate Land Sales were $718,454 lower than budget due to the next 
stage of the estate development not being released, and Rate Recovery 
property sales identifying $70,000 in revenue was not realised due to the 
redirecting of resources to process valuation objections and process 
applications to defer rates due to the flood event in January 2011.  

29 Net GST refund/payment 
 

The net GST refund is based on an estimate of tax owing to Council at 30 June 
2011, at the date higher than expected GST was to be refunded from the 
Australian Taxation Office.  This figure is unpredictable as it is dependent on a 
number of factors including whether GST is included or not in grants received 
from government departments, timing of creditor payments particularly of a 
capital works and asset nature. 

30 Payments for property, plant 
& equipment, and 
infrastructure 
 

A number of significant capital works projects were delayed awaiting the 
assurance of grant funding prior to the commencement of project works.  
Steggall Park Playground, Swan Hill CBD Redevelopment, Robinvale Riverfront 
Development, Nyah West Pre School were awaiting grant approvals.  A number 
of other projects were delayed due to tendering and planning issues, all of 
which will be carried forward to the 2011/2012 year.  
A number of Roads to Recovery projects which were to be completed in 
February and March were carried forward to the 2011/2012 year as resources 
at this time were re-directed to managing the flood event.  Council's capital 
works program was not achieved.  Refer Ref. 33 to 38.  

31 Proceeds from sale of 
property, plant & equipment, 
and infrastructure 

Total budgeted property sales were $43,908 below its $130,000 forecast. Six 
parcels of land were identified for sale with five small blocks unsold and now 
expected to sell in the next financial year. Plant and vehicle proceeds were 
$162,560 below forecast, partly due to the sale of a Flocon truck forecast for the 
year being delayed due to specification issues. 

32 Proceeds from financial 
assets 
 

The value of financial assets increased from $2,600,000 (2009/2010) to 
$3,457,609 (2010/2011) primarily a result of under expenditure on capital works 
and asset purchases. No gain or loss on holdings was identified when the 
budget was prepared. Refer Ref. No. 12. 
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STANDARD STATEMENT OF CAPITAL WORKS 
For the year ending 30 June 2011 
 Budget    Actuals 
 2010/11                Variances 2010/11 
Capital Works Areas $ $ % Ref $ 
      
Roads, Streets, Bridges & Footpaths 5,358,000 (1,856,566) (34.7) 33 3,501,434 
Drainage 1,600,000 (1,303,364) (81.5) 34 296,636 
Other Infrastructure 4,137,000 (2,480,993) (60.0) 35 1,656,007 
Land & Buildings 882,000 (590,261) (66.9) 36 291,739 
Plant, Equipment & Other 2,162,000 (514,942) (23.8) 37 1,647,058 
Heritage & Culture 611,000 (430,865) (70.5) 38 180,135 
Total Capital Works & Asset Purchases 14,750,000 (7,176,991) (48.7)  7,573,009 
      
Represented by:      
Renewal 7,793,000 (2,636,331) (33.8) 39 5,156,669 
Upgrade 2,306,000 (2,044,457) (88.7) 39 261,543 
Expansion - - 0.0  - 
New Assets 4,651,000 (2,496,203) (53.7) 39 2,154,797 
Total Capital Works 14,750,000 (7,176,991) (48.7)  7,573,009 
      
Includes Donated Assets of:      
Roads, Streets, Bridges & Footpaths 1,003,000 (1,003,000) (100.0) 40 - 
Heritage and Culture 5,000 58,013 1,160.3 41 63,013 
Drainage 303,000 (303,000) (100.0) 42 - 
Total Donated Infrastructure Assets 1,311,000 (1,247,987) (95.2)  63,013 
 
 Budget    Actuals 

2010/11 Variances 2010/11 Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment 
movement Reconciliation Worksheet $ $ % Ref $ 
      
The movement between the previous year and the 
current year in property, plant and equipment as 
shown in the Balance Sheet links to the net of the 
following items: 

     

      
Total Capital Works 14,750,000 (7,176,991) (48.7) 43 7,573,009 
Asset Revaluation Movement 5,895,000 1,180,371 20.0 44 7,075,371 
Depreciation & Amortisation (6,016,000) (623,509) 10.4  (6,639,509) 
Written Down Value of Assets Sold (619,000) 88,964 (14.4) 45 (530,036) 
Other Movements (94,000) (482,304) 513.1 46 (576,304) 
Net Movement in Property, Infrastructure, Plant & 
Equipment 13,916,000 (7,013,469) (50.4)  6,902,531 
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Standard Statement of Capital Works (continued) 
 
Variance Explanation Report 

Ref. Item Commentary 

33 Roads, Streets, Bridges & 
Footpaths 

The value of non-cash developer contributions associated with construction of roads and footpaths at 
Tower Hill Estate by VicUrban was $1,003,000 lower than budget. It had been forecast that the next 
stage of lots for sale at Tower Hill would be released in 2010/2011, however this stage has been 
delayed. The remaining under-expenditure relates to Roads to Recovery spending being $275,232 
below forecast, the Beveridge St Asphalt job not being completed ($301,000) and forecast capital 
expenditure being expensed as maintenance works during the 2010/2011 year ($228,943). Both 
Roads to Recovery and Beveridge St Asphalt works are to be completed in the 2011/2012 year.  

34 Drainage The significant projects forecast for 2010/2011 were the Latje Road Drainage project ($636,080) 
upgrade of Swan Hill main drain ($343,500), asset contributions at Tower Hill ($303,000) and two 
Upgrade projects ($114,350). Of  these projects only works on enlargement of the Swan Hill main 
drain ($255,000) were completed. 

35 Other Infrastructure 
 

Steggall Park Playground ($1,280,769), Swan Hill CBD Redevelopment ($874,313) and the Robinvale 
Riverfront Development ($220,435) were all below forecast at year end with works to be carried 
forward to the next financial year. All three projects were delayed due to the assurance of Grant 
funding required prior to project commencement.   

36 Land & Buildings 
 

Forecast works at the Nyah West Pre-School ($230,000) have been delayed pending Grant funding. 
Construction of the Nyah Community Centre Kitchen Upgrade was delayed due to tendering issues, 
and $280,000 forecast for land purchases is still in negotiation with the vendor. 

37 Plant, Equipment & Other 
 

The purchase of a Flocon truck had been forecast, but has been delayed until the 2011/2012 year. IT 
asset purchases were $172,000 below forecast. This variance is due to a significant saving from the 
purchase of desktop PC’s of $50,282 and the delay of hardware purchases awaiting advice from the 
IT steering committee. 

38 Heritage and Culture $440,000 for the Pioneer Settlement Implementation Masterplan is being carried forward to the 
2011/2012 year.    

39 Renewal, Upgrade & New 
Assets 

The variance results from the combination of variances 33 - 38 above. 

40 Roads, Streets, Bridges & 
Footpaths 

Non-cash contributions relating to all infrastructure works occurring on the Tower Hill Estate didn’t 
occur in the financial year. It had been forecast that the next stage of the estate would be available for 
sale, but this release has been delayed. Therefore no infrastructure assets have been transferred to 
Council from the developer. 

41 Heritage and Culture A significantly higher than anticipated value was attributed to donations of artworks, library books and 
Pioneer Settlement exhibits received during the year. 

42 Drainage Refer Ref. 34 above. 

43 Total Capital Works The variance resulted from the combination of variances 33 – 38 above. 
 

44 Asset Revaluation 
Movement 

Refer Ref. 11 above. 

45 Written Down Value of 
Assets Sold 

The written down value of plant replacement within the 2010/2011 year were $118,964 lower than 
forecast, and the sale of land at the former Robinvale Bowling Club with a written down value of 
$30,000 had not been budgeted. 

46 Other Movements 
 

The budget allows for the disposal value of assets not fully depreciated, and any items capitalised to 
works-in-progress in prior years and subsequently expensed. The majority of the write offs were due 
to the assessment of Other Infrastructure Assets and their ownership responsibilities to Council. It was 
determined that Other Infrastructure assets with a value of $77,711 were no longer the responsibility 
of Council and assets valued at $353,366 had been disposed of prior to the asset class assessment. 
The other major movements were plant and equipment with a value of $66,208 being written off due to 
accidents, and Roads with a value of $181,897 being written off due mostly to flood damage. These 
movements have been offset somewhat by the recognition of an increase in provision for the Swan 
Hill Landfill. The provision required an increase of $131,877. The increase in provision is recognised 
via an increase in valuation of the Landfill site.   
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CERTIFICATION OF STANDARD STATEMENTS 
 
In my opinion the accompanying Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with the Financial 
Statements and in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
 

 
 

David C Lenton CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer  

 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
 
In our opinion the accompanying Standard Statements have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with the 
Financial Statements and in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Finance and 
Reporting) Regulations 2004. 
 
As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances, which would render any particulars in the Standard 
Statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the Council on 16 August 2011 to certify the Standard Statements in their final form. 
 

 

 
 

David C Lenton CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer  
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
 

 
 

Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 

 
 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) Yvonne Jennings 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
 

 
 
Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – THE FINANCIAL REPORT & 
STANDARD STATEMENTS 
 
 



 
  
 

 
 

Standard Statements 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT continued 
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Performance Statement 

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR 2010-2011 
Governance and Leadership 2011 2011 2011  

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

1 Community Satisfaction with 
Council’s overall performance and 
average of Council and State 
Government Survey 

This target will measure whether the 
services delivered by Council and the 
initiatives contained in the business 
plan meet the needs of the 
community. 

>65% 66% Achieved  The Local Government community satisfaction survey 
conducted by Wallis Consulting Group returned the 
indexed mean score of 66% which is above that of previous 
years. 
 
 

2 Financial operating result or better 
of the budgeted operating result 
(excluding depreciation) 

This provides accountability to ensure 
that all Council services are delivered 
on budget, and incorporates the 
majority of the services to the 
community by Council.  Depreciation 
is excluded from this measure as it 
represents a calculated amount, the 
inclusion of which reduces the 
accountability underpinning this 
target. 

$9,884,000 $6,183,298 Not Achieved The actual result is $3,700,702 worse than the budget 
target.  The major events which contribute to this result are 
$707,462 in asset write offs due to the flood event and 
adjustments to correctly reflect council controlled assets; 
$684,522 paid to Vision Super for the call on the Defined 
Benefits Superannuation; an additional $593,835 Sealed 
Roads depreciation expense as a result of the sealed roads 
revaluation at 30 June 2010; $1,146,315 in capital 
contributions not received due to the next stage of the 
Tower Hill Development not being competed in 2010/2011 
and $732,097 in costs incurred by Council for the 
management and clean up of the flood event in 
January/February.  
 

3 Completion of all the Projects in 
Appendix B by  
30 June 2011 excluding those for 
which any external funding is not 
received by  
31 December 2010. 
 

This target will assist in the provision 
of appropriate infrastructure across 
the municipality to ensure our 
economic growth. 

106 projects. 
(36 currently 

subject to 
external 
funding). 

51 Not Achieved The Budget and Business Plan nominated 106 capital 
works projects (36 subject to external funding) to be 
completed during 2010/2011. 20 projects received external 
funding, therefore out of a possible 90 projects, 51 have 
been successfully and fully completed by 30 June 2011.  
 
Resources were diverted from all projects for two months 
during the flood events at the start of 2011 which has 
significantly impacted the result.  
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Performance Statement  

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 Sustainable Communities 2011 2011 2011   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ Not 

Achieved Comments 

5 Implement Year 2 actions from the 
Aboriginal Partnership Plan. 

This target will facilitate and provide 
services for health and well-being for 
indigenous people within the 
municipality. 

Year 2 
actions 
completed by 
30 June 2011 

2 of 12 
actions 

completed 

Not Achieved  Limited achievement of actions from the Aboriginal 
Partnership Plan (APP) was accomplished due to the 
unavailability and extended leave of the Manager Aboriginal 
Affairs, and the need to review the plan following completion 
of the Robinvale and Swan Hill Aboriginal Community Plans. 
 

This was the first ever partnership plan prepared by SHRCC 
and therefore included a large number of actions (upon 
subsequent review) that would not have been included over 
such a short time frame or indeed at all.  A review of the plan 
in scheduled to commence after the Aboriginal Community 
Plans are completed however the Aboriginal Community 
Plans were not completed due to staff changes at the Local 
Indigenous Network (LIN).   These plans are expected to be 
completed over the next 12-24 months and will result in a 
more defined APP and associated actions.   
 

Actions of the APP that were completed are: 
Provision of Aboriginal Cross Cultural Awareness training to 
Council Staff in May 2011. 
Aboriginal Cultural Heritage training provided to staff by 
Aboriginal Affairs Victoria in Sept 2010. 

Governance and Leadership (cont) 2011 2011 2011  

 
Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 

Achieved/ Not 
Achieved Comments 

4 Implementation of new Customer 
Service Request System. 
System operational at Splatt Street 
office and Swan Hill Depot. 

This target will enable Council to 
develop open community 
relationships. The introduction of the 
CRM at Council will enable officers to 
respond quickly to new customer 
requests and updates on existing 
ones. 

30 June 2011 CRM 
System not 

installed 

Not Achieved The Implementation of the CRM System could not be achieved. 
The system was operational but was withdrawn due to issues 
surrounding our AIM installation. 
 

Local Laws will be implementing the system August 2011 with 
Environmental Health to follow on in September.  The Splatt & 
Robinvale customer services areas will be brought online during 
this time to enter counter and initial phone enquiries.  Asset 
based CRM users are awaiting further advice from Civica on 
AIM integration issues. 
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Economic Growth 2011 2011 2011   

  Key Strategic Targets Reason For Target Target Result 
Achieved/ 

Not Achieved Comments 

6 Facilitate development at South 
West Precinct of Swan Hill to 
determine whether the 
amendment to the planning 
scheme is required. 

Council will ensure a sufficient and 
appropriate supply of land is available 
for housing development. 

31 December 
2010 

Outline 
Development 
Plan adopted 

by Council and 
draft 

development 
contributions 

plan prepared, 
and affected 
landowners 

notified. 

Not Achieved The determination of whether an amendment to the 
planning scheme is required was not achieved as Council 
is still awaiting a detailed alternative proposal for 
development contributors plan from the affected land 
owners. 
 
Further consultation and submissions from landowners will 
be required before this can proceed. 
 

7 Finalise development and begin 
implementation of the Central 
Business District Master Plans for 
Robinvale and Swan Hill including 
links to riverfronts. 
Determine and complete Year 2 of 
the Masterplan. 

Council will encourage new business 
development and will provide support 
to attract new business investment 
and expansion within the community. 

Year 2 Stages 
completed by 
30 June 2011 

One of three 
stages was 
completed. 

Not Achieved Year 2 stages were not completed by 30 June 2011. 
Increased emphasis was placed on the design and 
planning of the actual Masterplan which in turn delayed 
construction until the plan was complete. 
 
� Robinvale, Perrin Street Upgrade is complete. 
� Robinvale riverfront is 30% complete. 
� Formal structure design for upgrade to infrastructure in 

Swan Hill complete. 
 



PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR 2010-2011 
 
 
 
 
 

Performance Statement 

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
 

In our opinion, the accompanying Performance Statement of the Swan Hill Rural City Council, in respect of the 2011 
financial year is presented fairly in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989. 

The statement outlines the performance measures set out in relation to the achievement of the Key Strategic Targets described in 
Council's 2010/11 Annual Budget and Strategic Resource Plan and describes the extent to which the Key Strategic Targets were 
met in that year. 

As at the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars in the statement to be 
misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 
 

David C Lenton CPA 
Principal Accounting Officer  
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
 

 
Councillor (Mayor) Greg Cruickshank 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 

 
Councillor (Deputy Mayor) Yvonne Jennings 
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
 
 

 
 

Dennis Hovenden 
Chief Executive Officer  
 
Dated: 20 September 2011 
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT – PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 
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Performance Statement 

Independent Audit Report (continued)
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Swan Hill Office:  45 Splatt Street, or PO Box 488 
     Swan Hill   Victoria   3585 
     Telephone: 03 5036 2333  Facsimilie: 03 50365 2340 
 
Robinvale Office:  68-72 Herbert Street 
     Robinvale   Victoria   3549 
     Telephone: 03 5051 8000  Facsimilie: 03 5051 8010 
 
Email:    council@swanhill.vic.gov.au 
 
Website:    www.swanhill.vic.gov.au 


